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                                     PART I 
 
ITEM 1.   BUSINESS 
 
Avid Technology,  Inc. ("Avid" or "the Company")  develops,  markets,  sells and 
supports a wide range of  software  and systems for  creating  and  manipulating 
digital media content. Digital media are media elements,  whether video or audio 
or  graphics,  in which the image,  sound or picture is  recorded  and stored as 
digital values,  as opposed to analog signals.  Avid's digital,  nonlinear video 
and film editing  systems are designed to improve the  productivity of video and 
film  editors by enabling  them to edit moving  pictures  and sound in a faster, 
easier, more creative,  and more  cost-effective  manner than traditional analog 
tape-based systems. To complement these systems, Avid develops and sells a range 
of  image  manipulation  products  that  allow  users  in  the  video  and  film 
post-production and broadcast markets to create graphics and special effects for 
use in feature films,  television  programs and advertising,  and news programs. 
Additionally, Avid develops and sells digital audio systems for the professional 
audio  market.   Avid's   products  are  used   worldwide  in   production   and 
post-production facilities; film studios; network, affiliate,  independent,  and 
cable television stations; recording studios;  advertising agencies;  government 
and  educational  institutions;  corporate  communication  departments;  and  by 
individual home users. 
 
In August 1998,  Avid acquired the common stock of Softimage Inc.  ("Softimage") 
as well as  certain  assets  related  to its  business.  Softimage  is a leading 
developer   of   three-dimensional    ("3D")   animation,    video   production, 
two-dimensional  ("2D") cel  animation  (a cel in 2D cel  animation  consists of 
layers of 2D artwork  changed on a frame by frame basis  creating an illusion of 
motion) and compositing software solutions and technologies. 
 
In  October  1998,  Avid  formed  a  strategic  alliance  with  Tektronix,  Inc. 
("Tektronix"),  principally  designed to serve the needs of broadcast newsrooms, 
which includes three key initiatives: a distribution agreement, the formation of 
a joint  venture  and a  technology  development  alliance.  Avid and  Tektronix 
formally  organized  a 50/50 owned and funded  newsroom  computer  system  joint 
venture,  AvStar Systems LLC ("AvStar"),  on January 27, 1999. The joint venture 
is  dedicated  to  providing  the next  generation  of digital  news  production 
products by combining both companies'  newsroom computer systems  technology and 
certain personnel. 
 
The text of this document may include forward-looking statements. Actual results 
may differ materially from those described herein,  depending on such factors as 
are described  herein,  including under "Certain  Factors That May Affect Future 
Results." 
 
DIGITAL MEDIA CONTENT MARKETS 
 
Digital media are media elements,  whether video or audio or graphics,  in which 
the image, sound or picture is recorded and stored as digital values, as opposed 
to analog  signals.  For  example,  a letter  prepared on a computer  using word 
processing software is the digital media representation of a typewritten letter. 
The word-processed  letter example also illustrates some of the  characteristics 
of digital  media,  such as flexible  editing,  the ability to create  different 
versions,  simple production of multiple  identical copies, and easy integration 
with  other   digital  media  types,   such  as  charts  and   graphics.   These 
characteristics  generally  provide  digital  formats with advantages over their 
analog equivalents. However, creating and manipulating digital content typically 
requires new digital  content  creation tools;  for example,  the typewriter has 
given way to dedicated word processors and, more recently,  to desktop computers 
running word processing software. 
 
Digital  formats and tools have largely  displaced  analog  formats and tools in 
many  markets,  such  as  word  processing,  electronic  spreadsheets,   desktop 
publishing,  graphics,  and electronic and  mechanical  design.  Because of more 
challenging  technical and cost hurdles in handling digital forms of film, video 
and audio signals,  markets that rely on these media types have begun to migrate 
to digital formats and tools only in recent years. 
 
As technical  advances in digital  media content  creation  tools have made this 
migration  possible,  users have become able to create more complex content that 
may incorporate several elements of digital media. For example, many video games 
now include live action video, detailed 3D graphics, and high quality audio, all 
created,  manipulated,  and played back in digital form.  Feature films, such as 
Armageddon  or  Titanic,  integrate  sophisticated   computer-generated  special 
effects into traditional live action shots. 
 
The Company  participates  currently in two principal end-user markets in which 
there are well-established analog, or tape-based, content creation processes and 
which are transitioning to digital, or disk-based, content creation tools. These 
two  markets are (i) video and film  editing  and effects and (ii)  professional 
audio. 
 
Avid's video and film editing and effects market consists of professional users, 
over-the-air  and cable broadcast  companies and users in the corporate  office, 
government,  education,  and consumer markets.  Professional users produce video 
and film material,  such as feature films,  commercial spots,  entertainment and 
documentary programming, industrial videos, and music videos. Professional users 
also include professional  character animators and video game developers.  These 
users are  typically  employed  in  independent  production  or  post-production 
companies,  which  are  firms  that  rent  out  production  and  post-production 
equipment and  professionals  on a project  basis.  Professional  users are also 
found in television  facilities,  film studios,  and certain large  corporations 
that perform digital media production and post-production in-house. Over-the-air 
and cable broadcast companies  originate news programming,  and include national 



and international  broadcasters,  such as the British  Broadcasting  Corporation 
(BBC),  the Cable News  Network  (CNN),  and the National  Broadcasting  Company 
(NBC), as well as network affiliates, local independent television stations, and 
local and  regional  cable  operators  who produce  news  programming.  Users in 
corporations  and various other  institutions use digital media content tools to 
distribute  information  enriched by the  addition of digital  media  content to 
their customers and employees.  Educational users and home consumers use content 
creation tools to enrich school and home presentations. 
 
Avid's  professional  audio market is comprised of professional  music recording 
studios, project studios, radio broadcasters,  and home studios. Music recording 
and project studios operate in the same manner as the independent video and film 
production  and  post-production  firms,  as described  above.  This market also 
includes audio production and post-production in video and film. 
 
STRATEGY 
 
Avid's  mission  is to be the  leading  provider  of  powerful  digital  content 
creation  tools used to entertain and inform the world.  The Company's  strategy 
consists of four key elements: 
 
Maintain A Leading Position in Existing Markets: 
The Company  continues to focus its  activities  on markets  where digital media 
content creation  already takes place, and management  believes that the Company 
enjoys a leadership  position in each of these  primary  markets.  These include 
professional  video and film editing,  including film and television studios and 
independent production and post-production firms, the music and audio production 
and post-production  markets, and 3D (three-dimensional)  animation. The Company 
plans to  strengthen  these  positions by enhancing  its existing  products;  by 
developing and introducing new products that satisfy a broader range of customer 
needs in these markets,  through internal  development,  joint  development with 
third  parties or through  acquisitions;  and by  providing  excellent  customer 
service,  support and training.  To this end, in August 1998,  Avid acquired the 
common  stock of Softimage as well as certain  assets  related to its  business. 
Softimage  is a leading  developer of 3D  animation,  video  production,  2D cel 
animation (a cel in 2D cel animation consists of layers of 2D artwork changed on 
a frame by frame basis creating an illusion of motion) and compositing  software 
solutions  and  technologies.  Additionally,  in  October  1998,  Avid  formed a 
strategic  alliance with Tektronix,  principally  designed to serve the needs of 
broadcast  newsrooms,  which  includes  three key  initiatives:  a  distribution 
agreement,  the  intent to form a joint  venture  and a  technology  development 
alliance. 
 
Extend Technology to Market Sectors That Are Still Primarily Analog-based: 
The Company  believes  that it has  established  unit and revenue  market  share 
leadership positions in the professional video and film digital editing markets, 
the digital audio market, and the markets for digital news editing and broadcast 
newsroom  computer  systems.  To strengthen these positions and further increase 
overall market share, the Company is specifically targeting those market sectors 
that are currently mainly analog-based. As an example, the Company believes that 
expansion  opportunity  exists in television online editing,  which is the final 
piece of the post-production process that today is still mainly tape-based.  The 
Company  believes  that  because  digital  solutions  address  the needs of this 
editing process, tape will be replaced by digital solutions. Market sectors that 
are mainly  analog-based,  and which the Company intends to aggressively pursue, 
also include  broadcast news,  corporate and industrial  video and audio mixing, 
mastering and tracking. 
 
Provide Digital Media Composition Tools for Emerging Media Applications: 
The Company believes that many business communications needs, including employee 
and customer training,  new product introduction and management  communications, 
can be enriched by  integrating  digital  media  elements,  including  video and 
audio.  As a  result,  the  Company  intends  to target  users in  corporations, 
educational and government  institutions,  and small  businesses who, if offered 
digital media content  creation tools  appropriate to their skill levels,  price 
constraints,   and  other  business   requirements,   could  use  digital  media 
presentations  in their daily operations to improve the power and scope of their 
business communications.  Other emerging markets on which the Company intends to 
focus  include  individual  users  interested  in tools for  editing  home video 
productions, as well as creators of web-based video. 
 
Drive and Support Open Industry Standards: 
The Company designs its products so that they are based on and can co-exist with 
major industry-wide standards,  including computer platforms, operating systems, 
networking protocols,  data compression,  and digital media handling formats. In 
addition,  in response to growing customer demand for open standards that enable 
the  seamless  integration  of analog and  digital  media  tools from  different 
vendors,  the Company has  undertaken  an initiative to establish the Open Media 
Framework  Interchange  ("OMFI") as an industry  standard media file interchange 
format to facilitate the transfer of various media types, such as video,  audio, 
animation,  film, and graphics,  among various systems and applications  used in 
the media production  processes.  The Company has published the OMFI file format 
and is seeking to promulgate it as an industry standard. Hundreds of vendors and 
end users endorse the OMFI standard and more than 40 vendors are  supporting the 
OMFI standard in their products. 
 
In addition to OMFI, Avid is supporting the development and  promulgation of the 
Advanced  Authoring Format, or AAF, which is based on the OMFI standard.  AAF is 
an industry-driven, cross-platform, openly published multimedia content-creation 
process  format  that  will  allow   interchange  of  media  and   compositional 
information between  AAF-compliant  applications.  AAF applications will include 
Avid's Media Composer, Avid Cinema and SOFTIMAGE|DS, as well as content-creation 
tools  from  other  vendors.  The AAF  format  is being  promoted  by a group of 
companies  called  the  MultiMedia  Task  Force  which  is  comprised  of  Avid, 
Microsoft,  Adobe, Sonic Foundry,  Matrox,  Pinnacle Systems and its subsidiary, 
Truevision.  The AAF format is also being  offered as an open  standard  to such 
formal  standards  groups  as the  Society  of  Motion  Picture  and  Television 
Engineers  (SMPTE),  the Audio Engineering  Society (AES) and the Moving Picture 



Experts Group (MPEG) Committee. 
 
PRODUCTS 
 
The following lists the Company's  products within the two principal  markets in 
which they are sold.  A  description  follows of the major  products and product 
families in each of these categories. 
 
Video and Film Editing and Effects 
 
Media Composer: 
The  Media  Composer  product  is Avid's  original  product  offering  and still 
accounts for a significant  portion of its revenues.  The Company  believes that 
the Media Composer product line holds a greater unit market share than any other 
digital  non-linear  editing system in professional  video editing markets.  The 
Media Composer is a computer-based  digital,  nonlinear  editing system designed 
primarily for use by  professional  film and video  editors.  The Media Composer 
system converts visual and audio source material on tape to a digital format and 
stores the  converted  material on a range of hard disk  storage  devices.  Once 
digitized, the stored media can be previewed, edited, and played back. The Media 
Composer family of products is used to create  high-quality  productions such as 
television shows and commercials, feature films, music videos, corporate videos, 
and other  non-broadcast  finished  videos.  The Media Composer product line now 
includes four models (the Media Composer Off-line, 1000, 9000 and Media Station) 
which provide various levels of capability and functionality. 
 
Symphony: 
Avid's  Symphony  product  is an  editing  and  finishing  system  that  has the 
capability to handle  uncompressed  digital  versions of visual and audio source 
material.  Such  uncompressed  media  allow  users to work with  higher  quality 
digital images and sound. Avid Symphony uses the Windows NT operating system and 
delivers  all of the  proven  Media  Composer  editing  functionality  using two 
streams of uncompressed video and a graphics channel.  Avid Symphony is targeted 
towards completing primetime television programs. 
 
Film Composer: 
The Film Composer  product is a 24 frames per second ("fps")  editing system for 
projects  that  originate  and finish on film.  Film footage can be converted to 
video signals for editing, but because video runs at different speeds, 30 fps in 
the United  States,  and at 25 fps in other  countries,  a standard 30 or 25 fps 
video editing  system will not yield an accurate 24 fps film cut list from which 
to cut a master.  The Film  Composer  includes  software that  determines  which 
frames on the  videotape  are actual  frames from the film source  material  and 
allows the creation of a frame  accurate cut list.  The Film  Composer  software 
also includes special  features to meet the specific needs of film editors.  The 
Company  believes that Film Composer  holds a greater unit market share than any 
other digital non-linear editing system in professional film editing markets. 
 
SOFTIMAGE|DS: 
The SOFTIMAGE|DS  product is a comprehensive,  nonlinear  production  system for 
creating,  editing and finishing such short-form,  effects-intensive projects as 
commercials  and music  videos.  It  combines  a rich set of tools for video and 
audio editing,  compositing,  effects  generation,  image  treatment and project 
management,  all seamlessly  integrated within a unified architecture and common 
user   interface.   With   SOFTIMAGE|DS,   digital  artists  have  access  to  a 
comprehensive toolset with uncompressed capabilities,  combined with a choice of 
third-party hardware platforms. SOFTIMAGE|DS runs on the Windows NT platform. 
 
Avid Xpress for Macintosh and Windows NT: 
The Avid Xpress product is a digital, nonlinear video editing system designed to 
meet the needs of  professional  media  entrepreneurs  and video/film  educators 
involved  with video and  multimedia  production  for a variety of  distribution 
mediums  including  videotape,  CD-ROM  and  the  Internet.  Avid  Xpress  has a 
streamlined user interface and editing model targeted for this category of user. 
 
MCXpress for Windows NT: 
The MCXpress for Windows NT product is a digital, nonlinear video editing system 
designed for corporate and institutional video production.  It is a professional 
system  with  capabilities  geared  to  first-time  users of  digital  video and 
multimedia as compared,  for example,  to the Avid Xpress product which offers a 
higher level of capability for experienced digital video producers. 
 
NewsCutter DV: 
Avid's  NewsCutter  DV  product is a  computer-based  digital,  nonlinear  video 
editing system designed to meet the demands of television news  production.  The 
NewsCutter  DV system uses the popular  DVCPro media  compression  format and is 
built on a Windows NT-based computer  platform.  NewsCutter DV enables broadcast 
news editors to edit news,  features,  and news series.  The user  interface for 
NewsCutter DV has been designed for fast, easy editing to meet the time-critical 
demands of daily news deadlines.  Based on the same core technology as the Media 
Composer system,  the NewsCutter DV system offers a range of editing and effects 
features,  including dissolves,  wipes and graphics,  and character  generation. 
NewsCutter  DV  can  operate  as a  stand  alone  editing  system  or in a  news 
production workgroup with a playback system. 
 
Avid MediaServer: 
Avid's MediaServer  product is a workgroup video production server that provides 
simultaneous access to a central computer-based library of video and audio media 
files.  Based on the  Silicon  Graphics  family  of  servers,  Avid  MediaServer 
supports  multiple  editing and/or playback  workstations.  The Avid MediaServer 
system is designed to allow television  broadcasters to capture  electronic news 
feeds, edit stories, and play them to air all in a computer-based environment. 
 
AvidNews: 
Newsroom computer systems are the management  information systems for television 
newsrooms.  AvidNews provides a computer-based process of news production: story 
assignment  and  resource  scheduling,   story  research,   story  creation  and 
collaboration.  Journalists  use the system to access  wire  stories,  schedule, 



script,  edit text portions of stories,  and send and receive mail and messages. 
Producers  use the  system to assign  journalists  and crews to  stories  and to 
review  work-in-progress.  In connection  with the joint venture with Tektronix, 
Avid  granted to AvStar an  exclusive  license to use  AvidNews  for the primary 
purpose of developing, marketing and selling next generation newsroom automation 
computer systems in the worldwide broadcast market. 
 
Avid Cinema: 
The Avid Cinema  product is a desktop  editing  product  designed for people who 
have had little or no previous digital video editing experience.  Avid Cinema is 
targeted  at  users  in  home,  school,  and  corporate  environments.  A simple 
interface guides users through the process of making their own, near-VHS-quality 
movies to save to videotape, put in a slide presentation, or post on a web page. 
These movies can include video, transition effects, narration, titles and music. 
Avid Cinema currently employs Apple's  QuickTime  technology and allows users to 
save QuickTime files for various distribution  formats. Avid Cinema products are 
available for both Apple Macintosh and Windows 95/98 operating systems. 
 
Media Illusion: 
The Media Illusion product is Avid's digital  compositing,  layering and special 
effects software  solution running on Silicon  Graphics  computers.  It provides 
comprehensive,  nonlinear compositing based on an intuitive, interactive process 
tree, that enables powerful and efficient  effects  creation.  Media Illusion is 
used by professionals in both video and film post-production. 
 
SOFTIMAGE|3D: 
The  SOFTIMAGE|3D  product  is  a  complete,  end-to-end  3D  production  system 
including modeling, animation and rendering tools, designed for integration into 
a production workflow.  SOFTIMAGE|3D has revolutionized animation production and 
established a suite of tools that encompasses the entire 3D-production process. 
 
Matador: 
The Matador product is a 2D  post-production  paint software  solution.  Matador 
provides the user with painting,  image treatment,  rotoscoping,  tracking,  and 
multi-layered 2D animation in a single resolution, independent system. 
 
Elastic Reality: 
Avid's Elastic  Reality  product is a software  solution that provides tools for 
performing 2D and 3D hierarchical  animation,  character animation,  warping and 
morphing  of  shapes  and  images,   color  correction  and  matte  making,  and 
compositing.  Elastic  Reality is based on Avid's  proprietary  "shape-to-shape" 
morphing  interface.  The Company  believes that Elastic Reality holds a greater 
unit market share than any other morphing and warping  software in  professional 
film and video special effects markets. 
 
Marquee: 
Avid's Marquee  product is a  resolution-independent,  title-animation  software 
package  for  Silicon  Graphics  and  Windows  NT   workstations.   Targeted  at 
professionals in television post-production and broadcast design, Marquee allows 
users to quickly create  sophisticated,  layered title  animation using a unique 
and powerful editing timeline,  real-time  interactive  light sources,  animated 
textures, and true 3D text. 
 
Storage Systems: 
Avid  offers  a family  of media  storage  solutions  for use with its  systems. 
Storage  systems  are used to add media  editing or playback  capacity,  improve 
image quality,  support workgroup media sharing, and protect media from loss due 
to hardware  failure.  Avid  purchases  disk drives,  tape  drives,  and storage 
enclosure sub-systems from third-party manufacturers,  integrates them, enhances 
their  performance,  tests and  certifies  them for use with Avid  systems,  and 
packages them in various configurations. These storage systems range in capacity 
from nine gigabytes to well over one terabyte (1,000 gigabytes). 
 
Professional Audio 
 
Pro Tools: 
The Pro Tools product is a  multi-track,  nonlinear  digital  audio  workstation 
which runs on Power Macintosh and Windows NT/Intel  Architecture-based  personal 
computers.  Pro Tools is developed by  Digidesign  for the  professional  music, 
film, television,  radio, multimedia,  DVD and web production markets. Pro Tools 
features  include audio  recording,  editing,  signal  processing  and automated 
mixing.  Pro  Tools  provides  an open  architecture  in  which  more  than  100 
Digidesign  Development  Partners provide  additional  solutions that expand the 
functionality of the system, enhancing its appeal to customers. 
 
ProControl: 
In 1998,  Digidesign began selling ProControl,  a modular,  expandable,  tactile 
hardware control surface for Pro Tools systems. ProControl is a modular hardware 
control surface that adds  high-quality  tactile  recording,  mixing and editing 
capabilities  to  ProTools  systems.   ProControl  connects  via  ethernet,  and 
interacts with Pro Tools software via patented  DigiFader moving faders, 25 high 
resolution,  8  character  scribble  strips and  dedicated  switch  and  encoder 
controls.  ProControl serves as a comprehensive front-end for Pro Tools' mixing, 
editing  and DSP  (digital  signal  processing),  and can  serve as the only mix 
controller in the user's work environment. 
 
AudioVision: 
The  AudioVision  product  is a  high  performance,  digital  audio  workstation 
designed  to meet the needs of the audio  post-production  professional  working 
with film and video.  AudioVision  is compatible  with projects  originating  on 
Avid's Media Composer and Film Composer systems.  Typical  applications  include 
sound  editing for  feature  film and  television  programming,  ADR  (automatic 
dialogue  replacement),  and commercial spot production.  AudioVision allows the 
user to record,  edit and process sound in sync with Avid-format  digital video. 
AudioVision  includes  project  management  and database  tools,  integrated DSP 
(digital signaling processing) and the ability to edit audio and video together. 
The system offers a high level of interchange with other Avid systems, including 
Pro Tools and Media Composer. 



 
SALES AND SERVICE 
 
Avid  sells its  products  through a  combination  of direct  and,  to a greater 
extent,  indirect sales channels.  Since late 1996, the Company has increasingly 
emphasized its indirect channel, including independent distributors, value-added 
resellers ("VARs") and dealers, providing for broad market coverage. As a result 
of the  shifting of  emphasis to the  indirect  sales  channel,  the Company has 
increased  its  support  of top  customers,  while the  proportion  of  revenues 
generated through its indirect channels has been increased. 
 
The  Company  maintains  sales  offices  in 31  cities in 15  countries  and has 
relationships  with more than 500 distributors,  VARs and dealers throughout the 
world. 
 
Pro Tools|24 and other Digidesign-developed  products are sold generally through 
dealers and  distributors.  Because this channel tends to focus on music-related 
products,  there is,  currently,  little overlap between this channel and Avid's 
video and film market sales channel. 
 
Avid currently  provides direct  customer  support  through  regional  telephone 
support  centers and field service  representatives  in major  markets.  Support 
offerings include up to 24-hour,  seven day-per-week  options for both telephone 
support and on-site representation,  hardware replacement and software upgrades. 
In addition,  customer  support is provided by VARs and  distributors  and other 
authorized providers. 
 
Customer  training  is  provided  directly  by Avid and  through a network of 42 
authorized third-party Avid training centers in 11 countries. 
 
MANUFACTURING AND SUPPLIERS 
 
Avid's   manufacturing   operations   consist   primarily   of  the  testing  of 
subassemblies  and components  purchased from third parties,  the duplication of 
software and the  configuration,  assembly and testing of board sets,  software, 
related hardware  components,  and complete systems.  Avid relies on independent 
contractors   to   manufacture    components   and   subassemblies   to   Avid's 
specifications.  Avid's  systems  undergo  testing and quality  assurance at the 
final assembly stage. 
 
The Company is dependent  upon sole source  suppliers for certain key components 
used  in its  products.  Products  purchased  by the  Company  or its  VARs  and 
distributors from sole source vendors include computers from Apple, SGI, IBM and 
Intergraph; video compression chips manufactured by C-Cube Microsystems; a small 
computer systems interface ("SCSI") accelerator board from ATTO Technology; a 3D 
digital  video  effects  board  from  Pinnacle  Systems;   application  specific 
integrated  circuits  ("ASIC") from Chip Express and LSI Logic;  digital  signal 
processing integrated circuit from Motorola; a fibre channel adapter from JNI; a 
fibre channel  storage array from Data General's  Clariion  division;  and a PCI 
expansion  chassis  from Magma Inc.  The  Company  purchases  these sole  source 
components  pursuant to purchase  orders  placed from time to time.  The Company 
also  manufactures  certain  circuit  boards under  license from  Truevision  (a 
subsidiary  of  Pinnacle   Systems).   The  Company  generally  does  not  carry 
significant  inventories  of these sole source  components and has no guaranteed 
supply  arrangements.  These  purchasing  arrangements  can  result in delays in 
obtaining products from time to time. No assurance can be given that sole source 
suppliers  will devote the  resources  necessary to support the  enhancement  or 
continued  availability  of such  components  or that any such supplier will not 
encounter  financial  difficulties.  While the Company believes that alternative 
sources  of  supply  for its sole  source  components  could be  developed,  its 
business and results of operations could be materially  adversely affected if it 
were to encounter an interruption in its sources of supply. 
 
Avid has manufacturing facilities in Tewksbury, Massachusetts;  Dublin, Ireland; 
and Palo Alto and Menlo Park, California. 
 
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
Avid's  research  and  development  efforts  are focused on the  development  of 
digital media content  creation  tools and workgroup  solutions  that operate on 
Windows-based, IRIX-based and Apple computers. This includes the development and 
enhancement of best-in-class video, film, 3D animation and audio editing systems 
to meet the needs of professionals  in the television,  film,  music,  broadcast 
news production, and industrial post-production markets, and of end-users in the 
consumer, educational and corporate markets. As these digital tools proliferate, 
all-digital  production  cycles  are  becoming  possible.  Avid's  research  and 
development efforts therefore also include networking and storage initiatives to 
deliver standards-based media transfer and media asset management tools, as well 
as standalone and  network-attached  media storage systems for  workgroups.  The 
Company   undertakes   research  and   development   activities   in  Tewksbury, 
Massachusetts;  Palo  Alto,  California;  Santa  Monica,  California;  Montreal, 
Quebec; and London, England. 
 
COMPETITION 
 
The  markets for Avid's  products  are highly  competitive  and subject to rapid 
change.  Competition  is fragmented  with a large number of suppliers  providing 
different types of products to different markets. 
 
In the video and film editing and effects markets,  Avid encounters  competition 
primarily from vendors that offer similar digital production and post-production 
editing products based on standard computer  platforms.  Avid also competes with 
vendors that offer  editing and effects  products for  originators  of broadcast 
news.  These  companies  include  Discreet  Logic,   Kinetix  (a  subsidiary  of 
Autodesk),  Media 100 (formerly  known as Data  Translation,  Inc.),  Quantel (a 
subsidiary  of Carlton  Communications  PLC),  Alias/Wavefront  (a subsidiary of 
Silicon  Graphics),  Panasonic (a subsidiary of Matsushita)  and Sony. Avid also 
competes with vendors, such as Sony and Matsushita,  that generally have offered 



analog-based  products.  Avid expects that  competition  from these vendors will 
increase to the extent that such vendors  develop and  introduce  digital  media 
products as well as new versions of their analog products. 
 
In  the  professional  audio  markets,   the  Company  competes  primarily  with 
traditional   analog  and  digital  recording  and/or  mixing  system  suppliers 
including  Alesis,  Euphonix,  Mackie,  and  Yamaha as well as other  disk-based 
digital  audio  system  suppliers  including   Fairlight,   Roland,   Steinberg, 
Studio/Audio/Video (SADie), and others. In addition,  companies such as Creative 
Technology  currently provide low cost (under $500) digital audio playback cards 
targeted  primarily  at the  personal  computer  game  market.  There  can be no 
assurance  that  these  companies  will  not  introduce  products  that are more 
directly competitive with the Company's products. 
 
The Company may face  competition  in any or all of these  markets in the future 
from computer manufacturers,  such as Compaq, Hewlett-Packard,  IBM, and Silicon 
Graphics,  as well as from software vendors,  such as Oracle and Sybase.  All of 
these  companies  have  announced  their  intentions to enter some or all of the 
Company's target markets,  including specifically the broadcast news and special 
effects sectors of the video and film editing and effects  market.  In addition, 
certain developers of shrink-wrapped  digital media software  products,  such as 
Adobe and  Macromedia,  either offer or have  announced  video and audio editing 
products which may compete with certain of the Company's products. 
 
The  primary  competitive  factors in all of the  Company's  market  sectors are 
price/performance,  functionality,  product  quality,  reputation,  product line 
breadth,  access to distribution  channels,  customer service and support, brand 
name awareness, and ease of use. 
 
EMPLOYEES 
 
The Company employed 1,929 people as of December 31, 1998. 
 
 
ITEM 2.   PROPERTIES 
 
The  Company's  principal  administrative,  sales and  marketing,  research  and 
development,   support,  and  manufacturing  facilities  are  located  in  three 
buildings  adjacent  to one  another in an office  park  located  in  Tewksbury, 
Massachusetts. The Company's leases on such buildings expire in June 2010. 
 
The Company also leases a facility in Dublin,  Ireland,  for the manufacture and 
distribution  of its  products  and  in  Palo  Alto,  California,  which  houses 
Digidesign headquarters and certain other research and development operations. 
 
Additionally,  the Company leases a facility in Montreal,  Canada,  which houses 
certain administrative, research and development, and support operations. 
 
In September  1995,  the  Company's  United  Kingdom  subsidiary  entered into a 
15-year lease in London, England. 
 
The  Company  also  maintains  sales and  marketing  support  offices  in leased 
facilities in various other locations throughout the world. 
 
See Note K -  "Commitments  and  Contingencies"  in the  Notes  to  Consolidated 
Financial Statements for information  concerning the Company's obligations under 
all operating leases as of December 31, 1998. 
 
The Company  anticipates  no  difficulty  in  retaining  occupancy of any of its 
manufacturing,  office or sales and marketing support  facilities  through lease 
renewals  prior  to  expiration  or  through  month-to-month  occupancy,  or  in 
replacing them with equivalent facilities. 
 
 
ITEM 3.   LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 
Data Translation, Inc. 
 
On June 7, 1995, the Company filed a patent infringement complaint in the United 
States   District  Court  for  the  District  of   Massachusetts   against  Data 
Translation,  Inc.,  a Marlboro,  Massachusetts-based  company.  Avid is seeking 
judgment against Data Translation that, among other things, Data Translation has 
willfully  infringed  Avid's  patent  number  5,045,940,  entitled  "Video/Audio 
Transmission System and Method." Avid is also seeking an award of treble damages 
together  with  prejudgment  interest  and costs,  Avid's  costs and  reasonable 
attorneys'  fees,  and an injunction to prohibit  further  infringement  by Data 
Translation.  The litigation has been dismissed without prejudice (with leave to 
refile) pending a decision by the U.S. Patent and Trademark  Office on a reissue 
patent application based on the issued patent. 
 
Combined Logic Company 
 
On March 11, 1996,  the Company was named as defendant in a patent  infringement 
suit filed in the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas 
by Combined Logic Company,  a California  partnership  located in Beverly Hills, 
California.  On May 16,  1996,  the suit was  transferred  to the United  States 
District  Court for the Southern  District of New York on motion by the Company. 
The complaint  alleges  infringement  by Avid of U.S.  patent number  4,258,385, 
issued in 1981,  and seeks  injunctive  relief,  treble  damages and costs,  and 
attorneys'  fees. The Company  believes that it has meritorious  defenses to the 
complaint and intends to contest it vigorously.  However,  an adverse resolution 
of this  litigation  could have an adverse effect on the Company's  consolidated 
financial  position  or  results  of  operations  in the  period  in  which  the 
litigation  is  resolved.  No costs have been  accrued  for this  possible  loss 
contingency. 
 
Other 
 



The Company also receives  inquiries from time to time with regard to additional 
possible patent infringement  claims.  These inquiries are generally referred to 
counsel  and  are in  various  stages  of  discussion.  If any  infringement  is 
determined to exist, the Company may seek licenses or settlements.  In addition, 
as a normal incidence of the nature of the Company's  business,  various claims, 
charges,  and  litigation  have been  asserted or commenced  against the Company 
arising  from or  related  to  contractual  or  employee  relations  or  product 
performance.  Management  does not  believe  these  claims  will have a material 
adverse  effect on the  financial  position  or  results  of  operations  of the 
Company. 
 
 
ITEM 4.   SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 
 
No matters were submitted to a vote of the Company's security holders during the 
last quarter of the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998. 
 



 
 
 
                       EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY 
 
Set forth below is (i) the name and age of each present executive officer of the 
Company; (ii) the position(s) presently held by each person named; and (iii) the 
principal occupation held by each person named for at least the past five years. 
 
 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER             AGE                   POSITION(S) 
 
William J. Miller              53             Chairman of the Board and 
                                              Chief Executive Officer 
 
Clifford A. Jenks              47             President and Chief Operating 
                                              Officer 
 
William L. Flaherty            51             Senior Vice President of 
                                              Finance, Chief Financial Officer 
                                              and Treasurer 
 
David R. Froker                43             Senior Vice President and 
                                              General Manager of Digidesign 
 
C. Edward Hazen                48             Senior Vice President and  
                                              General Manager of Office and 
                                              Consumer Products 
 
Rose G. O'Donnell              55             Senior Vice President of 
                                              Technical Strategies 
 
David E. Olson                 49             Senior Vice President 
 
Judith M. Oppenheim            57             Senior Vice President of Human 
                                              Resources and Corporate Services 
 
Jean Proulx                    56             Senior Vice President 
 
Carol L. Reid                  51             Vice President and Corporate 
                                              Controller 
 
- --------------- 
 
WILLIAM J.  MILLER.  Mr.  Miller  joined the  Company in April 1996 and has been 
Chairman and Chief  Executive  Officer since September 1996. From September 1996 
to February  1999,  Mr.  Miller was  President in addition to Chairman and Chief 
Executive  Officer.  Prior to April 1996, Mr. Miller was Chief Executive Officer 
of Quantum Corporation (1992-1995). 
 
CLIFFORD A. JENKS.  Mr.  Jenks  joined the Company in October 1996 and was named 
President and Chief  Operating  Officer in February 1999.  From December 1997 to 
February 1999,  Mr. Jenks was Executive  Vice  President and General  Manager of 
Editing and Effects.  From January 1997 to December  1997,  Mr. Jenks was Senior 
Vice President of Worldwide Sales and Marketing. He was Vice President Worldwide 
Sales and  Marketing  from  October  1996 to January  1997.  Mr. Jenks was Chief 
Operating Officer of Zenith Data Systems  (1992-1996),  and Vice President Sales 
and Marketing Operations of Apple Computer, Inc. (1989-1992). 
 
WILLIAM L. FLAHERTY.  Mr.  Flaherty joined the Company in September 1996 and has 
been Senior Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial  Officer since January 
1997 and Treasurer  since  December  1997. He was Vice  President of Finance and 
Chief  Financial  Officer from September 1996 to January 1997.  Prior to joining 
Avid,  Mr.  Flaherty  was Senior Vice  President,  Finance  and Chief  Financial 
Officer  (February  - September  1996),  and Vice  President,  Finance and Chief 
Financial Officer (1993 - February 1996), of Gibson Greetings Inc., and was Vice 
President and Treasurer of FMR Corp., the parent company of Fidelity Investments 
Group (1989-1992). 
 
DAVID R. FROKER.  Mr. Froker has been Senior Vice President and General  Manager 
of Digidesign  since January 1997. Mr. Froker was General  Manager of Digidesign 
from March  1996 to January  1997.  Prior to that time,  he was Vice  President, 
Business  Development  of  Digidesign,  Inc.  (1994-1995).  He was Product Group 
Manager at Amdahl (1988-1993). 
 
C. EDWARD HAZEN. Mr. Hazen has been Senior Vice President and General Manager of 
Office and Consumer  Products  since December 1997. He was Senior Vice President 
of Business  Development  and Corporate  Treasurer from January 1997 to December 
1997. He was Vice President,  Finance and Treasurer from January 1996 to January 
1997, Vice President,  Chief Financial  Officer and Treasurer from November 1995 
to January 1996,  and Vice  President  and Treasurer  from March 1993 to January 
1996.  Mr.  Hazen was a  Managing  Director  of  Robertson,  Stephens  & Company 
(1987-1993). 
 
ROSE G.  O'DONNELL.  Ms.  O'Donnell has been Senior Vice  President of Technical 
Strategies  since  April  1997.  Ms.  O'Donnell  was Senior  Vice  President  of 
Engineering from January 1997 to April 1997. She was Vice President, Engineering 
from  November 1994 to January 1997.  Ms.  O'Donnell was General  Manager of the 
Media Technology Division of Hewlett-Packard (1989-1994). 
 
DAVID E.  OLSON.  Mr.  Olson is a Senior Vice  President  of the  Company.  From 
November 1997 to February  1999, Mr. Olson was Senior Vice President and General 
Manager,  Digital  News  Production.  Mr.  Olson was Senior  Vice  President  of 
Worldwide  Operations of the Company and Chief  Operating  Officer of Digidesign 
from  January  1997  to  November  1997.  He was  Vice  President  of  Worldwide 
Operations for Avid from June 1996 to January 1997. Mr. Olson was Vice President 
of Operations at Digidesign, Inc. from August 1991 to June 1996. 



 
JUDITH M.  OPPENHEIM.  Ms.  Oppenheim  has been Senior Vice  President  of Human 
Resources and Corporate  Services  since January 1997. She was Vice President of 
Human  Resources  from  November 1992 to January  1997.  Ms.  Oppenheim was Vice 
President, Human Resources at The Forum Corporation (1989- 1992). 
 
JEAN PROULX. Ms. Proulx is a Senior Vice President of the Company. From December 
1997 to January 1999, Ms. Proulx was Senior Vice  President and General  Manager 
of Professional  Products. She was Senior Vice President of Engineering from May 
1997 to December 1997.  She was Vice President of Emerging  Business at IBM from 
October 1995 to May 1997,  was the Vice President of Network  Software  Business 
Unit at Digital Equipment Corporation from January 1994 to October 1995, and was 
Director of the modern  Macintosh  Operating Group at Apple Computer from August 
1992 to November 1993. 
 
CAROL L. REID.  Ms. Reid joined the Company in November  1998 as Vice  President 
and Corporate Controller. Prior to that time, she was Vice President of Internal 
Audit for Digital  Equipment  Corporation from January 1998 to November 1998 and 
Assistant Treasurer/Director from October 1994 to January 1998. 
 
There are no family relationships among the named officers. 
 



 
 
 
                                    PART II 
 
ITEM 5.   MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON STOCK AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 
 
The  Company's  Common Stock is listed on the Nasdaq  National  Market under the 
symbol  AVID.  The table below shows the high and low sales prices of the Common 
Stock for each  calendar  quarter the fiscal  years ended  December 31, 1998 and 
1997. 
 
 
  1998                      HIGH             LOW 
  ----                      ----             ---         
                                          
First Quarter             $41.250          $26.000 
Second Quarter            $47.750          $28.375 
Third Quarter             $38.875          $18.625 
Fourth Quarter            $27.000          $11.063 
 
 
 
 
 
  1997                      HIGH             LOW           
  ----                      ----             ---              
                                          
First Quarter             $14.000           $9.000 
Second Quarter            $28.125          $12.375 
Third Quarter             $38.000          $22.000 
Fourth Quarter            $33.000          $23.000 
 
 
 
The  approximate  number of holders of record of the  Company's  Common Stock at 
March 26,  1999,  was 602.  This number does not include  shareholders  for whom 
shares were held in a "nominee" or "street" name. 
 
The Company has never  declared or paid cash  dividends on its capital stock and 
currently  intends to retain all available funds for use in the operation of its 
business. The Company therefore does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in 
the foreseeable future. 
 



 
 
 
ITEM 6.   SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 
 
The following table sets forth selected  condensed  consolidated  financial data 
for Avid. Included in the Company's financial  statements and selected financial 
data are the results of operations of Softimage,  which the Company  acquired on 
August 3, 1998.  The Company  accounted for this  acquisition as a purchase and, 
accordingly,  the results of operations of Softimage are included as of the date 
of acquisition.  In January 1995, the Company completed a merger with Digidesign 
that was accounted for as a pooling of interests and, accordingly, all financial 
data  presented  was  restated  to  include  the  combined  results  of Avid and 
Digidesign  as though  the  merger  had  occurred  retroactively.  The  selected 
consolidated  financial  data  below  should  be read in  conjunction  with  the 
"Management's  Discussion  and  Analysis of Financial  Condition  and Results of 
Operations" and the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included 
elsewhere in this filing. 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA: 
In thousands (except per share data) 
 
 
                                                For the Year ended 
                                                   December 31, 
                                ------------------------------------------------ 
                                  1998      1997      1996      1995      1994 
                                ------------------------------------------------ 
                                                            
Net revenues                    $482,377  $471,338  $429,009  $406,650  $233,633 
Cost of revenues                 190,249   221,553   238,808   198,841   108,057 
                                ------------------------------------------------ 
  Gross profit                   292,128   249,785   190,201   207,809   125,576 
                                ------------------------------------------------ 
Operating expenses: 
  Research and development        88,787    73,470    69,405    53,841    28,223 
  Marketing and selling          125,280   120,394   127,006   107,780    61,366 
  General and administrative      28,549    25,808    24,203    18,085    12,575 
  Nonrecurring costs              28,373              28,950     5,456          
  Amortization of acquisition 
    -related assets               34,204                                     
                                ------------------------------------------------ 
    Total operating expenses     305,193   219,672   249,564   185,162   102,164 
                                ------------------------------------------------ 
Operating income (loss)          (13,065)   30,113   (59,363)   22,647    23,412 
Other income and expense, net      8,636     8,125     3,416     1,380     1,675 
                                ------------------------------------------------ 
Income (loss) before income 
  taxes                           (4,429)   38,238   (55,947)   24,027    25,087 
Provision for (benefit from) 
  income taxes                      (796)   11,854   (17,903)    8,588     7,294 
                                 ----------------------------------------------- 
Net income (loss)                ($3,633)  $26,384  ($38,044)  $15,439   $17,793 
                                 =============================================== 
Net income (loss) per common 
  share - basic                   ($0.15)    $1.14    ($1.80)    $0.81     $1.10 
                                 =============================================== 
Net income (loss) per common 
  share - diluted                 ($0.15)    $1.08    ($1.80)    $0.77     $0.99 
                                 =============================================== 
Weighted average common shares 
  outstanding - basic             23,644    23,065    21,163    19,010    16,238 
                                 =============================================== 
Weighted average common shares 
  outstanding - diluted           23,644    24,325    21,163    20,165    17,921  
                                 =============================================== 
 
 
 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA:         
In thousands 
 
 
                                               As of December 31, 
                                ------------------------------------------------ 
                                  1998      1997      1996      1995       1994 
                                ------------------------------------------------ 
                                                           
Working capital                 $118,965  $186,474  $145,320  $162,260   $86,513 
Total assets                     486,715   356,805   300,979   331,604   182,174 
Long-term obligations             13,261       403     1,186     2,945     2,369 
Total stockholders' equity       290,311   241,794   213,415   247,966   127,887 
 
 
 
SUPPLEMENTAL PRO FORMA INFORMATION: 
 
The following  table  presents pro forma net income,  as well as the related pro 
forma per share amounts, excluding the tax-effected impact of nonrecurring costs 
and amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets. 
 
In thousands (except per share data)       
 
 
                                               For the Year ended  
                                                  December 31, 
                               ------------------------------------------------- 



                                  1998      1997      1996      1995      1994 
                               ------------------------------------------------- 
                                                               
Pro forma net income, 
  excluding nonrecurring 
  costs and amortization 
  of acquisition-related 
  intangible assets             $40,123   $26,384   ($14,518)  $18,869   $17,793 
                                =======   =======   ========   =======   ======= 
                                                                         
Pro forma net income per 
  common share, excluding 
  nonrecurring costs and 
  amortization of 
  acquisition-related  
  intangible assets - diluted     $1.56     $1.08     ($0.69)    $0.94     $0.99 
                                =======   =======   ========   =======   ======= 
                                                                         
Weighted average common 
  shares outstanding - 
  diluted - used for pro 
  forma calculations             25,704    24,325     21,163    20,165    17,921 
                                =======   =======   ========   =======   ======= 
 
 
See Note R for supplemental pro forma calculations of net income (unaudited). 



 
 
 
ITEM 7.  MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS 
         OF OPERATIONS 
 
OVERVIEW 
 
The text of this document may include forward-looking statements. Actual results 
may differ materially from those described herein,  depending on such factors as 
are described  herein,  including under "Certain  Factors That May Affect Future 
Results." 
 
Avid  develops and provides  digital  film,  video and audio editing and special 
effects  software  and  hardware   technologies  to  create  media  content  for 
information  and  entertainment  applications.  Integrated  with  the  Company's 
digital storage and networking solutions,  Avid's products are used worldwide in 
video  and  audio  production  and  post-production  facilities;  film  studios; 
network,  affiliate,   independent  and  cable  television  stations;  recording 
studios;   advertising  agencies;   government  and  educational   institutions; 
corporate communications departments; and by individual home users. 
 
In August 1998,  the Company  acquired the common stock of Softimage and certain 
assets  related to the business of Softimage for total  consideration  of $247.9 
million.  Softimage is a leading developer of 3D animation, video production, 2D 
cel  animation  and  compositing   software  solutions  and  technologies.   The 
acquisition  was  recorded  as a  purchase  and,  accordingly,  the  results  of 
operations of Softimage are included in the Company's financial statements as of 
the  acquisition  date.  The Company's  results of operations for the year ended 
December  31, 1998  include a pre-tax  charge of $28.4  million for the value of 
acquired  in-process  research and development and amortization of $34.2 million 
related to intangible assets recorded as a result of the acquisition.  Excluding 
this one-time charge and  amortization,  pro forma net income was $40.1 million, 
or $1.56 per diluted share, for the year ended December 31, 1998. 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
The following  table sets forth  certain  items from the Company's  consolidated 
statements  of  operations  as a  percentage  of net  revenues  for the  periods 
indicated: 
 
 
                                             For the Year ended December 31, 
                                            -------------------------------- 
                                                1998      1997      1996 
                                            -------------------------------- 
                                                           
     Net revenues                              100.0%    100.0%    100.0% 
     Cost of revenues                           39.4%     47.0%     55.7% 
                                              --------  --------  --------  
       Gross profit                             60.6%     53.0%     44.3% 
                                              --------  --------  --------  
     Operating expenses: 
       Research and development                 18.4%     15.6%     16.2% 
       Marketing and selling                    26.0%     25.5%     29.6% 
       General and administrative                5.9%      5.5%      5.6% 
       Nonrecurring costs                        5.9%                6.7% 
       Amortization of  acquisition-related 
       intangible assets                         7.1%       
                                              --------  --------  -------- 
         Total operating expenses               63.3%     46.6%     58.1% 
                                              --------  --------  --------  
     Operating income (loss)                    (2.7)%     6.4%    (13.8)% 
     Other income and expense, net               1.8%      1.7%      0.8% 
                                              --------  --------  -------- 
     Income (loss) before income taxes          (0.9)%     8.1%    (13.0)% 
     Provision  for  (benefit  from)  
       income taxes                             (0.2)%     2.5%     (4.1)% 
                                              --------  --------  -------- 
     Net income (loss)                          (0.7)%     5.6%     (8.9)% 
                                              ========  ========  ======== 
 
 
Excluding nonrecurring costs of 5.9% of revenues and amortization of acquisition 
related intangible assets of 7.1% of revenues,  both of which are related to the 
acquisition of Softimage, pro forma net income was 8.3% of 1998 revenues. 
 
Net Revenues 
 
The  Company's  net  revenues  have  been  derived  mainly  from  the  sales  of 
computer-based digital, nonlinear media editing systems and related peripherals, 
licensing  of  related  software,  and  sales of  related  software  maintenance 
contracts.  Net revenues  increased by $11.1 million (2.3%) to $482.4 million in 
the year ended  December 31, 1998 from $471.3  million in 1997. Net revenues for 
the year ended  December 31, 1997 of $471.3  million  increased by $42.3 million 
(9.9%) from $429.0 million in 1996. The increase in net revenues during 1998 was 
primarily  attributable to incremental revenue related to product lines acquired 
in the Softimage  transaction,  increased unit sales of Avid Xpress products for 
Macintosh and NT  platforms,  and increased  sales of Media  Composer  products, 
partially  offset by decreases in sales of system upgrades and Avid Cinema.  The 
increase in net revenues  during 1997 was primarily the result of growth in unit 
sales of MCXpress products for Macintosh and NT platforms,  storage systems, and 
digital  audio  products.  During  1998,  the Company  introduced  numerous  new 
products,  including  Symphony,  Media  Composer  9000,  SOFTIMAGE|DS  2.1, Avid 
Express for Windows NT, Pro Tools|24 Mix, and Marquee. Additionally, the Company 
introduced numerous version updates of existing products,  including version 7.0 
of Media  Composer  and Film  Composer,  version  2.0 and 1.6 of Avid Xpress and 



MCXpress,  respectively, and version 1.1 of the Media Browse module of AvidNews. 
During 1997,  the Company  began  shipments of new versions of MCXpress and Avid 
Xpress, AudioVision 4.0, Pro Tools|24, AvidNews and Mediashare Fibre Channel. To 
date, product returns of all products have been immaterial. 
 
The Company  continues to shift an  increasing  proportion  of its sales through 
indirect  channels,  such as distributors  and resellers.  Net revenues  derived 
through  indirect  channels  were  greater  than 70% of net revenue for the year 
ended  December 31,  1998,  compared to greater than 60% of net revenue for 1997 
and 40% for 1996. 
 
International  sales (sales to customers  outside North  America)  accounted for 
49.3% of the Company's  1998 net revenues,  compared to 48.6% for 1997 and 49.5% 
for 1996.  International sales increased by 3.8% in 1998 compared to 1997 and by 
4.9% in 1997  compared to 1996.  The  increase in  international  sales for 1998 
compared to 1997 and the increase for 1997 compared to 1996 reflected  increases 
in Europe, partly offset by lower sales in the Asia Pacific region. 
 
Gross Profit 
 
Cost of revenues consists  primarily of costs associated with the procurement of 
components;   the  assembly,   test,  and  distribution  of  finished  products; 
provisions for inventory  obsolescence;  warehousing;  and  post-sales  customer 
support costs.  The resulting gross profit  fluctuates  based on factors such as 
the mix of  products  sold,  the cost and  proportion  of  third-party  hardware 
included in the systems sold by the Company,  the distribution  channels through 
which products are sold, the timing of new product  introductions,  the offering 
of product  upgrades,  price discounts and other sales promotion  programs,  and 
sales of aftermarket hardware products. Gross margin increased to 60.6% in 1998, 
compared  to 53.0% in 1997 and  44.3% in  1996.  The  increase  during  1998 was 
primarily due to lower vendor  material  costs,  improved  service margins and a 
favorable  product  mix.  The increase  during 1997 was  primarily  due to lower 
material costs and manufacturing efficiencies, reduced discounts and other sales 
promotion  programs,  and a favorable product mix. The Company currently expects 
gross margins during 1999 to be consistent with the 1998 levels. 
 
Research and Development 
 
Research and development expenses increased by $15.3 million (20.8%) in the year 
ended December 31, 1998 compared to 1997 and increased by $4.1 million (5.9%) in 
the year ended December 31, 1997 compared to 1996. The increased expenditures in 
1998 were primarily due to five months of incremental Softimage costs as well as 
additions to the Company's  engineering  staff for the continued  development of 
new and existing products. The increased expenditures in 1997 were primarily due 
to provisions  resulting from the Company's profit sharing plan and additions to 
the  Company's  engineering  staff  for  the  continued  development  of new and 
existing  products.  Offsetting  the 1997 increase was the allocation in 1997 of 
product marketing costs to sales and marketing  expenses rather than to research 
and development  expenses,  as that allocation more appropriately  reflected the 
activities of that function.  Research and development  expenses  increased as a 
percentage of net revenues to 18.4% in 1998 from 15.6% in 1997  primarily due to 
the  increases in research and  development  expenses for 1998 noted above.  The 
decrease  to 15.6% in 1997  from  16.2%  in 1996  was due to the  allocation  of 
product marketing costs to sales and marketing and the increase in net revenues, 
offset  by  increased  expenditures  due to  continued  development  of new  and 
existing products. 
 
Marketing and Selling 
 
Marketing  and selling  expenses  increased by $4.9  million  (4.1%) in the year 
ended December 31, 1998 compared to 1997 and decreased by $6.6 million (5.2%) in 
the year ended December 31, 1997 compared to 1996. The increased expenditures in 
1998 were primarily due to five months of incremental Softimage costs as well as 
an increase in marketing programs, offset by ongoing savings in selling expenses 
as a result of the shift to an indirect  sales model.  The decrease in sales and 
marketing  expense in 1997 was primarily due to the effect of the  restructuring 
of the Company's sales and marketing operations during the first quarter of 1997 
to an indirect  sales  model.  The Company had shifted its primary  distribution 
emphasis  from a direct sales force to indirect  sales  channels,  which reduced 
certain costs including direct sales  compensation and office overhead  expenses 
in 1997 and  1998.  The  reduction  in 1997  costs was  partially  offset by the 
allocation in 1997 of product marketing costs to sales and marketing rather than 
to research  and  development.  Marketing  and selling  expenses  increased as a 
percentage of net revenues to 26.0% in 1998 from 25.5% in 1997, and decreased as 
a  percentage  of net  revenues  from 29.6% in 1996.  The  increase  in 1998 was 
primarily due to the increases in selling and  marketing  expenses  noted above. 
The decrease in 1997 was  primarily  due to the increase in net revenues in 1997 
compared to 1996. 
 
General and Administrative 
 
General and  administrative  expenses increased $2.7 million (10.6%) in the year 
ended December 31, 1998 compared to 1997 and increased by $1.6 million (6.6%) in 
the year ended December 31, 1997 compared to 1996. The increased expenditures in 
1998 were primarily due to five months of incremental Softimage costs as well as 
higher  compensation  related costs. The increase in general and  administrative 
expenses for 1997 compared to 1996 was  primarily  due to  provisions  resulting 
from the Company's  profit  sharing plan.  General and  administrative  expenses 
increased as a percentage of net revenues to 5.9% in 1998 from 5.5% in 1997, and 
from 5.6% in 1996.  The increase in 1998 was  primarily  due to the increases in 
general and administrative expenses noted above. 
 
Nonrecurring Costs and Amortization of Acquisition-related Intangible Assets 
 
In connection with the August 1998 acquisition of the business of Softimage, the 
Company  allocated $28.4 million to in-process  research and development;  $88.2 
million to intangible  assets consisting of completed  technologies,  work force 
and trade  name;  and  $127.8  million  to  goodwill.  In-process  research  and 



development  represented  development  projects  in areas  that had not  reached 
technological  feasibility and had no alternative future use.  Accordingly,  its 
value of $28.4 million was expensed as of the acquisition  date and is reflected 
as a  nonrecurring  charge to  operations  in 1998.  Results  for the year ended 
December 31, 1998 also reflect amortization of $34.2 million associated with the 
acquired intangible assets, including goodwill, as well as a tax benefit of $8.2 
million related to the charge for in-process  research and development (see Note 
O and Q to the Consolidated Financial Statements). 
 
The amounts allocated to identifiable tangible and intangible assets,  including 
acquired  in-process  research  and  development,  were  based on  results of an 
independent  appraisal.  The values of  completed  technologies  and  in-process 
research and development were determined using a risk-adjusted,  discounted cash 
flow approach. 
 
In-process research and development  projects identified at the acquisition date 
included  next-generation  three-dimensional  modeling,  animation and rendering 
software,   and  new  graphic,  film  and  media  management   capabilities  for 
effects-intensive,  on-line finishing applications for editing. A description of 
each project follows: 
 
   Next Generation Three-Dimensional Modeling, Animation and Rendering Software. 
   The efforts  required to develop  this  project  into a  commercially  viable 
   product  principally  relate to  completion  of the  animation  and real-time 
   playback  architecture,  completion and integration of architectural software 
   components, validation of the resulting architecture, and finalization of the 
   feature  set.  As of the  acquisition  date,  the Company  assessed  that the 
   overall  project was 81% complete and calculated a value of $25.7 million for 
   this  in-process  research and  development.  The estimated costs to complete 
   this  project as of the  acquisition  date were $5.1  million,  of which $3.2 
   million has been incurred  through  December 31, 1998. The Company  currently 
   expects to incur $4.4 million of  additional  costs during  fiscal year 1999. 
   Development costs through December 31, 1998 and as expected to be incurred in 
   the  future  are  higher  than  originally   anticipated  due  to  challenges 
   encountered  in the  development  process.  Anticipated  completion  of  this 
   project is expected during the second half of 1999, at which time the Company 
   expects to begin to benefit economically. 
 
   New Graphics,  Film and Media Management  Capabilities for Effects-Intensive, 
   On-line  Finishing.  The efforts  required  to develop  this  project  into a 
   commercially  viable  product  principally  relate to the  rebuilding  of the 
   framework  architecture,  the rewriting of software  code of the  compositing 
   engine to accommodate significant new features, and the rewriting of software 
   code of the  titling  component.  As of the  acquisition  date,  the  Company 
   assessed that the overall  project was 6% complete and  calculated a value of 
   $2.7 million for this  in-process  research and  development.  The  estimated 
   costs to complete this project as of the acquisition  date were $3.8 million, 
   of which $2.5  million has been  incurred  through  December  31,  1998.  The 
   Company  currently  expects to incur $3.2 million of additional  costs during 
   fiscal year 1999. Development costs through December 31, 1998 and as expected 
   to be incurred in the future are higher than  originally  anticipated  due to 
   the addition of features and  functionality,  which has expanded the scope of 
   the  original  project.  Anticipated  completion  of this project is expected 
   during the second half of 1999, at which time the Company expects to begin to 
   benefit economically. 
 
The value of in-process research and development,  specifically,  was determined 
by estimating  the costs to develop the  in-process  projects into  commercially 
viable  products,  estimating  the resulting net cash flows from such  projects, 
discounting the net cash flows back to their present values,  and adjusting that 
result to reflect each project's stage of completion. The expected cash flows of 
the in-process  projects were adjusted to reflect the  contribution of completed 
and core technologies. 
 
Total revenues from these in-process  projects were forecast to peak in 2002 and 
to decline from 2002 to 2004 as new products  are expected to be  introduced  by 
the Company.  These revenue  forecasts  were based on  management's  estimate of 
market size and growth,  expected trends in technology,  and the expected timing 
of new product  introductions.  A discount  rate of 21% was used for valuing the 
in-process  research  and  development.  The  discount  rate was higher than the 
Company's  implied  weighted  average  cost  of  capital  due  to  the  inherent 
uncertainties  surrounding the successful development of the in-process research 
and  development and the related risk of realizing cash flows from products that 
have not yet reached technological feasibility, among other factors. 
 
Total revenues from the completed  technologies  were forecasted to peak in 1999 
and to decline  through 2001.  The Company  discounted the net cash flows of the 
completed technology to their present value using a discount rate of 16%. 
 
The Company  believes that the assumptions used in the forecasts were reasonable 
at the date of  acquisition.  The Company cannot be assured,  however,  that the 
underlying  assumptions  used to estimate  expected  product sales,  development 
costs or  profitability,  or the  events  associated  with such  projects,  will 
transpire as estimated.  Accordingly, actual results may vary from the projected 
results. 
 
The Company currently expects to complete the in-process projects. However, risk 
is associated  with the  completion of the projects,  and the Company  cannot be 
assured  that the projects  will meet with either  technological  or  commercial 
success.  If these  projects  are not  successfully  developed  or  commercially 
viable,  the sales and profitability of the Company may be adversely affected in 
future periods. 
 
During the first quarter of 1996, the Company  recorded charges for nonrecurring 
costs consisting of $7.0 million for  restructuring  charges related to February 
1996 staffing  reductions of approximately  70 employees  primarily in the U.S., 
the  Company's   concurrent   decision  to  discontinue   certain  products  and 
development  projects,  and  $13.2  million  for  product  transition  costs  in 



connection  with the  transition  from NuBus to PCI bus technology in certain of 
its product lines.  Included in the $7.0 million for restructuring  charges were 
approximately  $5.0  million  of cash  payments  and $2.0  million  of  non-cash 
charges.  During the third  quarter of 1996,  the Company  recorded  charges for 
costs of $8.8 million,  associated  primarily with the Company's decision not to 
release the Avid Media Spectrum product line.  Approximately $7.2 million of the 
$8.8 million  nonrecurring  charge related to non-cash items associated with the 
write-off  of assets.  The  Company  has  completed  the  related  restructuring 
actions.  In the first quarter of 1995, the Company acquired  Digidesign,  Inc., 
Parallax Software Limited, 3 Space Software Limited and Elastic Reality, Inc. In 
connection  with  these  acquisitions,  the  Company  recorded  merger  costs of 
approximately $5.5 million, of which $3.9 million represented direct transaction 
expenses and $1.6 million consisted of various restructuring charges. 
 
Other Income and Expense, Net 
 
Interest and other income,  net,  consists of interest income,  other income and 
interest  expense.  Interest and other income,  net, for 1998,  which  consisted 
primarily of interest income,  increased approximately $511,000 from 1997 which, 
in turn, increased $4.7 million from 1996. For the years ended December 31, 1998 
and December 31, 1997,  interest and other income,  net, increased primarily due 
to higher cash and investment balances. 
 
Provision for (Benefit from) Income Taxes 
 
The Company's effective tax rate was 18%, 31%, and 32%, respectively,  for 1998, 
1997, and 1996. The tax rate for 1998 includes a benefit of $8.2 million related 
to the pre-tax charge of $28.4 for  in-process  technology  associated  with the 
Company's  acquisition  of  Softimage  Inc.  A  portion  of  the  charge  is not 
deductible for U.S.  Federal tax purposes.  Excluding the charge and related tax 
benefit,  the Company's effective tax rate would have been 31% for 1998. The pro 
forma 1998 and  actual  1997  effective  tax rate of 31% is  different  from the 
Federal   statutory  rate  of  35%  due  primarily  to  the  Company's   foreign 
subsidiaries,  which are taxed in the  aggregate  at a lower rate,  and the U.S. 
Federal  Research Tax Credit.  The 1996 effective tax rate is different from the 
Federal  statutory  rate of 35.0%  primarily  due to the impact of the Company's 
foreign subsidiaries, which are taxed in the aggregate at a lower rate. 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
The Company has funded its  operations  to date  through both private and public 
sales of equity securities as well as through cash flows from operations.  As of 
December 31, 1998, the Company's  principal sources of liquidity  included cash, 
cash  equivalents,  and  marketable  securities  totaling  approximately  $111.8 
million. 
 
With respect to cash flow,  net cash provided by operating  activities was $68.2 
million in 1998  compared to $111.2  million in 1997 and $40.9  million in 1996. 
During the twelve months ended  December 31, 1998 net cash provided by operating 
activities  primarily  reflects net income after  adjustment  for the charge for 
in-process  research and  development  in  connection  with the  acquisition  of 
Softimage  and  depreciation  and  amortization.  During the twelve months ended 
December 31, 1997 net cash provided by operating  activities  primarily reflects 
net income adjusted for  depreciation,  as well as increases in accounts payable 
and income taxes payable and  reductions in inventory.  In 1997, the increase in 
accrued  expenses was primarily due to provisions  for profit  sharing while the 
reduction in inventory resulted from improved inventory turns. (See Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flow) 
 
The Company  purchased  $15.9 million of property and equipment and other assets 
during  1998,  compared  to $15.7  million  and $28.2  million in 1997 and 1996, 
respectively.  These  purchases  were primarily of hardware and software for the 
Company's  information systems and equipment to support research and development 
activities.  The Company also utilized cash of $78.4 million in its  acquisition 
of Softimage in 1998. 
 
In 1995, the Company  entered into an unsecured line of credit  agreement with a 
group of banks which provides for up to $35.0 million in revolving  credit.  The 
line of credit  agreement  was  renewed  on June 30,  1998 to expire on June 29, 
1999, and certain  covenants were amended on September 30, 1998. Under the terms 
of the agreement,  the Company must pay an annual  commitment fee of 1/4% of the 
average daily unused portion of the facility,  payable quarterly in arrears. The 
Company has two loan options  available under the agreement:  the Base Rate Loan 
and the  LIBOR  Rate  Loan.  The  interest  rates to be paid on the  outstanding 
borrowings  for each loan  annually  are  equal to the Base  Rate or LIBOR  plus 
1.25%, respectively.  Additionally,  the Company is required to maintain certain 
financial  ratios  and is bound  by  covenants  over the life of the  agreement, 
including a restriction on the payment of dividends.  The Company has in certain 
periods prior to 1997 been in default of certain financial  covenants.  On these 
occasions the defaults have been waived by the banks.  There can be no assurance 
that the Company will not default in future  periods or that, if in default,  it 
will be able to obtain such waivers.  The Company had no borrowings  against the 
line and was not in default of any financial  covenants as of December 31, 1998. 
The  Company  believes  existing  cash  and  marketable  securities,  internally 
generated  funds and  available  borrowings  under its bank  credit line will be 
sufficient  to  meet  the  Company's  cash   requirements,   including   capital 
expenditures,  at  least  through  the end of 1999.  In the  event  the  Company 
requires  additional  financing,  the Company  believes that it would be able to 
obtain  such  financing;  however,  there can be no  assurance  that it would be 
successful  in  doing  so,  or that it could  do so on  terms  favorable  to the 
Company. 
 
On October  23,  1997,  February  5, 1998 and  October  21,  1998,  the  Company 
announced that the Board of Directors had authorized the repurchase of up to 1.0 
million,  1.5 million  and 2.0 million  shares  respectively,  of the  Company's 
common  stock.  Purchases  have  been and will be made in the open  market or in 
privately negotiated transactions. The Company has used and plans to continue to 
use any  repurchased  shares for its employee  stock  plans.  As of December 31, 



1997,  the Company had  repurchased  a total of 1.0 million  shares at a cost of 
$28.8  million,  which  completed  the program  announced in October 1997. As of 
December  31,  1998,  the  Company  had  repurchased  approximately  1.9 million 
additional  shares of common stock at a cost of $61.8 million,  which  completed 
the program  announced during February 1998 and initiated the program  announced 
in October 1998.  These purchases  include the repurchase of 500,000 shares from 
Intel  Corporation  ("Intel").  Intel  originally  purchased  approximately  1.6 
million shares of Avid common stock in March 1997. 
 
Other  planned  uses of cash  include  the  efforts  to  develop  the  purchased 
in-process  research and development  related to the Softimage  acquisition into 
commercially viable products. As of December 31, 1998, the estimated costs to be 
incurred to complete the  development  of  in-process  research and  development 
projects  total  approximately  $7.6  million  through  the second half of 1999. 
Additionally,  the note issued to Microsoft  Corporation in connection  with the 
acquisition  is due and  payable  in  June  2003  (See  Note O to the  Notes  to 
Consolidated Financial Statements). 
 
YEAR 2000 READINESS DISCLOSURE 
 
The Company has a worldwide program in place to address its exposure to the Year 
2000 issue.  This program is designed to minimize the possibility of significant 
Year 2000 interruptions.  Possible worst case scenarios include the interruption 
of significant parts of the Company's  business as a result of critical business 
systems failures or failures experienced by suppliers,  resellers, or customers. 
Any such  interruption  may have a material  adverse  impact on future  results. 
Since the possibility of such  interruptions  cannot be eliminated,  the Company 
has involved a significant number of cross-functional  resources with technical, 
business,  legal,  and  financial  expertise  in  order  to  achieve  Year  2000 
readiness. 
 
In 1998, the Company  established the worldwide  program to address its software 
and hardware  product and customer  concerns,  its  internal  business  systems, 
including  technology  infrastructure and embedded technology  systems,  and the 
compliance  of its  suppliers.  This  program  includes  the  following  phases: 
identification, assessment, testing, remediation, and contingency planning. 
 
With respect to its products, the Company has created categories to describe the 
status of its  products.  More than 70% of the  products  that the  Company  has 
considered for testing have been classified as "Year 2000 Ready." The "Year 2000 
Ready" category indicates that the Company has determined that the product, when 
used in its designated manner,  will not terminate  abnormally or give incorrect 
results  with respect to date data  before,  during or after  December 31, 1999, 
provided that all products used in conjunction with the Avid product  accurately 
exchange  formatted  information  with the Avid product.  The Company intends to 
continue  testing the majority of the remaining 30% of its  designated  products 
and to provide updates such as software patches, workarounds, or other solutions 
for such  designated  products where  necessary to make them Year 2000 ready. In 
certain cases, for older products,  the Company has or may deem it inappropriate 
to test or provide upgrade paths for Year 2000 readiness. 
 
The  readiness  status  of the  Company's  hardware  and  software  products  is 
available on the  Company's web site,  which is updated from time to time.  This 
web site has been and will  continue  to be the  Company's  primary  method  for 
communicating information about its products to the public. Because all customer 
situations  cannot be anticipated,  the Company may see a change in demand or an 
increase in warranty or service claims as a result of the Year 2000  transition. 
Such events,  should they occur,  could have a material adverse impact on future 
results. 
 
With respect to the Company's  efforts to address the Year 2000 readiness of its 
internal business systems the identification and assessment phases have, for the 
most part,  been  completed;  the  remainder of these  efforts will occur in the 
second quarter of 1999.  These  identification  and assessment  phases  involved 
evaluation of substantially all of the Company's  internal  information  systems 
and  other  infrastructure  areas  including  communication  systems,   building 
security systems and embedded  technologies in areas such as  manufacturing  and 
customer support  processes.  Testing of certain existing  internal  information 
systems is currently underway and is scheduled to be substantially  completed in 
the second  quarter of 1999.  Those systems which are already known or are shown 
not to be Year 2000 ready are  scheduled  for  remediation  during the second or 
third  quarter of 1999.  Remediation  may involve  upgrades or  replacements  of 
non-ready  systems.  Certain of the  Company's  business  systems  were  already 
scheduled to be replaced in the normal course of business for reasons  unrelated 
to potential Year 2000 issues. Those systems will be tested for Year 2000 issues 
as part of the normal installation and testing process. 
 
The Company has  initiated  communications  with  mission  critical  third party 
suppliers  and  service  providers,  such  as  inventory  suppliers,   equipment 
suppliers,  financial institutions,  landlords,  and resellers, to determine the 
extent to which the Company's  operations are vulnerable to those third parties' 
failure to remediate their own Year 2000 issues. Suppliers of software, hardware 
or other  products  that might contain  embedded  processors  were  requested to 
provide certification regarding the Year 2000 readiness status of their products 
and business  processes.  Suppliers of services  were also  requested to provide 
certification  or  other  appropriate  information  regarding  their  Year  2000 
readiness  status.  For service  suppliers  who  interface  with the Company via 
electronic means, the Company intends to test mission critical  interfaces where 
possible  or  appropriate.   In  addition,  in  order  to  protect  against  the 
acquisition of additional  products or services that may not be Year 2000 ready, 
the Company is  implementing a policy that requires  sufficient  assurances that 
such  products and services are Year 2000 ready.  With respect to the  Company's 
resellers,  the Company has  requested or is in the process of  requesting  from 
them  appropriate  assurances  regarding  Year  2000  readiness  status of their 
business processes. 
 
The  Company's  efforts  with  respect  to third  party  suppliers  and  service 
providers is scheduled for  completion  during the second  quarter of 1999.  The 



Company does not anticipate any related  delays that will  significantly  impact 
its Year 2000 readiness as a whole.  However,  the Company does face a risk with 
respect to third party  suppliers  who may prove unable to address and remediate 
their Year 2000 issues.  The Company is developing  contingency plans to address 
the products or services  obtained  from those third parties who fail to provide 
the requested information or whose responses are inadequate. 
 
The costs of the  readiness  program are  primarily  costs of existing  internal 
resources and expertise combined with small incremental  external spending.  The 
entire cost of the program is estimated at $3.2 million,  of which approximately 
50% has been  incurred  through  March  31,  1999.  Costs  for  business  system 
replacements or upgrades  unrelated to Year 2000 issues are not included in this 
estimate.  No future material product readiness costs are anticipated.  However, 
milestones  and  implementation  dates and the costs of the Company's  Year 2000 
readiness  program are  subject to change  based on new  circumstances  that may 
arise or new information becoming available. 
 
Based on the  Company's  ongoing  evaluation of internal  information  and other 
systems,  the Company does not anticipate  significant  business  interruptions. 
However,  satisfactorily  addressing  a  particular  Year 2000 issue on a timely 
basis is dependent on many factors,  some of which are not completely within the 
Company's control,  such as those involving third parties.  Additionally,  there 
remains  the risk that  errors or  defects  related  to the Year 2000  issue may 
remain undetected.  Should business interruptions occur, or should a significant 
Year 2000  issue go  undetected,  there  could be a material  adverse  impact on 
future results. 
 
EUROPEAN MONETARY UNION 
 
On January 1, 1999, eleven of the fifteen member countries of the European Union 
established  fixed conversion  rates between their sovereign  currencies and the 
euro. As of that date, the  participating  countries agreed to adopt the euro as 
their  common legal  currency.  However the legacy  currencies  will also remain 
legal tender in the  participating  countries  for a transition  period  between 
January 1, 1999 and January 1, 2002. During this transition  period,  public and 
private  parties may elect to pay or charge for goods and services  using either 
the euro or the participating country's legacy currency. 
 
During 1998, the Company  developed a plan which includes testing and evaluating 
system capabilities, determining euro and legacy currency pricing strategies and 
analyzing the effects on the Company's  currency exposure and hedging practices. 
The Company's  plan will  determine  whether the Company will be able to process 
euro-denominated  transactions  such as invoices,  purchases,  payments and cash 
receipts,  and whether such  transactions  will be properly  translated into the 
legacy and  reporting  currencies.  The  Company  does not expect the system and 
equipment conversion costs to be material.  Due to numerous  uncertainties,  the 
Company cannot reasonably estimate the effects one common currency will have, if 
any, on the Company's financial condition or results of operations. 
 
NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 
 
On June 15, 1998, the Financial  Accounting  Standards Board issued Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 133 ("SFAS 133"),  "Accounting for Derivative 
Instruments  and Hedging  Activities."  SFAS 133  requires  that all  derivative 
instruments  be recorded on the balance  sheet at their fair values.  Changes in 
the fair values of derivatives  are recorded each period in current  earnings or 
other  comprehensive  income,  depending  on  whether  or  not a  derivative  is 
designated as part of a hedge  transaction  and, if it is, depending on the type 
of hedge transaction.  SFAS 133 is effective for fiscal quarters beginning after 
January 1, 2000 for the  Company,  and its  adoption  is not  expected to have a 
material impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations. 



 
 
 
CERTAIN FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS 
 
A number of uncertainties exist that could affect the Company's future operating 
results, including, without limitation, the following: 
 
The Company recently began shipping its Avid Symphony product, which is based on 
Intel  Architecture  ("IA")  computers  and the  Microsoft  Windows NT operating 
system, and its SOFTIMAGE|DS and Pro Tools|24 Mix products.  The Company expects 
that a significant  portion of its future revenues will be attributable to sales 
of these newly introduced  products.  However, if these products fail to achieve 
anticipated levels of market  acceptance,  the Company's revenues and results of 
operations could be adversely  affected.  In addition,  the Company from time to 
time develops new products or upgraded existing products to incorporate advances 
in enabling  technologies.  For example,  the Company is  continuing  to develop 
additional  products that operate using IA - based  computers and the Windows NT 
operating  system.  There  can be no  assurance  that  customers  will not defer 
purchases of existing  Apple-based  and other  products in  anticipation  of the 
release of such new products,  that the Company will be successful in developing 
additional new products or that they will gain market acceptance,  if developed. 
Any deferral by customers of purchases of existing Apple-based or other products 
or any failure by the Company to develop such new products in a timely way or to 
gain  market  acceptance  for them could have a material  adverse  effect on the 
Company's business and results of operations. 
 
Certain of the Company's  products operate only on specific computer  platforms. 
The Company currently relies on Apple Computer,  Inc., IBM and Intergraph as the 
sole  manufacturers of such computer  platforms.  There can be no assurance that 
customers  will not  purchase  competitors'  products  based  on other  computer 
platforms,   that  the  respective   manufacturers  will  continue  to  develop, 
manufacture,  and support such  computer  platforms  suitable for the  Company's 
existing  and  future  markets  or that the  Company  will be able to  secure an 
adequate  supply of  computers,  the  occurrence  of any of which  could  have a 
material adverse effect on the Company's business and results of operations. 
 
The  Company  has  expanded  its  product  line to  address  the  digital  media 
production needs of the television broadcast news market,  online film and video 
finishing  market and the  emerging  market  for  multimedia  production  tools, 
including the corporate and home user market. The Company has limited experience 
in serving these markets, and there can be no assurance that the Company will be 
able to develop such  products  successfully,  that such  products  will achieve 
widespread  customer  acceptance,  or that the  Company  will be able to develop 
distribution and support channels to serve these markets. A significant  portion 
of the Company's  future growth will depend on customer  acceptance in these and 
other new markets.  Any failure of such products to achieve  market  acceptance, 
additional  costs  and  expenses  incurred  by the  Company  to  improve  market 
acceptance  of  such  products  and to  develop  new  distribution  and  support 
channels,  or the withdrawal  from the market of such products or of the Company 
from such new  markets  could have a material  adverse  effect on the  Company's 
business and results of operations. 
 
The  Company's  gross margin may  fluctuate  based on factors such as the mix of 
products sold, cost and the proportion of third-party  hardware  included in the 
systems sold by the Company,  the  distribution  channels through which products 
are sold, the timing of new product  introductions,  the offering of product and 
platform  upgrades,  price  discounts and other sales  promotion  programs,  the 
volume of sales of  aftermarket  hardware  products,  the costs of  swapping  or 
fixing  products  released to the market with  errors or flaws,  provisions  for 
inventory  obsolescence,  allocations  of overhead  costs to  manufacturing  and 
customer support costs to cost of goods, sales of third-party  computer hardware 
to its distributors, and competitive pressure on selling prices of products. The 
Company's systems and software products typically have higher gross margins than 
storage  devices and  product  upgrades.  Gross  profit  varies from  product to 
product depending  primarily on the proportion and cost of third-party  hardware 
included in each product. The Company, from time to time, adds functionality and 
features to its systems.  If such additions are accomplished  through the use of 
more, or more costly, third-party hardware, and if the Company does not increase 
the price of such systems to offset these increased  costs,  the Company's gross 
margins on such systems would be adversely affected.  In addition,  during 1998, 
the Company installed  server-based,  all-digital  broadcast newsroom systems at 
certain  customer sites.  Some of these systems have been accepted by customers, 
and the resulting  revenues and associated costs were recognized by the Company. 
Others of these  systems have not yet been  accepted by  customers.  The Company 
believes  that such  installations,  when and if fully  recognized as revenue on 
customer  acceptance,  will be  profitable.  However,  the  Company is unable to 
determine  whether  and when the systems  will be  accepted.  In any event,  the 
Company believes that,  because of the high proportion of third-party  hardware, 
including  computers and storage  devices,  included in such systems,  the gross 
margins  on such sales will be lower  than the gross  margins  generally  on the 
Company's other systems. 
 
The Company has shifted an increasing  proportion of its sales through  indirect 
channels such as distributors  and resellers.  The Company  believes the overall 
shift to indirect channels has resulted in an increase in the number of software 
and circuit  board  "kits" sold through  indirect  channels in  comparison  with 
turnkey systems consisting of CPUs, monitors, and peripheral devices,  including 
accompanying software and circuit boards, sold by the Company through its direct 
sales force to customers. Resellers and distributors typically purchase software 
and "kits" from the  Company  and other  turnkey  components  from other  vendor 
sources in order to produce  complete  systems  for  resale.  Therefore,  to the 
extent the Company  increases its sales through indirect  channels,  its revenue 
per unit sale  will be less than it would  have been had the same sale been made 
directly by the  Company.  In the event the  Company is unable to  increase  the 
volume of sales in order to offset this  decrease in revenue per unit sale or is 
unable to continue to reduce its costs associated with such sales, profits could 



be adversely affected. 
 
The Company's  operating  expense levels are based, in part, on its expectations 
of future  revenues.  In recent  quarters  approximately  half of the  Company's 
revenues for the quarter  have been  recorded in the third month of the quarter. 
Further,  in many cases,  quarterly  operating  expense levels cannot be reduced 
rapidly  in the  event  that  quarterly  revenue  levels  fail to meet  internal 
expectations.  Therefore,  if  quarterly  revenue  levels fail to meet  internal 
expectations  upon  which  expense  levels are based,  the  Company's  operating 
results may be adversely affected and there can be no assurance that the Company 
would be able to operate  profitably.  Reductions of certain operating expenses, 
if incurred,  in the face of lower than expected revenues could involve material 
one-time  charges  associated  with  reductions in headcount,  trimming  product 
lines, eliminating facilities and offices, and writing off certain assets. 
 
The Company has significant deferred tax assets. The deferred tax assets reflect 
the net tax effects of tax credit and operating loss carryforwards and temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting  purposes  and the  amounts  used for  income tax  purposes.  Although 
realization is not assured,  management believes it is more likely than not that 
all of the deferred  tax asset will be realized.  The amount of the deferred tax 
asset  considered  realizable,  however,  could be  reduced  in the near term if 
estimates of future taxable income are reduced. 
 
The Company is  dependent  on a number of  suppliers  as sole source  vendors of 
certain key components of its products and systems.  Components purchased by the 
Company from sole source vendors include;  video compression chips  manufactured 
by C-Cube Microsystems;  a small computer systems interface ("SCSI") accelerator 
board from ATTO  Technology;  a 3D digital  video  effects  board from  Pinnacle 
Systems;  application  specific  integrated circuits ("ASICS") from Chip Express 
and LSI Logic;  digital signal processing  integrated circuits from Motorola;  a 
fibre  channel  adapter card from JNI; a fibre  channel  storage array from Data 
General's  Clariion  division;  and a PCI expansion  chassis from Magma Inc. The 
Company  purchases  these sole source  components  pursuant  to purchase  orders 
placed from time to time. The Company also  manufactures  certain circuit boards 
under license from  Truevision (a subsidiary of Pinnacle  Systems).  The Company 
generally does not carry significant inventories of these sole source components 
and has no guaranteed supply  arrangements.  No assurance can be given that sole 
source suppliers will devote the resources  necessary to support the enhancement 
or continued  availability of such components or that any such supplier will not 
encounter technical,  operating or financial difficulties that might imperil the 
Company's supply of such sole source components. While the Company believes that 
alternative sources of supply for sole source components could be developed,  or 
systems redesigned to permit the use of alternative components, its business and 
results of operations  could be  materially  affected if it were to encounter an 
untimely or extended interruption in its sources of supply. 
 
The markets for digital  media  editing  and  production  systems are  intensely 
competitive and subject to rapid change. The Company  encounters  competition in 
the video and film  editing and effects and  professional  audio  markets.  Many 
current and  potential  competitors  of the Company have  substantially  greater 
financial,  technical,  distribution,  support, and marketing resources than the 
Company.  Such  competitors may use these resources to lower their product costs 
and thus be able to lower  prices  to  levels  at which  the  Company  could not 
operate  profitably.  Further,  such competitors may be able to develop products 
comparable  or superior to those of the Company or adapt more  quickly  than the 
Company to new  technologies  or evolving  customer  requirements.  Accordingly, 
there can be no assurance  that the Company will be able to compete  effectively 
in its target markets or that future  competition  will not adversely affect its 
business and results of operations. 
 
A significant portion of the Company's business is conducted in currencies other 
than the U.S. dollar.  Changes in the value of major foreign currencies relative 
to the  value of the U.S.  dollar,  therefore,  could  adversely  affect  future 
revenues and  operating  results.  The Company  attempts to reduce the impact of 
currency  fluctuations on results through the use of forward exchange  contracts 
that hedge foreign currency-denominated  intercompany net receivables or payable 
balances.  The Company  has  generally  not hedged  transactions  with  external 
parties, although it periodically reevaluates its hedging practices. 
 
The  Company  is  involved  in  various  legal  proceedings,   including  patent 
litigation;  an adverse resolution of any such proceedings could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company's business and results of operations.  See Item 3. 
Legal Proceedings and Note K to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 
ITEM 7A.   QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK 
 
Not applicable. 
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                       REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 
 
 
 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders 
of Avid Technology, Inc.: 
 
In our opinion,  the  accompanying  consolidated  balance sheets and the related 
consolidated  statements  of  operations,  stockholders'  equity  and cash flows 
present  fairly,  in all  material  respects,  the  financial  position  of Avid 
Technology,  Inc. (the "Company") at December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the results 
of its  operations  and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended  December 31, 1998,  in  conformity  with  generally  accepted  accounting 
principles. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed 
in Item 14(d) of this Form 10-K presents fairly, in all material  respects,  the 
information  set  forth  therein  when  read in  conjunction  with  the  related 
consolidated  financial  statements.  These  financial  statements and financial 
statement  schedule are the  responsibility  of the  Company's  management;  our 
responsibility  is to  express  an opinion  on these  financial  statements  and 
financial  statement  schedule  based on our audits.  We conducted our audits of 
these statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, which 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable  assurance about 
whether the financial  statements  are free of material  misstatement.  An audit 
includes  examining,  on a test  basis,  evidence  supporting  the  amounts  and 
disclosures in the financial  statements,  assessing the  accounting  principles 
used and  significant  estimates made by management,  and evaluating the overall 
financial  statement  presentation.   We  believe  that  our  audits  provide  a 
reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above. 
 
 
 
                                        /s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
 
 
Boston, Massachusetts 
February 3, 1999 
 



 
 
 
AVID TECHNOLOGY, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
(in thousands, except per share data) 
 
 
                                                      For the Year 
                                                   Ended December 31, 
                                            ------------------------------- 
                                              1998        1997        1996 
                                            --------    --------    -------- 
                                                                
Net revenues                                $482,377    $471,338    $429,009 
Cost of revenues                             190,249     221,553     238,808 
                                            --------    --------    -------- 
  Gross profit                               292,128     249,785     190,201 
                                            --------    --------    -------- 
Operating expenses: 
  Research and development                    88,787      73,470      69,405 
  Marketing and selling                      125,280     120,394     127,006 
  General and administrative                  28,549      25,808      24,203 
  Nonrecurring costs                          28,373                  28,950 
  Amortization of acquisition-related 
    intangible assets                         34,204 
                                            --------    --------    -------- 
    Total operating expenses                 305,193     219,672     249,564 
                                            --------    --------    -------- 
 
Operating income (loss)                      (13,065)     30,113     (59,363) 
 
Interest and other income                      8,986       8,291       3,786 
Interest expense                                (350)       (166)       (370) 
                                            --------    --------    -------- 
Income (loss) before income taxes             (4,429)     38,238     (55,947) 
 
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes       (796)     11,854     (17,903) 
                                            --------    --------    -------- 
Net income (loss)                            ($3,633)    $26,384    ($38,044) 
                                            ========    ========    ======== 
Net income (loss) per common share - 
  basic                                       ($0.15)      $1.14      ($1.80) 
                                            ========    ========    ======== 
Net income (loss) per common share - 
  diluted                                     ($0.15)      $1.08      ($1.80) 
                                            ========    ========    ======== 
 
Weighted average common shares 
   outstanding - basic                        23,644      23,065      21,163 
                                            ========    ========    ======== 
 
Weighted average common shares 
  outstanding - diluted                       23,644      24,325      21,163 
                                            ========    ========    ======== 
 
 
The  accompanying  notes  are an  integral  part of the  consolidated  financial 
statements. 
 



 
 
 
AVID TECHNOLOGY, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
(in thousands, except per share data)                 
 
 
                                                            December 31, 
                                                      ------------------------- 
                                                         1998           1997 
                                                      ---------       --------- 
                                                                 
ASSETS 
Current assets: 
  Cash and cash equivalents                            $62,904        $108,308 
  Marketable securities                                 48,922          78,654 
  Accounts receivable, net of allowances of 
    $7,171 and $7,529 in 1998 and 1997, 
    respectively                                        89,754          79,773 
  Inventories                                           11,093           9,842 
  Deferred tax assets                                   17,771          17,160 
  Prepaid expenses                                       6,095           4,645 
  Other current assets                                   5,108           2,700 
                                                     ---------       --------- 
      Total current assets                             241,647         301,082 
 
  Property and equipment, net                           35,398          38,917 
  Long-term deferred tax assets                         23,891          14,820 
  Acquisition-related intangible assets                181,631 
  Other assets                                           4,148           1,986 
                                                     ---------       --------- 
      Total assets                                    $486,715        $356,805 
                                                     =========       ========= 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Current liabilities: 
  Accounts payable                                     $24,311         $22,166 
  Current portion of long-term debt                        398             783 
  Accrued compensation and benefits                     29,031          23,837 
  Accrued expenses                                      32,708          30,149 
  Income taxes payable                                  13,715          11,210 
  Deferred revenues                                     22,519          26,463 
                                                     ---------       --------- 
      Total current liabilities                        122,682         114,608 
                                                     ---------       --------- 
Long-term debt and other liabilities, 
  less current portion                                  13,261             403 
 
Purchase consideration                                  60,461 
 
Commitments and contingencies (Note K) 
 
Stockholders' equity: 
  Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 1,000,000 
    shares authorized; no shares issued 
  Common stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 
    shares authorized; 26,591,457 and 
    24,156,938 shares issued and 24,393,795 
    and 23,199,636 shares outstanding at 
    December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively               265             242 
  Additional paid-in capital                           349,289         252,307 
  Retained earnings                                     14,338          27,286 
  Treasury stock, at cost, 2,197,662 and 957,302 
    shares at December 31, 1998 and 1997, 
    respectively                                       (68,024)        (27,548) 
  Deferred compensation                                 (3,773)         (8,034) 
  Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)         (1,784)         (2,459) 
                                                     ---------       --------- 
      Total stockholders' equity                       290,311         241,794 
                                                     ---------       --------- 
      Total liabilities and stockholders' equity      $486,715        $356,805 
                                                     =========       ========= 
 
 
The  accompanying  notes  are an  integral  part of the  consolidated  financial 
statements. 
 



 
 
 
AVID TECHNOLOGY, INC. 
Consolidated Statements of 
Stockholders' Equity 
(in thousands, except share data) 
 
 
                                                                                                                  Accumulated 
                                                                                                                     Other 
                                                                                                                    Compre-  Total 
                                            Shares of          Common  Additional                                  hensive   Stock- 
                                          Common Stock          Stock   Paid-in   Retained  Treasury   Deferred     Income  holders'
                                      Issued      In Treasury  Issued   Capital   Earnings    Stock   Compensation  (Loss)   Equity 
                                     ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                                                 
Balances at December 
  31, 1995                            20,935,145                 $209   $208,918   $39,495                         ($656)  $247,966 
Exercise of stock options                260,055                    3      1,185                                              1,188 
Sale of common stock under 
  Employee Stock Purchase Plan           143,169                    1      2,371                                              2,372 
Comprehensive income (loss): 
  Net income                                                                       (38,044)                                 (38,044)
  Other comprehensive income (loss): 
    Net unrealized losses on   
      marketable securities                                                                                          (24)       (24)
    Translation adjustment                                                                                           (43)       (43)
                                                                                                                           -------- 
  Other comprehensive 
    income (loss)                                                                                                               (67)
                                                                                                                           -------- 
Comprehensive income (loss)                                                                                                 (38,111)
                                     ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Balances at December 
  31, 1996                            21,338,369                  213    212,474     1,451                          (723)   213,415 
Sale of common stock                   1,552,632                   16     14,712                                             14,728 
Acquisition of shares of common 
  stock for treasury                               (1,000,000)                              ($28,776)                       (28,776)
Exercise of stock options and 
  related tax benefits                   715,600       42,698       8     14,006      (549)    1,228                         14,693 
Sale of common stock under 
  Employee Stock Purchase Plan           204,137                    2      1,989                                              1,991 
Issuance of restricted stock             347,200                    3      9,152                       ($9,152)                   3 
Restricted stock grants canceled 
  and compensation expense                (1,000)                            (26)                        1,118                1,092 
Comprehensive income (loss): 
  Net income                                                                        26,384                                   26,384 
  Other comprehensive income (loss): 
    Net unrealized gains on 
      marketable securities                                                                                           12         12 
    Translation adjustment                                                                                        (1,748)    (1,748)
                                                                                                                           -------- 
  Other comprehensive income (loss)                                                                                          (1,736)
                                                                                                                           -------- 
Comprehensive income                                                                                                         24,648 
                                     ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Balances at December 
   31, 1997                           24,156,938     (957,302)    242    252,307    27,286   (27,548)   (8,034)   (2,459)   241,794 
Acquisition of shares of common 
  stock for treasury                               (1,953,487)                               (61,822)                       (61,822)
Exercise of stock options and 
  related tax benefits                                650,420              3,094    (9,059)   18,717                         12,752 
Sale of common stock under 
  Employee Stock Purchase Plan                         91,507                         (256)    2,629                          2,373 
Issuance of common stock in 
  connection with acquisition          2,435,519                   24     65,463                                             65,487 
Issuance of warrants to purchase 
  common stock in connection 
  with acquisition                                                        26,196                                             26,196 
Issuance of stock options in 
  connection with acquisition                                              2,544                                              2,544 
Restricted stock grants canceled 
  and compensation expense                (1,000)     (28,800)     (1)      (315)                        4,261                3,945 
Comprehensive income (loss): 
  Net loss                                                                          (3,633)                                  (3,633)
  Other comprehensive income (loss): 
    Net unrealized gains on 
      marketable securities                                                                                            5          5 
    Translation adjustment                                                                                           670        670 
                                                                                                                           -------- 
  Other comprehensive income                                                                                                    675 
                                                                                                                           -------- 
Comprehensive income (loss)                                                                                                  (2,958)
                                     ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Balances at December      
  31, 1998                            26,591,457   (2,197,662)   $265   $349,289   $14,338  ($68,024)  ($3,773)  ($1,784)  $290,311 
                                     ============================================================================================== 
 
The  accompanying  notes  are an  integral  part of the  consolidated  financial 
statements. 



 
 
 
AVID TECHNOLOGY, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(in thousands) 
 
 
                                                        For the Year Ended 
                                                          December 31, 
                                                    ------------------------ 
                                                     1998      1997        1996 
                                                 ---------  ---------  --------- 
                                                                   
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
  Net income (loss)                                ($3,633)   $26,384  ($38,044) 
  Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to 
  net cash provided by operating activities: 
    Charge for acquired in-process research and 
      development, net of tax benefit               20,155 
    Depreciation and amortization                   55,928     25,380    29,641 
    Compensation from stock grants and options       3,945      2,119 
    Provision for doubtful accounts                  2,018      3,304     6,627 
    Changes in deferred tax assets                  (4,412)      (617)  (18,384) 
    Tax benefit of stock option exercises            3,829      3,658 
    Provision for product transition costs and 
      nonrecurring inventory write-offs, 
      non-cash portion                                                   18,750 
    Provision for other nonrecurring costs, 
      non-cash portion                                                    7,048 
    (Gain) loss on disposal of equipment              (133)       222     1,410 
    Changes in operating assets and liabilities, 
    net of effects of acquisition: 
      Accounts receivable                           (2,801)    (2,215)   13,836 
      Inventories                                   (2,769)    22,514    14,479 
      Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (2,126)       663       147 
      Accounts payable                                 814     (2,940)   (3,819) 
      Income taxes payable                           2,404      7,556    (3,206) 
      Accrued expenses, compensation and benefits      716     23,047     9,107 
      Deferred revenues                             (5,700)     2,119     3,356 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
  NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES         68,235    111,194    40,948 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
  Purchases of property and equipment and           
    other assets                                   (15,913)   (15,685)  (28,219) 
  Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired    (78,416) 
  Capitalized software development costs               (20)      (107)   (2,295) 
  Proceeds from disposal of equipment                1,309      2,227     1,550      
  Purchases of marketable securities              (166,580)  (147,960)  (29,430) 
  Proceeds from sales of marketable securities     196,317     87,564    58,786 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
  NET CASH  PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING 
    ACTIVITIES                                     (63,303)   (73,961)      392 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
  Payments of long-term debt                          (610)    (1,726)   (2,000) 
  Purchase of common stock for treasury            (61,822)   (28,776) 
  Proceeds from issuance of common stock            10,901     26,729     3,560 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
  NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING 
    ACTIVITIES                                     (51,531)    (3,773)    1,560 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and 
  cash equivalents                                   1,195       (947)       48 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 
  equivalents                                      (45,404)    32,513    42,948 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year     108,308     75,795    32,847 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year           $62,904   $108,308   $75,795 
================================================================================ 
 
Non-cash Financing and Investing Activities: 
- ------------------------------------------- 
See supplemental cash flow information in Note S 
 
 
The  accompanying  notes  are an  integral  part of the  consolidated  financial 
statements. 
 



 
 
 
                             AVID TECHNOLOGY, INC. 
                        NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
                                   STATEMENTS 
 
A.   ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONS 
 
Avid Technology,  Inc. ("Avid" or "the Company")  develops,  markets,  sells and 
supports a wide range of  software  and systems for  creating  and  manipulating 
digital media content. Digital media are media elements,  whether video or audio 
or  graphics,  in which the image,  sound or picture is  recorded  and stored as 
digital values,  as opposed to analog signals.  Avid's digital,  nonlinear video 
and film editing  systems are designed to improve the  productivity of video and 
film  editors by enabling  them to edit moving  pictures  and sound in a faster, 
easier, more creative,  and more  cost-effective  manner than traditional analog 
tape-based systems. To complement these systems, Avid develops and sells a range 
of  image  manipulation  products  that  allow  users  in  the  video  and  film 
post-production and broadcast markets to create graphics and special effects for 
use in feature films,  television  programs and advertising,  and news programs. 
Additionally, Avid develops and sells digital audio systems for the professional 
audio  market.   Avid's   products  are  used   worldwide  in   production   and 
post-production facilities; film studios; network, affiliate,  independent,  and 
cable television stations; recording studios;  advertising agencies;  government 
and  educational  institutions;  corporate  communication  departments;  and  by 
individual home users. 
 
As described in Note O, in August 1998, the Company acquired the common stock of 
Softimage  Inc.  ("Softimage")  and certain  assets  related to the  business of 
Softimage  for total  consideration  of $247.9  million.  Softimage is a leading 
developer   of   three-dimensional    ("3D")   animation,    video   production, 
two-dimensional  ("2D") cel animation  and  compositing  software  solutions and 
technologies.  The acquisition was recorded as a purchase and, accordingly,  the 
results of operations of Softimage have been included in the Company's financial 
statements as of the acquisition date. 
 
B.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
A summary of the Company's significant accounting policies follows: 
 
Basis of Presentation 
 
The consolidated  financial  statements  include the accounts of the Company and 
its wholly owned subsidiaries.  Intercompany balances and transactions have been 
eliminated.  Certain amounts in the prior years' financial  statements have been 
reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. 
 
The Company's  preparation of financial  statements in conformity with generally 
accepted  accounting  principles  requires  management  to  make  estimates  and 
assumptions  that  affect  the  reported  amount of assets and  liabilities  and 
disclosure of contingent  assets and  liabilities  at the dates of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported 
periods.  The most significant  estimates included in these financial statements 
include  accounts  receivable and sales  allowances,  inventory  valuation,  the 
recoverability of intangible assets including  goodwill and income tax valuation 
allowances. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Translation of Foreign Currencies 
 
The  functional  currency of the  Company's  foreign  subsidiaries  is the local 
currency,  except for the Irish  manufacturing  branch and Avid Technology Sales 
Ltd. in Ireland, whose functional currencies are the U.S. dollar. The assets and 
liabilities of the subsidiaries  whose functional  currencies are other than the 
U.S.  dollar are translated  into U.S.  dollars at the current  exchange rate in 
effect at the balance sheet date.  Income and expense items are translated using 
the average exchange rate during the period.  Cumulative translation adjustments 
are included in accumulated other comprehensive  income, which is reflected as a 
separate component of stockholders'  equity.  Foreign currency transaction gains 
and losses are included in results of operations. 
 
The Company enters into foreign exchange  forward  contracts to hedge the effect 
of certain intercompany receivables and payables (asset and liability positions) 
of its foreign  subsidiaries.  Gains and losses  associated  with  currency rate 
changes on the  contracts  are  currently  recorded  in  results of  operations, 
offsetting  losses and gains on the  related  assets and  liabilities.  The cash 
flows related to the gains and losses of foreign currency forward  contracts are 
classified  in the  statements  of  cash  flows  as  part  of  cash  flows  from 
operations. 
 
The market risk  exposure  from  forward  contracts  is assessed in light of the 
underlying  currency  exposures  and is  limited  by the  term of the  Company's 
contracts,  generally one month. Credit risk from forward contracts is minimized 
through the placement of contracts with multiple financial institutions. Forward 
contracts are revalued monthly by comparing contract rates to month-end exchange 
rates. (See also Note L). 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
The Company  considers  all highly  liquid debt  instruments  purchased  with an 
original  maturity  of  three  months  or  less  to be  cash  equivalents.  Cash 
equivalents  consist  primarily of taxable and  tax-exempt  money market  funds, 
bankers'   acceptances,   short-term   time  deposits,   short-term   government 
obligations, and commercial paper. 
 
Marketable Securities 
 



Marketable  securities  consist  primarily  of state  and  municipal  bonds  and 
commercial  paper.  The Company has classified its debt securities as "available 
for sale" and  reports  them at fair  value,  with  unrealized  gains and losses 
excluded  from  earnings and reported as an  adjustment  to other  comprehensive 
income, which is reflected as a separate component of stockholders' equity. 
 
Inventories 
 
Inventories,  principally purchased components,  are stated at the lower of cost 
(determined on a first-in,  first-out  basis) or market value.  Inventory in the 
digital media market,  including  the Company's  inventory,  is subject to rapid 
technological  change  or  obsolescence;   therefore,  utilization  of  existing 
inventory may differ from the Company's estimates. 
 
Property and Equipment 
 
Property  and  equipment  is  recorded  at  cost  and   depreciated   using  the 
straight-line  method over the  estimated  useful  life of the asset.  Leasehold 
improvements  are  amortized  over  the  shorter  of  the  useful  life  of  the 
improvement or the remaining term of the lease. Expenditures for maintenance and 
repairs are  expensed as  incurred.  Upon  retirement  or other  disposition  of 
assets,  the cost and related  accumulated  depreciation are eliminated from the 
accounts and the  resulting  gain or loss is reflected in income.  A significant 
portion  of the  property  and  equipment  is  subject  to  rapid  technological 
obsolescence;  as a result,  the  depreciation  and  amortization  periods could 
ultimately shorten to reflect the change in future technology. 
 
Acquisition-related Intangible Assets 
 
Acquisition-related  intangible assets result from the Company's acquisitions of 
businesses  accounted for under the purchase method and consist of the values of 
identifiable  intangible assets including completed  technology,  work force and 
trade  name as well as  goodwill.  Goodwill  is the  amount by which the cost of 
acquired net assets  exceeded the fair values of those net assets on the date of 
purchase.  Acquisition-related  intangible  assets are reported at cost,  net of 
accumulated  amortization.  Identifiable  intangible  assets are  amortized on a 
straight-line  basis over their  estimated  useful lives of two and three years. 
Goodwill is amortized  on a  straight-line  basis over three years.  The Company 
periodically   evaluates  the  existence  of   intangible   asset   impairments. 
Recoverability  of these assets is assessed based on undiscounted  expected cash 
flows, considering a number of factors including past operating results, budgets 
and economic projections, market trends and product development cycles. 
 
Purchase Consideration 
 
In  conjunction  with the  acquisition  of  Softimage  (see Note O), the Company 
issued stock options to retained employees. As agreed with the seller, the value 
of the note  payable to the seller  will be  increased  by $39.71 for each share 
underlying  options  that  become  forfeited  by  employees.   At  the  date  of 
acquisition, the Company recorded these options as purchase consideration on the 
balance  sheet at a value of $68.2  million.  As these  options  become  vested, 
additional  paid-in capital is increased or,  alternatively,  as the options are 
forfeited,  the  note  payable  to  the  seller  is  increased,   with  purchase 
consideration being reduced by a corresponding amount in either case. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
Effective  January 1, 1998,  the Company  adopted the guidelines of Statement of 
Position (SOP) 97-2, "Software Revenue Recognition" ("SOP 97-2"), which provides 
guidance on applying  generally  accepted  accounting  principles in recognizing 
revenue on software transactions. SOP 97-2 requires that revenue recognized from 
software  transactions be allocated to each element of the transaction  based on 
the relative fair values of the elements,  such as software products,  specified 
upgrades,   enhancements,   post  contract  customer  support,  installation  or 
training.  The  determination  of fair  value  is  based  upon  vendor  specific 
objective  evidence.  If  evidence  of  fair  value  for  each  element  of  the 
transaction  does not exist,  all  revenue  from the  transaction  is  generally 
deferred  until  evidence of each  element's  fair value does exist or until all 
elements of the transaction are delivered.  According to the guidelines, revenue 
allocated to software products, specified upgrades and enhancements is generally 
recognized  upon  delivery  of  each  of  the  related  products,   upgrades  or 
enhancements.  Revenue  allocated to post contract customer support is generally 
recognized  ratably  over the term of the  support,  and  revenue  allocated  to 
service elements is generally recognized as the services are performed. 
 
The Company  recognizes  revenue  from sales of  software or products  including 
proprietary  software upon product  shipment to  distributors  and end users and 
upon receipt of a signed purchase order or contract, provided that collection is 
probable  and all other  revenue  recognition  criteria of SOP 97-2 are met. The 
Company's  products  do not  require  significant  production,  modification  or 
customization  of software.  Installation of the products is generally  routine, 
requires  insignificant  effort and is not essential to the functionality of the 
product.  The  Company  recognizes  revenue  from  maintenance  ratably and from 
training or other related  services as the services are performed.  Revenue from 
services has been  insignificant  in relation to product revenue for all periods 
presented. 
 
Included in accounts  receivable  allowances are sales  allowances  provided for 
expected returns and credits and an allowance for bad debts. Actual returns have 
not  differed   materially  from  management's   estimates  and  have  not  been 
significant.  In  addition,  the  Company  offers  from time to time  rebates on 
purchases of certain products or rebates based on purchasing  volume,  which are 
accounted  for as offsets to  revenue  upon  shipment  of  related  products  or 
expected  achievement of purchasing volumes.  When telephone support is provided 
at no  additional  charge during the product's  initial  warranty  period and no 
other product  enhancements or upgrades are provided,  the revenue  allocated to 
the telephone support is recognized at time of product shipment,  with the costs 
of providing the support being accrued. 



 
Warranty Expense 
 
The Company  provides a warranty  reserve at the time of sale for the  estimated 
cost to repair or replace defective hardware products. 
 
Research and Development Costs 
 
Research  and  development  costs are  expensed as incurred  except for costs of 
internally   developed  or  externally   purchased  software  that  qualify  for 
capitalization.  Capitalized costs are amortized using the straight-line  method 
upon general release, over the expected life of the related products,  generally 
12 to 24 months. The straight-line method generally results in approximately the 
same amount of expense as that  calculated  using the ratio that current  period 
gross product revenues bear to total  anticipated  gross product  revenues.  The 
Company evaluates the net realizable value of capitalized software on an ongoing 
basis,  relying on a number of business and economic  factors which could result 
in shorter amortization periods. 
 
Computation of Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share 
 
Net income per  common  share is  presented  for both basic  earnings  per share 
("Basic EPS") and diluted earnings per share ("Diluted EPS"). Basic EPS is based 
upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. 
Diluted  EPS is based  upon the  weighted  average  number of common  and common 
equivalent shares outstanding during the period.  Common stock equivalent shares 
are included in the Diluted EPS calculation  where the effect of their inclusion 
would be dilutive.  Common equivalent shares result from the assumed exercise of 
outstanding  stock options and warrants,  the proceeds of which are then assumed 
to have been used to  repurchase  outstanding  common  stock using the  treasury 
stock method. Net loss per common share, both basic and dilutive,  is based upon 
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. 
 
Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
 
Effective January 1, 1998, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards  No. 130 ("SFAS  130"),  "Reporting  Comprehensive  Income".  SFAS 130 
requires  the  reporting  of  comprehensive  income in  addition  to net income. 
Comprehensive  income is a more inclusive financial  reporting  methodology that 
includes  disclosure of certain financial  information that historically has not 
been  recognized in the  calculation of net income (loss).  The adoption of SFAS 
130 had no impact on the Company's net income  (loss) or  stockholders'  equity. 
For the  purpose  of SFAS 130  disclosures,  the  Company  does not  record  tax 
provisions  or  benefits  for the net  changes in foreign  currency  translation 
adjustment,  as  the  Company  intends  to  permanently  reinvest  undistributed 
earnings in its foreign subsidiaries. 
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
 
On June 15, 1998, the Financial  Accounting  Standards Board issued Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 133 ("SFAS 133"),  "Accounting for Derivative 
Instruments  and Hedging  Activities."  SFAS 133  requires  that all  derivative 
instruments  be recorded on the balance  sheet at their fair values.  Changes in 
the fair values of derivatives  are recorded each period in current  earnings or 
other  comprehensive  income,  depending  on  whether  or  not a  derivative  is 
designated as part of a hedge  transaction  and, if it is, depending on the type 
of hedge transaction.  SFAS 133 is effective for fiscal quarters beginning after 
January 1, 2000 for the  Company  and its  adoption  is not  expected  to have a 
material impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations. 
 
C.   MARKETABLE SECURITIES 
 
The amortized cost,  including  accrued  interest,  and fair value of marketable 
securities as of December 31, 1998 and 1997 are as follows (in thousands): 
 
                                                   Amortized         Fair 
                 1998                                 Cost           Value 
                 ----                              ---------       -------- 
   Federal, State, and Municipal Obligations         $48,904        $48,922 
                                                   =========       ======== 
 
                 1997 
                 ---- 
   Federal, State, and Municipal Obligations         $78,641        $78,654 
                                                   =========      ========= 
 
Gross  realized  and  unrealized  gains and  losses  which are  calculated  on a 
specific  identification  basis,  for the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997 
were  immaterial.  All  marketable  securities  held at December 31, 1998 mature 
within one year. 
 
D.   INVENTORIES 
 
Inventories consist of the following (in thousands): 
 
 
                                              December 31, 
                                         --------------------- 
                                           1998          1997 
                                         -------       ------- 
                                                       
                Raw materials             $6,193        $5,488 
                Work in process            2,081           674 
                Finished goods             2,819         3,680 
                                         -------       ------- 
                                         $11,093        $9,842 
                                         =======       ======= 
 



 
 
E.   CAPITALIZED SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS 
 
Capitalized purchased and internally developed software costs, included in other 
assets at December 31, 1998 and 1997, consist of the following (in thousands): 
 
 
                                                        December 31,       
                                                     1998        1997 
                                                    ------      ------ 
                                                           
       Capitalized software development costs       $6,443      $6,424 
       Less accumulated amortization                 5,677       5,483 
                                                    ------      ------ 
                                                      $766        $941 
                                                    ======      ====== 
 
 
Software  development costs  capitalized  during 1998, 1997 and 1996 amounted to 
approximately $20,000, $107,000 and $2.3 million, respectively.  Amortization of 
software  development  costs during those  periods was  approximately  $194,000, 
$893,000,  and  $3.2  million,   respectively.   During  1996  as  part  of  the 
nonrecurring costs,  described in Note N, capitalized software costs of $829,000 
and accumulated amortization of $334,000 were written off. 
 
F.   PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands): 
 
 
                                                            December 31, 
                                                        -------------------- 
                                       Depreciable 
                                          Life            1998        1997 
                                       -------------    --------    -------- 
                                                                 
   Computer and video equipment        2 to 5 years      $85,365     $75,042 
   Office equipment                    3 to 5 years        4,874       4,652 
   Furniture and fixtures              3 to 5 years        7,138       6,820 
   Leasehold improvements              3 to 10 years      15,287      13,105 
                                                        --------    -------- 
                                                         112,664      99,619 
   Less accumulated depreciation 
     and amortization                                     77,266      60,702 
                                                        --------    -------- 
                                                         $35,398     $38,917 
                                                        ========    ======== 
 
 
As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, property and equipment included  approximately 
$2.4 million of equipment under capital leases. 
 
G.   LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
Capital Leases 
 
During  November  1994 and January  1995,  the Company  entered  into  equipment 
financing  arrangements  with a bank  for  aggregate  borrowings  of up to $10.0 
million, at various interest rates (ranging from 4.6% to 8.1%) determined at the 
borrowing date. This equipment  financing  arrangement expired in March 1996 and 
was not renewed.  As of December 31, 1998 and 1997,  approximately  $398,000 and 
$1.2  million,  respectively,  was  outstanding  as capital  leases  under these 
arrangements. Borrowings are collateralized by certain assets of the Company. As 
of December 31, 1998, future minimum lease payments under capital leases totaled 
$407,000 due in 1999, of which $9,000 represents the payment of interest.  Total 
cash payments for interest in 1998, 1997, and 1996 were  approximately  $48,000, 
$136,000, and $311,000, respectively. 
 
Line of Credit 
 
In 1995, the Company  entered into an unsecured line of credit  agreement with a 
group of banks which provides for up to $35.0 million in revolving  credit.  The 
line of credit  agreement  was  renewed  on June 30,  1998 to expire on June 29, 
1999,  and certain  covenants were  subsequently  amended on September 30, 1998. 
Under the terms of the agreement,  the Company must pay an annual commitment fee 
of 1/4% of the average daily unused portion of the facility,  payable  quarterly 
in arrears. The Company has two loan options available under the agreement:  the 
Base Rate Loan and the LIBOR Rate  Loan.  The  interest  rates to be paid on the 
outstanding  borrowings  for each  loan  annually  are equal to the Base Rate or 
LIBOR  plus  1.25%,  respectively.  Additionally,  the  Company is  required  to 
maintain certain financial ratios and is bound by covenants over the life of the 
agreement,  including a restriction on the payment of dividends. The Company had 
no borrowings against this facility as of December 31, 1998 or 1997. 
 
Four  of the  Company's  international  subsidiaries  have  unsecured  overdraft 
facilities that permit aggregate  borrowings of Italian Lire 300,000,000,  Irish 
Punt 150,000,  Australian Dollar 963,400 and German Mark 800,000.  No borrowings 
were outstanding under these facilities as of December 31, 1998 or 1997. 
 
Subordinated Note 
 
In connection with the acquisition of Softimage (see Note O), Avid issued a $5.0 
million subordinated note (the "Note") to Microsoft  Corporation.  The principal 
amount of the Note,  including  any  adjustments  relative to Avid stock options 
forfeited by Softimage  employees,  plus all unpaid  accrued  interest is due on 
June 15, 2003.  The Note bears  interest at 9.5% per annum,  payable  quarterly. 
Through  December 31, 1998,  the Note has been increased by  approximately  $5.2 



million  for  forfeited  Avid stock  options.  The  Company  made cash  interest 
payments of $77,000 during 1998. 
 
H.   INCOME TAXES 
 
Income (loss) before income taxes and the components of the income tax provision 
(benefit)  for the years ended  December 31, 1998,  1997 and 1996 are as follows 
(in thousands): 
 
 
                                                1998        1997        1996 
                                              --------    --------    -------- 
                                                                  
Income (loss) before income taxes: 
  United States                               ($27,497)    $22,017    ($61,242) 
  Foreign                                       23,068      16,221       5,295 
                                              --------    --------    -------- 
  Total income (loss) before 
    income taxes                               ($4,429)    $38,238    ($55,947) 
                                              ========    ========    ======== 
Provisions for (benefit from) income taxes: 
  Current tax expense: 
    Federal                                     $7,770      $2,353     ($3,235) 
    Foreign                                      4,665       4,667       3,189 
    State                                          155          75         (16) 
                                              --------    --------    -------- 
  Total current tax expense                     12,590       7,095         (62) 
 
  Deferred tax (benefit) expense: 
    Federal                                    (13,878)      4,937     (15,820) 
    Foreign                                      2,401      (1,237) 
    State                                       (1,909)      1,059      (2,021) 
                                              --------    --------    -------- 
  Total deferred tax (benefit) expense         (13,386)      4,759     (17,841) 
                                              --------    --------    -------- 
  Total income tax provision (benefit)           ($796)    $11,854    ($17,903) 
                                              ========    ========    ======== 
 
 
Net cash  payments or  (refunds)  for income  taxes in 1998,  1997 and 1996 were 
approximately $6.6 million, ($1.1) million, and $4.9 million,  respectively. The 
net refund in 1997 was the result of the 1996 loss,  which was  carried  back to 
1993, 1994 and 1995 for federal tax purposes. 
 
The  cumulative  amount  of  undistributed  earnings  of  subsidiaries  which is 
intended to be permanently  reinvested and for which U.S.  income taxes have not 
been provided totaled approximately $47.9 million at December 31, 1998. 
 
Deferred tax assets are comprised of the following (in thousands): 
 
 
 
                                                     December 31, 
                                                 -------------------- 
                                                   1998        1997 
                                                 --------    -------- 
                                                         
          Allowances for accounts receivable       $2,118      $1,583 
          Difference in accounting for: 
             Revenue                                3,487       3,922 
             Costs and expenses                    10,846       9,372 
             Inventories                            1,944       2,738 
             Intangible assets                      7,735          43 
          Deferred intercompany profit                844          23 
          Tax  credit and net  operating  loss  
            carryforwards                          15,506      14,820 
          Other                                      (818)       (521) 
                                                 --------    --------     
          Net deferred tax assets                 $41,662     $31,980 
                                                 ========    ======== 
 
 
For U.S.  Federal  income tax and  Canadian  income tax purposes at December 31, 
1998, the Company has tax credit  carryforwards of  approximately  $11.8 million 
and $3.7 million, respectively. A portion of the tax credits expire between 2004 
and 2018. Deferred tax assets reflect the net tax effects of the tax credits and 
operating  loss  carryforwards  and temporary  differences  between the carrying 
amounts of assets and  liabilities  for  financial  reporting  purposes  and the 
amounts  used for income tax  purposes.  Although  realization  is not  assured, 
management  believes  it is more likely  than not that all of the  deferred  tax 
assets will be realized;  accordingly,  no valuation allowance has been recorded 
for net  deferred tax assets.  The amount of the  deferred tax asset  considered 
realizable,  however,  could be reduced in the near term if  estimates of future 
taxable income are reduced. 
 
A  reconciliation  of  the  Company's  income  tax  provision  (benefit)  to the 
statutory federal tax rate follows: 
 
 
 
                                                    1998      1997      1996 
                                                   ------    ------    ------ 
                                                                  
          Statutory rate                             35%       35%      (35)% 
          Nondeductible acquisition costs            12 
          Tax credits                                (8)       (4)       (1) 
          Foreign operations                         (8)       (3)        4 
          State taxes, net of federal benefit        (2)        2        (2) 



          Foreign sales corporation                  (2)       (1) 
          Other                                       4         2         2 
                                                    ----      ----      ---- 
 
          Effective tax rate before 
            special charge                           31        31       (32) 
 
          Rate difference due to charge for 
            in-process research and development     (49) 
                                                    ----      ----      ---- 
 
          Effective tax rate                        (18)%      31%      (32)% 
                                                    ====      ====      ==== 
 
 
For the year ended  December 31, 1998,  the  effective  tax rate before  special 
charge is based on a profit  before tax amount that  excludes the $28.4  million 
charge for in-process  research and  development,  of which $6.7 million was not 
deductible for tax purposes.  The Company's actual effective tax rate of 18% for 
the year reflects a tax benefit equal to 29% of this one-time charge. 
 
Consolidated  results of operations include results of manufacturing  operations 
in Ireland.  Income  from the sale of  products  manufactured  or  developed  in 
Ireland is subject to a 10% Irish tax rate through the year 2010.  The favorable 
Irish tax rate  resulted in tax benefits of  approximately  $1.5 million in 1998 
and $900,000 in 1997.  The 1996 Irish tax benefit was  immaterial to the results 
of  operations.  The 1998 basic and  diluted per share tax benefit was $0.06 and 
$0.06, respectively. 
 
The Internal  Revenue  Service is examining the  Company's  U.S. tax returns for 
1993 through 1996.  Management  believes that any related adjustments that might 
be required will not be material to the financial statements. 
 
I.   CAPITAL STOCK 
 
Preferred Stock 
 
The Company is authorized to issue up to one million shares of preferred  stock, 
$.01 par value per share. Each series of preferred stock shall have such rights, 
preferences,  privileges and  restrictions,  including  voting rights,  dividend 
rights, conversion rights,  redemption privileges,  and liquidation preferences, 
as shall be determined by the Board of Directors. 
 
In February 1996, the Board of Directors approved a Shareholder Rights Plan. The 
rights were distributed in March 1996 as a dividend at the rate of one right for 
each share of Common Stock  outstanding.  No value was assigned to these rights. 
The  rights  may be  exercised  to  purchase  shares of a new series of $.01 par 
value, junior participating preferred stock or to purchase a number of shares of 
the Company's  common stock which equals the exercise  price of the right,  $115 
divided by one-half of the then-current market price, upon occurrence of certain 
events, including the purchase of 20% or more of the Company's common stock by a 
person or group of  affiliated  or  associated  persons.  The  rights  expire on 
February  28,  2006 and may be redeemed by the Company for $.01 each at any time 
prior to the tenth  day  following  a change in  control  and in  certain  other 
circumstances. 
 
Common Stock 
 
During June and July 1997, the Company  granted 347,200 shares of $.01 par value 
restricted common stock to certain employees under the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan 
approved by the  shareholders on June 4, 1997. These shares vest annually in 20% 
increments beginning May 1, 1998. Accelerated vesting may occur if certain stock 
price performance goals established by the Board of Directors are met. On May 1, 
1998,  an  additional  20% of the  restricted  stock  became  vested  due to the 
attainment of specific stock performance goals.  Unvested  restricted shares are 
subject to forfeiture in the event that an employee ceases to be employed by the 
Company.   The  Company  initially   recorded,   as  a  separate   component  of 
stockholders'  equity,  deferred compensation of approximately $9.1 million with 
respect to this  restricted  stock.  This deferred  compensation  represents the 
excess of fair value of the restricted  shares at the date of the award over the 
purchase  price and is recorded as  compensation  expense  ratably as the shares 
vest. For the year ended December 31, 1998 and 1997,  approximately $3.2 million 
and $1.1 million, respectively was recorded as compensation expense. 
 
On October  23,  1997,  February  5, 1998 and  October  21,  1998,  the  Company 
announced that the Board of Directors had authorized the repurchase of up to 1.0 
million,  1.5 million and 2.0 million  shares,  respectively,  of the  Company's 
common  stock.  Purchases  have  been and will be made in the open  market or in 
privately negotiated transactions. The Company has used and plans to continue to 
use any  repurchased  shares for its employee  stock  plans.  As of December 31, 
1997,  the Company had  repurchased  a total of 1.0 million  shares at a cost of 
$28.8  million,  which  completed  the program  announced in October 1997. As of 
December  31,  1998,  the  Company  had  repurchased  approximately  1.9 million 
additional  shares  of Avid  common  stock  at a cost of  $61.8  million,  which 
completed the program  announced  during February 1998 and initiated the program 
announced in October 1998.  These  purchases  include the  repurchase of 500,000 
shares   from  Intel   Corporation   ("Intel").   Intel   originally   purchased 
approximately 1.6 million shares of Avid common stock in March 1997. 
 
Warrants 
 
In connection  with the  acquisition of Softimage Inc. (see Note O), the Company 
issued to  Microsoft  a ten-year  warrant to  purchase  1,155,235  shares of the 
Company's  common stock,  valued at $26.2 million.  The warrants are exercisable 
after August 3, 2000, at a price of $47.65 per share, and expire after August 3, 
2008. 
 
J.   EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS 



 
PROFIT SHARING PLANS 
 
1991 Profit Sharing Plan 
 
The Company  has a profit  sharing  plan under  section  401(k) of the  Internal 
Revenue Code covering  substantially all U.S. employees.  The 401(k) plan allows 
employees  to  make  contributions  up  to  a  specified   percentage  of  their 
compensation.  The Company may, upon resolution by the Board of Directors,  make 
discretionary  contributions to the plan. Effective January 1, 1996, the Company 
began contributing 33% of up to the first 6% of an employee's salary contributed 
to the plan by the employee.  The Company's  contributions  to this plan totaled 
$1.3  million,  $988,000,  and  $946,000 in 1998,  1997 and 1996,  respectively. 
Effective January 1, 1999, the Company's contribution will be increased from 33% 
to 50% of up to the first 6% of an employee's salary  contributed to the plan by 
the employee. 
 
In  addition,  the Company  has various  retirement  and  post-employment  plans 
covering certain European employees. Certain of the plans require the Company to 
match  employee  contributions  up to a specified  percentage  as defined by the 
plans. The Company made contributions of approximately  $1.0 million,  $489,000, 
and $400,000 in 1998, 1997, and 1996, respectively. 
 
1997 Profit Sharing Plan 
 
In January 1997,  the Board of Directors  approved the 1997 Profit  Sharing Plan 
(the  "1997  Plan").   The  1997  Plan,   effective   January  1,  1997,  covers 
substantially all employees of the Company and its  participating  subsidiaries, 
other than those employees  covered by other incentive  plans. The plan provides 
that the Company  contribute a varying percentage of salary (0% to 10%) based on 
the Company's  achievement of targeted  return on invested  capital for 1997, as 
defined by the plan. 
 
1998 Profit Sharing Plan 
 
In December 1997,  the Board of Directors  approved the 1998 Profit Sharing Plan 
(the "1998 Plan"). The 1998 Plan, effective January 1, 1998 covers substantially 
all  employees  of the Company and its  participating  subsidiaries,  other than 
those  employees  covered by other incentive  plans.  The plan provides that the 
Company  contribute  a varying  percentage  of salary  (0% to 15%)  based on the 
Company's  achievement  of  targeted  return on invested  capital  for 1998,  as 
defined by the plan. 
 
1998 Executive Variable Compensation Plan 
 
In December 1997, the Board of Directors  approved the 1998 Executive and Senior 
Management  Variable  Compensation  Plan (the "1998  Variable  Plan").  The 1998 
Variable Plan,  effective January 1, 1998, covers executive  officers and senior 
management.  The plan provides that the Company  contribute a varying percentage 
of salary  based on the  Company's  achievement  of targeted  return on invested 
capital for 1998, as defined by the plan. 
 
1998 Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan 
 
In December 1997, the Board of Directors approved the 1998 Nonqualified Deferred 
Compensation Plan (the "1998 Deferred Plan"). The 1998 Deferred Plan,  effective 
January  1, 1998,  covers  selected  senior  management  and highly  compensated 
employees,  as  approved  by the  Company's  Compensation  Committee.  The  plan 
provides for a trust to which participants can contribute varying percentages or 
amounts of eligible compensation for deferred payment. The timing of the payouts 
can be at the election of the employee or upon  termination  of employment  with 
the Company.  The benefit  payable under the 1998  Deferred  Plan  represents an 
unfunded  and  unsecured  contractual  obligation  of the  Company to pay in the 
future the value of the deferred  compensation,  adjusted to reflect the trust's 
investment  performance.  The assets of the trust, as well as the  corresponding 
obligations,  were  approximately  $2.9  million as of December 31, 1998 and are 
recorded in other assets and other long-term liabilities. 
 
STOCK PLANS 
 
1989 Stock Option Plan 
 
The 1989  Stock  Option  Plan (the  "1989  Plan")  allows  for the  issuance  of 
incentive  and  non-qualified  stock  options to purchase the  Company's  common 
stock.  Incentive  stock options may not be granted at less than the fair market 
value of the Company's common stock at the date of grant and are exercisable for 
a term not to exceed ten years. For holders of 10% or more of the total combined 
voting power of all classes of the Company's  stock,  options may not be granted 
at less than 110% of the fair  market  value of the common  stock at the date of 
grant,  and the option term may not exceed 5 years.  The options  generally vest 
over a four-year  period. In connection with the establishment of the 1993 Stock 
Incentive  Plan,  the 1989 Plan was amended to provide that,  subject to certain 
exceptions,  no further options or awards could be issued  thereunder.  The 1989 
Plan is due to expire on November 9, 1999. 
 
1991 Stock Option Plan 
 
Digidesign had an employee stock option plan whereby an aggregate of 1.5 million 
shares  of  common  stock  were  reserved  for  issuance.   Effective  upon  the 
acquisition by Avid, the stock option  agreements were assigned to Avid and Avid 
registered the 670,884 shares,  equivalent to the number of options outstanding, 
taking into effect the  exchange  ratio of 0.79 shares of Avid common  stock for 
each share of Digidesign common stock. Under the plan, options may be granted to 
employees, directors,  consultants, and advisors to the company. Incentive stock 
options  may be  granted  at  prices  not  lower  than  fair  market  value,  as 
established by the Board of Directors on the date of grant.  Non-qualified stock 
options may be granted at not less than 85% of fair market value, as established 
by the Board of Directors on the date of grant.  The options expire in a maximum 



of ten years and may be either  incentive stock options or  non-qualified  stock 
options,  determined at the  discretion  of the Board of Directors.  Options are 
immediately exercisable, subject to a right of repurchase which generally lapses 
as to  25%  of the  subject  shares  on the  first  anniversary  of the  vesting 
commencement date, and as to an additional 2.083% for each succeeding full month 
of continuous employment. Avid has not granted any additional options under this 
plan. 
 
1993 Stock Incentive Plan 
 
Under the 1993  Stock  Incentive  Plan (the "1993  Plan"),  a maximum of 800,000 
shares of common stock may be issued upon exercise of incentive stock options or 
non-qualified  stock options,  or in connection with awards of restricted  stock 
grants,  stock  appreciation  rights  or  performance  shares.  The terms of the 
incentive  stock options granted under this plan are  substantially  the same as 
for those granted under the 1989 Plan. The options generally vest ratably over a 
four-year period. 
 
1993 Director Stock Option Plan 
 
The 1993 Director Stock Option Plan (the "Director  Plan"), as amended April 12, 
1996,  provides  for the grant of options to purchase up to a maximum of 220,000 
shares of common stock of the Company to non-employee  directors of the Company, 
at an exercise  price equal to the fair market value of the stock on the date of 
grant. Options generally vest over a twelve month period from the date of grant, 
excluding  initial  grants to  directors  which vest  ratably  over a  four-year 
period, and are exercisable for a term not to exceed ten years. 
 
1994 Stock Option Plan 
 
The 1994 Stock  Option Plan,  as amended on February  12,  1996,  allows for the 
issuance of incentive and  non-qualified  options to purchase up to a maximum of 
2.4 million  shares of the Company's  common stock.  The options  generally vest 
over a four-year  period.  The terms of the options  granted under this plan are 
essentially the same as for those granted under the 1989 Plan. 
 
1997 Stock Incentive Plan 
 
The 1997 Stock Incentive Plan covers  employees,  consultants,  and directors of 
the Company,  and allows for the issuance of incentive and  non-qualified  stock 
options and restricted  stock grants to purchase the Company's  common stock. An 
aggregate of 1.0 million  shares of common stock are reserved for issuance under 
the plan, including up to 500,000 shares of restricted stock which may be issued 
pursuant  to the plan.  The terms of the  options  granted  under  this plan are 
substantially  the same as for those  granted  under the 1989 Plan.  The options 
generally vest ratably over a four-year  period.  In December 1998, the Board of 
Directors approved an amendment to the plan. The amendment,  which is subject to 
shareholder  approval,  increases  the number of shares  authorized to be issued 
under the plan by 500,000 shares of common stock. 
 
1997 Stock Option Plan 
 
In December  1997,  the Board of Directors  approved the 1997 Stock Option Plan. 
This plan, which covers employees and consultants, other than executive officers 
and directors,  allows for the issuance of non-qualified  options to purchase up 
to 1.0 million  shares of the Company's  common stock.  The terms of the options 
granted under this plan are  essentially the same as for those granted under the 
1989 Plan. The options generally vest over a four-year period. 
 
1998 Avid-Softimage Stock Option Plan 
 
The 1998 Avid-Softimage Stock Option Plan was approved by the Board of Directors 
as part of the  acquisition  of  Softimage  Inc.  (see  Note O) to  replace  the 
unvested  Microsoft  options that were forfeited in the transaction.  This plan, 
which covers Softimage employees,  executive officers and directors,  allows for 
the issuance of  non-qualified  options to purchase up to 2.0 million  shares of 
the  Company's  common  stock.  The  options may expire up to ten years from the 
grant date and generally vest over a four-year period. 
 
1998 Stock Option Plan 
 
In December  1998,  the Board of Directors  approved the 1998 Stock Option Plan. 
This plan, which covers employees and consultants, other than executive officers 
and directors,  and allows for the issuance of non-qualified options to purchase 
up to 1.5 million shares of the Company's  common stock.  The options may expire 
up to ten years from the grant date and generally vest over a four-year period. 
 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan 
 
On July 31, 1996, the 1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan expired and was replaced 
with the 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "1996 Purchase Plan").  The 1996 
Purchase Plan, as amended on May 19, 1998,  authorizes the issuance of a maximum 
of 700,000 shares of common stock in  semi-annual  offerings at a price equal to 
the lower of 85% of the closing price on the  applicable  offering  commencement 
date or 85% of the closing price on the applicable offering termination date. 
 
As disclosed in Note I, the Company has  announced  programs to repurchase up to 
6.5 million  shares of common stock for use in its employee  stock  purchase and 
stock option plans. 
 
Stock-Based Compensation Plans 
 
Information  with respect to options  granted under all stock option plans is as 
follows: 
 
 
 
                                          1998                      1997                       1996 



                                 ----------------------    ----------------------    ------------------------ 
                                              Wtd Avg.                  Wtd Avg.                   Wtd Avg. 
                                                Price                     Price                      Price 
                                   Shares     Per Share      Shares     Per Share      Shares      Per Share 
                                 ----------   ---------    ----------   ---------    ----------    ---------- 
                                                                                    
Options outstanding at 
beginning of year January 1,      3,573,527     $16.09      3,547,356     $16.18       2,986,595     $21.59 
 
Granted, at fair value            3,208,674     $26.19      1,243,950     $14.77       2,273,398     $17.01 
Granted, below fair value         1,820,817      $0.01  
Exercised                          (650,420)    $13.74       (758,298)    $13.23        (260,055)     $4.56 
Canceled                           (551,108)    $16.52       (459,481)    $17.17      (1,452,582)    $30.55 
                                  ---------                 ---------                 ---------- 
Options outstanding at 
December 31,                      7,401,490     $16.63      3,573,527     $16.09       3,547,356     $16.18 
                                  =========                 =========                 ========== 
Options exercisable at 
December 31,                      1,658,724     $15.94      1,338,726     $16.04       1,237,924     $13.71 
                                  =========                 =========                 ========== 
Options available for future 
grant at December 31,             1,660,022                   674,296                    866,759 
                                  =========                 =========                 ========== 
 
Weighted average fair value 
of options granted during 
the year                             $13.29                     $7.46                      $6.93 
                                  =========                 =========                 ========== 
 
 
The following table summarizes  information  about stock options  outstanding at 
December 31, 1998: 
 
 
 
                            Options Outstanding                                            Options Exercisable 
- -----------------------------------------------------------------------------        -------------------------------- 
                                         Weighted-Average 
   Range of                 Number          Remaining        Weighted-Average           Number       Weighted-Average 
Exercise Prices           Outstanding    Contractual Life     Exercise Price          Exercisable     Exercise Price 
- ------------------        -----------    ----------------    ----------------         -----------    ---------------- 
                                                                                           
$ 0.0100 to $13.0000       2,546,875           8.69                $3.6732              534,458           $9.2260 
$13.1875 to $15.3125         171,549           7.94               $14.2018               91,035          $14.1838 
$15.6250 to $16.5000         696,487           7.20               $16.0065              453,061          $16.4606 
$16.6875 to $19.6250         424,202           6.84               $19.0415              294,165          $18.9073 
$19.7500 to $46.7500       3,562,377           9.29               $25.8392              286,005          $25.1491 
                           ---------                                                    ------- 
 
$ 0.0100 to $46.7500       7,401,490           8.72               $16.6272            1,658,724          $15.9366 
                           =========           ====               ========            =========          ======== 
 
 
The Company has ten stock-based  compensation  plans, which are described above. 
In October 1995, the Financial  Accounting  Standards Board issued  Statement of 
Financial  Accounting  Standards  No.  123  ("SFAS No.  123"),  "Accounting  for 
Stock-Based  Compensation",  which is  effective  for  periods  beginning  after 
December  15,  1995.  SFAS No. 123  requires  that  companies  either  recognize 
compensation  expense  for  grants of stock,  stock  options,  and other  equity 
instruments  based on fair value, or provide pro forma disclosures of net income 
and earnings  per share in the notes to the  financial  statements.  The Company 
adopted  SFAS  No.  123 in 1996  and  elected  the  disclosure-only  alternative 
provisions.  The  Company  has chosen to  continue  to account  for  stock-based 
compensation granted to employees using the intrinsic value method prescribed in 
Accounting  Principles  Board  Opinion No. 25,  "Accounting  for Stock issued to 
Employees",  and related  interpretations.  Accordingly,  compensation  cost for 
stock  options  granted to employees  is measured as the excess,  if any, of the 
fair value of the Company's  stock at the date of the grant over the amount that 
must be paid to acquire the stock. 
 
During 1998,  the Company  issued stock  options to purchase  approximately  1.8 
million shares of common stock with a nominal  exercise price in connection with 
the acquisition of Softimage (see Note O). As a result of this nominal  exercise 
price,  the  Company  excluded  the  effects  of the  options  issued  from  the 
calculation  of 1998  pro  forma  net loss  from  SFAS No.  123  disclosures  of 
compensation  expense.  The Softimage  purchase price included the excess of the 
fair value of the Company's stock on the grant date over the exercise prices. 
 
Had  compensation  cost for the Company's  stock-based  compensation  plans been 
determined based on the fair value at the grant dates for the awards under these 
plans  consistent  with the  methodology  prescribed  under  SFAS No.  123,  the 
Company's  net income  (loss) and  earnings per share would have been reduced to 
the pro forma amounts indicated below: 
 
 
 
                         1998                               1997                                1996 
           ---------------------------------    ------------------------------    -------------------------------- 
               Net     Earnings    Earnings       Net     Earnings   Earnings        Net      Earnings   Earnings  
             Income    per share   per share     Income   per share  per share      Income    per share  per share 
             (Loss)      Basic      Dilutive     (Loss)     Basic     Dilutive      (Loss)      Basic     Dilutive 
           ----------  ---------  ----------     -------  ---------  ---------    ----------  ---------  --------- 
                                                                                
As 
Reported    ($3,633)    ($0.15)     ($0.15)      $26,384    $1.14       $1.08      ($38,044)   ($1.80)    ($1.80) 
            =======     ======      ======       =======    =====       =====      ========    ======     ======  
 
Pro 



Forma      ($13,598)    ($0.58)     ($0.58)      $18,855    $0.82       $0.76      ($46,400)   ($2.19)    ($2.19) 
           ========     ======      ======       =======    =====       =====      ========    ======     ======  
 
 
The fair value of regular employee options granted during 1998, 1997 and 1996 is 
estimated  on the date of grant  using the  Black-Scholes  option-pricing  model 
utilizing the  following  weighted-average  assumptions:  (1) risk free interest 
rate of 5.15%, 6.47%, and 6.05%, for 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively, based on 
zero-coupon  U.S.  government  issues,  (2)  expected  option  life from date of 
vesting of 17 months, (3) expected stock volatility of 61.8% for 1998, 61.2% for 
1997, and 58.31% for 1996, and (4) expected dividend yield of 0.0%. 
 
The fair value of awards under the Employee  Stock  Purchase  plans during 1998, 
1997 and 1996 is estimated on the date of the purchase  using the  Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model utilizing the following weighted average  assumptions:  (1) 
expected  option life of 6 months,  (2) expected  volatility  of 61.8% for 1998, 
61.2% for 1997,  and 58.31% for 1996,  and (3) expected  dividend yield of 0.0%. 
The risk-free  interest rate used in determining the fair value of the plans was 
determined to be the rate on a zero-coupon  six month U.S.  Government  issue on 
the first day of the  offering  period for each of the six plan  periods.  These 
interest  rates  ranged  from  4.97%  to  6.21%  in each  year.  The  amount  of 
compensation  expense,  net of  income  taxes,  related  to the  Employee  Stock 
Purchase  plans,  included in the pro forma net income  (loss) and  earnings per 
share detailed in the table above, is approximately  $1.0 million,  $499,000 and 
$626,000 for 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. 
 
The effects of applying  SFAS No. 123 for the purposes of pro forma  disclosures 
may not be  indicative  of the  effects on  reported  net income  (loss) and net 
income (loss) per share for future years, as the pro forma  disclosures  include 
the effects of only those awards granted after January 1, 1995. 
 
On February 12, 1996, the Board of Directors  authorized  that all options under 
the 1994 Stock Option Plan at an exercise  price greater than or equal to $28.48 
would be eligible to be exchanged for options with an exercise price at the then 
fair  market  value of $16.50  per share and a first vest date of  February  21, 
1997. This  cancellation and reissuance of stock options affected  approximately 
860,000 options. 
 
K.    COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
Lease Commitments 
 
The Company leases its office space and certain  equipment under  non-cancelable 
operating   leases.   The  future   minimum   lease   commitments   under  these 
non-cancelable leases at December 31, 1998 are as follows (in thousands): 
 
                          1999                 $13,198 
                          2000                  11,577 
                          2001                   7,758 
                          2002                   6,674 
                          2003                   5,253 
                          Thereafter            28,463 
                                               ------- 
                          Total                $72,923 
                                               ======= 
 
The  total  of  future  minimum  rentals  to be  received  under  non-cancelable 
subleases  related to the above  leases is $5.6  million.  Such  amounts are not 
reflected in the schedule of minimum lease payments above. 
 
The Company's two leases for corporate office space in Tewksbury, Massachusetts, 
expiring June 2010 contain  renewal  options to extend the  respective  terms of 
each lease for an additional 60 months. 
 
The Company's lease for the Dublin,  Ireland  facility has a termination  option 
clause in April of 2002,  which if elected  requires  the Company to pay certain 
penalties of approximately  $338,000. The future minimum lease commitments above 
include the Company's obligation for its Dublin,  Ireland facility through April 
2002. 
 
The accompanying  consolidated  results of operations  reflect rent expense on a 
straight-line  basis  over the term of the  leases.  Total  rent  expense  under 
operating  leases was  approximately  $12.4 million,  $13.3  million,  and $11.4 
million for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. 
 
Purchase Commitments 
 
As of December 31, 1998,  the Company has entered into  non-cancelable  purchase 
commitments for certain components used in its normal  operations.  The purchase 
commitments covered by these agreements aggregate approximately $13.7 million. 
 
The Company currently purchases certain key components used in its products from 
sole source  suppliers.  These components are purchased  through purchase orders 
placed  from time to time.  The  Company  generally  does not carry  significant 
inventories  of  these  sole  source  components  and has no  guaranteed  supply 
arrangements  for them.  These  purchasing  arrangements can result in delays in 
obtaining   products  from  time  to  time.  While  the  Company  believes  that 
alternative sources of supply for its sole source components could be developed, 
its business and results of operations could be adversely affected if it were to 
encounter an extended  interruption in its source of supply. 
 
Accounts Sold with Recourse 
 
The  Company  provides  lease  financing  options  to its  customers,  including 
distributors. The Company assigns all of its rights under these lease agreements 
to an  unrelated  third  party.  Under  the  terms of these  leases,  which  are 
generally  three  years,  the Company  remains  liable for any unpaid  principal 
balance  upon  default by the  end-user,  but such  liability  is limited in the 



aggregate  based on a percentage of initial amounts funded or, in certain cases, 
amounts of unpaid  balances.  At December  31,  1998,  1997 and 1996,  the third 
party's uncollected balance of lease receivables with recourse was approximately 
$86.1  million,  $58.0 million and $22.6  million,  respectively;  at those same 
dates,  Avid's maximum  recourse  totaled  approximately  $22.3  million,  $15.4 
million and $8.0 million,  respectively.  The Company records revenue from these 
transactions  upon the shipment of products to end-users and maintains a reserve 
for estimated losses under this recourse lease program. To date, the Company has 
not experienced significant losses under this lease program. 
 
Contingencies 
 
On June 7, 1995, the Company filed a patent infringement complaint in the United 
States   District  Court  for  the  District  of   Massachusetts   against  Data 
Translation,  Inc.,  a Marlboro,  Massachusetts-based  company.  Avid is seeking 
judgment against Data Translation that, among other things, Data Translation has 
willfully  infringed  Avid's  patent  number  5,045,940,  entitled  "Video/Audio 
Transmission System and Method." Avid is also seeking an award of treble damages 
together  with  prejudgment  interest  and costs,  Avid's  costs and  reasonable 
attorneys'  fees,  and an injunction to prohibit  further  infringement  by Data 
Translation.  The litigation has been dismissed without prejudice (with leave to 
refile) pending a decision by the U.S. Patent and Trademark  Office on a reissue 
patent application based on the issued patent. 
 
On March 11, 1996,  the Company was named as defendant in a patent  infringement 
suit filed in the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas 
by Combined Logic Company,  a California  partnership  located in Beverly Hills, 
California.  On May 16,  1996,  the suit was  transferred  to the United  States 
District  Court for the Southern  District of New York on motion by the Company. 
The complaint  alleges  infringement  by Avid of U.S.  patent number  4,258,385, 
issued in 1981,  and seeks  injunctive  relief,  treble  damages and costs,  and 
attorneys'  fees. The Company  believes that it has meritorious  defenses to the 
complaint and intends to contest it vigorously.  However,  an adverse resolution 
of this  litigation  could  have a  material  adverse  effect  on the  Company's 
consolidated  financial position or results of operations in the period in which 
the  litigation  is resolved.  No costs have been accrued for this possible loss 
contingency. 
 
The Company also receives  inquiries from time to time with regard to additional 
possible patent infringement  claims.  These inquiries are generally referred to 
counsel  and  are in  various  stages  of  discussion.  If any  infringement  is 
determined to exist, the Company may seek licenses or settlements.  In addition, 
as a normal incidence of the nature of the Company's  business,  various claims, 
charges,  and  litigation  have been  asserted or commenced  against the Company 
arising  from or  related  to  contractual  or  employee  relations  or  product 
performance.  Management  does not  believe  these  claims  will have a material 
adverse  effect on the  financial  position  or  results  of  operations  of the 
Company. 
 
The Company has entered into employment  agreements with certain officers of the 
Company that  provide for  severance  pay and  benefits,  including  accelerated 
vesting of options.  Under the terms of the agreements,  these officers  receive 
100% of such  severance  benefits  if they are  involuntarily  terminated.  Such 
agreements  are  effective  for two years  and are  automatically  extended  for 
successive one-year periods after the second anniversary, unless 30 days advance 
written  notice is given by either  party.  The  Company has also  entered  into 
change in control employment agreements with certain officers of the Company. As 
defined in the agreements,  a change in control includes, but is not limited to: 
a third  person or entity  becoming the  beneficial  owner of 30% or more of the 
Company's common stock, the shareholders  approving any plan or proposal for the 
liquidation or dissolution of the Company,  or within a twenty-four month period 
a  majority  of the  members  of the  Company's  Board of  Directors  ceasing to 
continue as members of the board unless their successors are each approved by at 
least two-thirds of the Company's directors.  If at any time within two years of 
the change in control, the officer's employment is terminated by the Company for 
any reason other than cause or by the officer for good reason, as such terms are 
defined in the  agreement,  then the  employee is  entitled  to receive  certain 
severance  payments  plus an  amount  equal to  compensation  earned  under  the 
management incentive  compensation plan during the previous two years as well as 
accelerated vesting of options. 
 
L.    FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of 
credit risk consist of temporary cash  investments  and trade  receivables.  The 
Company places its excess cash in marketable investment grade securities.  There 
are no  significant  concentrations  in any one issuer of debt  securities.  The 
Company  places  its cash,  cash  equivalents  and  investments  with  financial 
institutions  with high  credit  standing.  Concentrations  of credit  risk with 
respect to trade  receivables  are limited due to the large  number of customers 
comprising the Company's  customer bases, and their dispersion  across different 
regions.  The Company also  maintains  reserves for potential  credit losses and 
such losses have been within management's expectations. (See also Note B). 
 
Forward Exchange Contracts 
 
As of December 31, 1998 and 1997,  the Company had  approximately  $31.9 million 
and  $22.1  million,   respectively,   of  foreign  exchange  forward  contracts 
outstanding,  denominated in various European and Asian currencies, the Canadian 
dollar and the Australian  dollar,  as a hedge against its committed  exposures. 
The following table  summarizes the December 31, 1998 currencies and approximate 
U.S.  dollar  amounts  involved;  the Company is the seller with respect to each 
contract with the exception of the Irish pound contract (in thousands): 
 
 
 



                                         Local        Approximate 
                                      Currency        U.S. Dollar 
                                        Amount         Equivalent 
                                  ------------       ------------ 
                                                        
           British Pound                   800             $1,341 
           Spanish Peseta              312,000              2,196 
           Canadian Dollar               2,800              1,804 
           German Mark                  24,170             14,473 
           Italian Lire              1,100,000                665 
           Irish Pound                   1,100              1,635 
           French Franc                 30,000              5,348 
           Japanese Yen                504,000              4,401 
                                                          ------- 
                                                          $31,863 
                                                          ======= 
 
 
The forward exchange contracts generally have maturities of one month. Net gains 
(losses) of approximately  ($1.1) million,  $3.2 million, and $968,000 resulting 
from forward exchange  contracts were included in results of operations in 1998, 
1997 and 1996, respectively. The fair values of these forward exchange contracts 
as of December  31,  1998,  1997,  and 1996 were  immaterial,  as the  contracts 
generally are placed within a week of year-end. 
 
M.    SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
In June 1998,  the  Financial  Accounting  Standards  Board issued  Statement of 
Financial  Accounting  Standards  No.  131,  "Disclosures  about  Segments of an 
Enterprise  and Related  Information"  (SFAS No. 131),  which is  effective  for 
periods  beginning  after  December 15, 1997.  SFAS No. 131 requires that public 
business  enterprises  report certain  information  about operating  segments in 
annual  and  interim  financial  statements  filed  with the SEC and  issued  to 
shareholders.  It also  establishes  standards  for  related  disclosures  about 
products and services, geographic areas and major customers.  Operating segments 
are  defined as  components  of an  enterprise  about which  separate  financial 
information  is  available  that is evaluated  regularly by the chief  operating 
decision maker, or decision making group, in deciding how to allocate  resources 
and in assessing their  performance.  The Company adopted SFAS No. 131 effective 
January 1, 1998. 
 
The Company's organizational structure is based on strategic business units that 
offer various products to the principle markets in which the Company's  products 
are sold. These business units equate to two reportable segments: Video and Film 
Editing and Effects and Professional Audio. 
 
The Video and Film Editing and Effects segment produces nonlinear video and film 
editing  systems to  improve  the  productivity  of video and film  editors  and 
broadcasters  by enabling  them to edit moving  pictures  and sound in a faster, 
easier, more creative,  and more  cost-effective  manner than traditional analog 
tape-based  systems.  The  products in this  operating  segment are  designed to 
provide capabilities for editing and finishing feature films,  television shows, 
broadcast  news  programs,  commercials,  music  videos,  and corporate and home 
videos.  The  Professional  Audio segment produces digital audio systems for the 
professional audio market. This operating segment includes products developed to 
provide audio recording, editing, signal processing, and automated mixing. 
 
The accounting  policies of each of the segments are the same as those described 
in the  summary  of  significant  accounting  policies.  The  Company  evaluates 
performance  based on  profit  and loss from  operations  before  income  taxes, 
interest income,  interest expenses, and other income,  excluding the effects of 
nonrecurring  charges and  amortization  of intangible  assets  associated  with 
acquisitions. Common costs not directly attributable to a particular segment are 
allocated  among segments based on  management's  best  estimates,  including an 
allocation of depreciation  expense  without a  corresponding  allocation of the 
related  assets.  The segments are reported net of  eliminations  resulting from 
intersegment sales and transfers. The Company does not present segment assets as 
part  of  the  assessment  of  segment  performance,   as  such,  segment  asset 
information is not disclosed. 
 
The following is a summary of the Company's  operations by operating segment for 
the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 (in thousands): 
 
 
 
                                           For the Year Ended December 31, 
                                          --------------------------------- 
                                            1998         1997         1996 
                                          --------     --------     -------- 
                                                            
   Video and Film Editing and Effects: 
       Net revenues                       $412,374     $406,808     $374,381 
                                          ========     ========     ======== 
       Depreciation                        $20,290      $21,676      $24,852 
                                          ========     ========     ======== 
       Operating income (loss)             $37,818      $22,061     ($23,880) 
                                          ========     ========     ========  
 
   Professional Audio: 
       Net revenues                        $70,003      $64,530      $54,628 
                                          ========     ========     ======== 
       Depreciation                         $1,373       $1,601       $1,288 
                                          ========     ========     ======== 
       Operating income (loss)             $11,694       $8,052        ($886) 
                                          ========     ========     ========  
 
   Consolidated: 
       Net revenues                       $482,377     $471,338     $429,009 



                                          ========     ========     ======== 
       Depreciation                        $21,663      $23,277      $26,140 
                                          ========     ========     ======== 
       Operating income (loss)             $49,512      $30,113     ($24,766) 
                                          ========     ========     ========   
 
 
The following  table  reconciles  revenues and operating  income (loss) to total 
consolidated  amounts for the years ended  December 31, 1998,  1997 and 1996 (in 
thousands): 
 
 
 
                                               1998        1997        1996 
                                             --------    --------    -------- 
                                                             
Operating income (loss) 
  Total operating income (loss) for 
  reportable segments                         $49,512     $30,113    ($24,766) 
  Unallocated amounts: 
    Nonrecurring costs                       ($28,373)               ($34,597) 
    Amortization of acquisition-related 
      intangible assets                      ($34,204) 
                                             --------    --------    -------- 
Consolidated operating income (loss)         ($13,065)    $30,113    ($59,363) 
                                             ========    ========    ======== 
 
 
The 1998 unallocated  amounts  represent the charge for in-process  research and 
development  and the  amortization  of  acquired  intangible  assets,  including 
goodwill  associated  with the  acquisition of Softimage as described in Note O. 
The  1996  unallocated   amounts  represent   approximately   $20.1  million  of 
restructuring and product  transition  charges and $8.8 million  associated with 
the Company's  decision not to release the Avid Media  Spectrum  product line as 
described in Note N as well as  approximately  $5.6 million  associated with the 
write-off of spare parts no longer required to support the business. 
 
The following  table  summarizes the Company's  revenues and long-lived  assets, 
excluding deferred tax assets, by country (in thousands): 
 
 
 
                                             For the Year Ended December 31, 
                                           ---------------------------------- 
                                             1998         1997         1996 
                                           --------     --------     -------- 
                                                             
Revenues 
  North America (U.S. and Canada)          $244,476     $242,106     $210,602 
  United Kingdom                             47,511       45,232       36,151 
  Other foreign countries                   190,390      184,000      182,256 
                                           --------     --------     -------- 
Total revenues                             $482,377     $471,338     $429,009 
                                           ========     ========     ======== 
 
Long-lived assets 
  North America (U.S. and Canada)          $216,940      $35,589      $45,888 
  United Kingdom                              1,867        2,466        3,158 
  Other foreign countries                     2,370        2,848        4,605 
                                           --------     --------     -------- 
Total long-lived assets                    $221,177      $40,903      $53,651 
                                           ========     ========     ======== 
 
 
Foreign revenue is based on the country in which the sales originate. 
 
N.   NONRECURRING COSTS 
 
In the first  quarter of 1996,  the Company  recorded a  nonrecurring  charge of 
$20.1  million.  Included  in this  charge  was  $7.0  million  associated  with 
restructuring,  consisting  of  approximately  $5.0 million of costs  related to 
staff  reductions  of  approximately  70 employees,  primarily in the U.S.,  and 
associated  write-offs of fixed assets, and $2.0 million related to the decision 
to discontinue  development of certain  products and projects.  Included in this 
$7.0 million were approximately $5.0 million of cash payments consisting of $3.6 
million of salaries and related  severance costs and $1.4 million of other staff 
reduction  and  discontinued  development  costs.  The non-cash  charges of $2.0 
million  recorded  during  1996  consisted  primarily  of $1.5  million  for the 
write-off of fixed  assets.  Also  included in this $20.1  million  nonrecurring 
charge was $13.1 million related to product transition costs associated with the 
transition  from NuBus to PCI bus  technology in some of the  Company's  product 
lines.  As  of  December  31,  1996,  the  Company  had  completed  the  related 
restructuring and product transition actions. 
 
In September 1996, the Company  recorded a nonrecurring  charge of $8.8 million, 
associated  primarily with the Company's  decision not to release the Avid Media 
Spectrum product line. This charge included costs to write-off inventory,  fixed 
assets,  capitalized  software  and  various  other  costs  associated  with the 
canceled  product  line.  Approximately  $7.2  million of the charge  related to 
non-cash items associated with the write-off of assets. As of December 31, 1997, 
the Company had completed the related restructuring. 
 
As described in Note O, in connection  with the 1998  acquisition  of Softimage, 
the Company  recorded a charge of  approximately  $28.4 million for the acquired 
in-process research and development.  The related tax benefit of $8.2 million is 
reflected in the 1998 tax provision (benefit). 
 
O.   ACQUISITIONS 



 
On August 3, 1998, the Company acquired from Microsoft Corporation ("Microsoft") 
the common stock of  Softimage  and certain  assets  relating to the business of 
Softimage.  In connection with the acquisition,  Avid paid $79.0 million in cash 
to Microsoft and issued to Microsoft (i) a subordinated note (the "Note") in the 
amount of $5 million,  due June 2003,  (ii)  2,394,813  shares of common  stock, 
valued at $64.0  million,  and (iii) a ten-year  warrant to  purchase  1,155,235 
shares of common stock at an exercise price of $47.65 per share, valued at $26.2 
million. In addition,  Avid agreed to issue to Softimage employees 40,706 shares 
of common stock, valued at $1.5 million, as well as stock options with a nominal 
exercise  price to purchase up to 1,820,817  shares of common  stock,  valued at 
$68.2  million  ("Avid  Options").  Avid also  incurred  fees of $4.0 million in 
connection with the transaction.  Per terms of the agreements,  shares of common 
stock issued to Microsoft  and shares  underlying  the warrant may not be traded 
until August 3, 2001.  Additionally,  the  principal  amount of the Note will be 
increased by $39.71 for each share underlying  forfeited Avid Options. The value 
of the  Avid  Options  has  been  recorded  on the  balance  sheet  as  Purchase 
Consideration (see Note B). 
 
The  acquisition  was  accounted  for under the purchase  method of  accounting. 
Accordingly, the results of operations of Softimage and the fair market value of 
the acquired assets and assumed  liabilities have been included in the financial 
statements of the Company as of the  acquisition  date.  The purchase  price was 
allocated  to the  acquired  assets  and  assumed  liabilities  as  follows  (in 
thousands): 
 
              Working capital, net                     $2,448 
              Property and equipment                    3,958 
              Completed technologies                   76,205 
              In-process research and development      28,373 
              Work force                                7,790 
              Trade name                                4,252 
              Deferred tax liability                   (2,945) 
              Goodwill                                127,779 
                                                    ---------- 
                                                     $247,860 
                                                    ========== 
 
The amounts allocated to identifiable tangible and intangible assets,  including 
acquired  in-process  research  and  development,  were  based on  results of an 
independent  appraisal.  Goodwill  represents  the  amount  by which the cost of 
acquired net assets  exceeded the fair values of those net assets on the date of 
purchase.  Acquired in-process research and development  represented development 
projects  in areas that had not  reached  technological  feasibility  and had no 
alternative future use. Accordingly,  the amount of $28.4 million was charged to 
operations  at the date of the  acquisition,  net of the  related tax benefit of 
$8.2 million. 
 
The values of completed  technologies  and in-process  research and  development 
were determined using a risk-adjusted,  discounted cash flow approach. The value 
of  in-process  research  and  development,   specifically,  was  determined  by 
estimating the costs to develop the in-process projects into commercially viable 
products,   estimating   the  resulting  net  cash  flows  from  such  projects, 
discounting the net cash flows back to their present values,  and adjusting that 
result to reflect each project's stage of completion. 
 
In-process research and development  projects identified at the acquisition date 
included  next-generation  three-dimensional  modeling,  animation and rendering 
software  and  new  graphic,   film  and  media   management   capabilities  for 
effects-intensive, on-line finishing applications for editing. The nature of the 
efforts to develop the purchased in-process  technology into commercially viable 
products  principally  relate to (i)  completion  of the animation and real-time 
playback  architecture,  completion and  integration of  architectural  software 
components,  validation of the resulting  architecture,  and finalization of the 
feature  set;  and  (ii)  the  rebuilding  of the  framework  architecture,  the 
rewriting of software code of the compositing engine to accommodate  significant 
new features,  and the rewriting of software code of the titling  component.  If 
these projects are not successfully  developed,  the sales and  profitability of 
the Company may be adversely affected in future periods. 
 
The Company recorded  deferred tax assets of $6.9 million related to tax credits 
and  carryforwards  of Softimage Inc. An additional $2.6 million of deferred tax 
assets were not recorded at the acquisition date due to the uncertainty of their 
realization. If any benefit of these unrecorded tax credits and carryforwards is 
realized in the future,  the  non-current  assets  recorded upon the acquisition 
will be reduced at that time by a  corresponding  amount,  before any benefit is 
recognized in the statement of operations. 
 
Accumulated  amortization  associated with  identifiable  intangible  assets was 
approximately  $16.5  million at December  31,  1998;  accumulated  amortization 
associated with goodwill was  approximately  $17.7 million at December 31, 1998. 
During the year ended December 31, 1998, the Purchase Consideration recorded for 
the value of Avid Options was reduced by approximately  $7.7 million,  resulting 
from increases to the Note of approximately  $5.2 million for forfeited  options 
and by increases to additional paid-in capital of approximately $2.5 million for 
options which became vested. 
 
The following  table  presents  unaudited pro forma  information  as if Avid and 
Softimage had been combined as of the  beginning of the periods  presented.  The 
pro  forma  data  are  presented  for  illustrative  purposes  only  and are not 
necessarily  indicative  of  the  combined  financial  position  or  results  of 
operations of future  periods or the results that  actually  would have resulted 
had Avid and Softimage been a combined company during the specified periods. The 
pro forma  results  include the effects of the purchase  price  allocation  from 
amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets and exclude the charge for 
the purchased in-process technology and related tax benefit. 
 
                                          Pro Forma Unaudited 



                                (in thousands, except per share amounts) 
 
 
                                    For the Year Ended December 31, 
                                    ------------------------------- 
                                         1998            1997 
                                       --------        -------- 
                                                      
Net revenue                            $505,382        $508,153 
                                       ========        ======== 
 
Net income (loss)                      ($22,329)       ($43,102) 
                                       ========        ========  
 
Net income (loss) per common 
share - basic                            ($0.89)         ($1.69) 
                                       ========        ========  
 
Net income (loss) per common 
share - diluted                          ($0.89)         ($1.69) 
                                       ========        ========  
 
Weighted average common shares 
outstanding - basic                      25,071          25,501 
                                       ========        ======== 
 
Weighted average common shares 
outstanding - diluted                    25,071          25,501 
                                       ========        ======== 
 
 
P.   NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE 
 
The following  table  reconciles the numerator and  denominator of the basic and 
diluted earnings per share computations shown on the consolidated  statements of 
operations: 
 
 
                                            For the Years Ended December 31, 
                                           ---------------------------------- 
(In thousands, except per share data)        1998         1997         1996 
                                           --------     --------     -------- 
                                                             
Basic EPS 
  Numerator: 
    Net income (loss)                       ($3,633)     $26,384     ($38,044) 
  Denominator: 
    Weighted common shares outstanding       23,644       23,065       21,163 
 
  Basic EPS                                  ($0.15)       $1.14       ($1.80) 
                                           ========     ========     ======== 
Diluted EPS 
  Numerator: 
    Net income (loss)                       ($3,633)     $26,384     ($38,044) 
  Denominator: 
    Weighted common shares outstanding       23,644       23,065       21,163 
    Weighted common stock equivalents                      1,260 
                                           --------     --------     -------- 
                                             23,644       24,325       21,163 
 
  Diluted EPS                                ($0.15)       $1.08       ($1.80) 
                                           ========     ========     ========  
 
 
Options and warrants to purchase  2,534,833  and  1,958,422  weighted  shares of 
common stock outstanding as of December 31, 1998 and 1996 were excluded from the 
year-to-date  calculation  of diluted  net loss per share as the effect of their 
inclusion would have been  anti-dilutive.  Options to purchase  234,554 weighted 
shares of common stock  outstanding  as of December 31, 1997 were  excluded from 
the  year-to-date  calculation  of  diluted  net income  per share  because  the 
exercise  prices of those  options  exceeded the average  market price of common 
stock during the periods. 
 
See Note R for supplemental pro forma calculations of net income (unaudited). 
 
Q.   QUARTERLY RESULTS (UNAUDITED) 
 
The following information has been derived from unaudited consolidated financial 
statements  that,  in the opinion of  management,  include all normal  recurring 
adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of such information. 
 
In thousands, except per share data: 
 
 
                                                                             Quarters Ended 
                                    ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                         1998                                            1997 
                                    ---------------------------------------------    --------------------------------------------- 
                                     Dec. 31     Sept.30(A)  June 30     Mar. 31      Dec. 31    Sept. 30     June 30     Mar. 31 
                                    ---------------------------------------------    --------------------------------------------- 
                                                                                                  
Net revenues                        $144,598    $116,185    $112,852    $108,742     $123,735    $116,510    $122,884    $108,209 
Cost of revenues                      54,256      45,929      44,537      45,527       54,062      51,606      59,700      56,185 
                                    --------    --------    --------      ------       ------      ------      ------      ------ 
Gross profit                          90,342      70,256      68,315      63,215       69,673      64,904      63,184      52,024 
                                    --------    --------    --------      ------       ------      ------      ------      ------ 
Operating expenses: 
  Research & development              25,102      22,757      20,616      20,312       20,160      18,598      18,296      16,416 



  Marketing & selling                 36,035      30,967      30,584      27,694       31,301      30,109      30,687      28,297 
  General & administrative             8,618       6,902       6,450       6,579        6,977       6,734       6,294       5,803 
  Nonrecurring costs                              28,373 
  Amortization of acquisition- 
    related intangible assets         20,503      13,701 
                                    ---------------------------------------------    --------------------------------------------- 
  Total operating expenses            90,258     102,700      57,650      54,585       58,438      55,441      55,277      50,516 
                                    ---------------------------------------------    --------------------------------------------- 
Operating income (loss)                   84     (32,444)     10,665       8,630       11,235       9,463       7,907       1,508 
Other income, net                      1,371       2,016       2,713       2,536        2,244       2,596       2,045       1,240 
                                    ---------------------------------------------    --------------------------------------------- 
Income (loss) before income taxes      1,455     (30,428)     13,378      11,166       13,479      12,059       9,952       2,748 
Provision for (benefit from) 
  income taxes                           451      (8,855)      4,147       3,461        4,178       3,231       3,483         962 
                                    ---------------------------------------------    --------------------------------------------- 
Net income (loss)                     $1,004    ($21,573)     $9,231      $7,705       $9,301      $8,828      $6,469      $1,786 
                                    =============================================    ============================================= 
Net income (loss) per share 
  - basic                              $0.04      ($0.89)      $0.40       $0.34        $0.39       $0.37       $0.28       $0.08 
                                    =============================================    ============================================= 
Net income (loss) per share 
  - diluted                            $0.04      ($0.89)      $0.37       $0.31        $0.37       $0.34       $0.27       $0.08 
                                    =============================================    ============================================= 
Weighted average common shares 
  outstanding - basic                 24,378      24,190      23,076      22,908       23,601      23,912      23,164      21,550 
                                    =============================================    ============================================= 
Weighted average common shares 
  outstanding - diluted               26,703      24,190      24,833      24,587       25,231      25,747      24,075      21,750 
                                    =============================================    ============================================= 
 
High common stock price              $27.000     $38.875     $47.750     $41.250      $33.000     $38.000     $28.125     $14.000 
Low common stock price               $11.063     $18.625     $28.375     $26.000      $23.000     $22.000     $12.375      $9.000 
 
 
(A) The results for the quarter ended September 30, 1998 reflect the restatement 
of previously  reported results of operations  associated with the amount of the 
purchase  price  originally   allocated  to  acquired  in-process  research  and 
development at the date of the Company's acquisition of Softimage.  The restated 
amounts for the quarter reflect a decrease in the charge for in-process research 
and   development   of  $165.4   million,   an  increase  in   amortization   of 
acquisition-related  intangible  assets of $9.4  million,  a decrease in benefit 
from income taxes of $33.2  million,  a decrease in net loss of $122.8  million, 
and a decrease in net loss per basic and diluted share of $5.08. 
 
 
 
The Company's  quarterly  operating results fluctuate as a result of a number of 
factors including,  without limitation, the timing of new product introductions, 
marketing  expenditures,  promotional programs,  and periodic discounting due to 
competitive factors. The Company's operating results may fluctuate in the future 
as a result of these and other  factors,  including  the  Company's  success  in 
developing and introducing  new products,  its products and customer mix and the 
level  of  competition  which  it  experiences.  The  Company  operates  with  a 
relatively  small  backlog.  Quarterly  sales and  operating  results  therefore 
generally depend on the volume and timing of orders received during the quarter. 
The  Company's  expense  levels  are  based in part on its  forecasts  of future 
revenues.  If revenues are below  expectations,  the Company's operating results 
may be  adversely  affected.  Accordingly,  there can be no  assurance  that the 
Company will be profitable in any particular quarter. 
 
R.    SUPPLEMENTAL  RECONCILIATION  OF NET INCOME (LOSS) TO PRO FORMA NET INCOME 
      (UNAUDITED) 
 
The following table presents a pro forma calculation of tax-effected  income and 
diluted per share amounts,  excluding  nonrecurring  costs and  amortization  of 
acquisition-related  intangible assets. The information is presented in order to 
enhance  the  comparability  of the  statements  of  operations  for  the  years 
presented. 
 
 
 
(in thousands, except per share data)       For the Years Ended December 31, 
                                           ---------------------------------- 
                                              1998        1997         1996 
                                            --------    --------     -------- 
                                                             
Net income (loss)                           ($3,633)     $26,384     ($38,044) 
Adjustments: 
  Nonrecurring costs                         28,373                   $34,597 
  Amortization of acquisition-related 
    intangible assets                        34,204 
  Tax impact of adjustments                 (18,821)                  (11,071) 
                                           --------      -------     -------- 
Pro forma net income                        $40,123      $26,384     ($14,518) 
                                           ========      =======     ======== 
Pro forma net income (loss) per common 
share -diluted                                $1.56        $1.08       ($0.69) 
                                           ========      =======     ======== 
Weighted average common shares 
  outstanding - diluted - 
  used for pro forma calculation             25,704       24,325       21,163 
                                           ========      =======     ======== 
 
 
The 1998 adjustments  include the charge for in-process research and development 
of $28.4  million  as well as the  amortization  of  $34.2  million  related  to 
acquired  intangible  assets and goodwill  associated  with the  acquisition  of 
Softimage. The transaction is further described in Note O. 



 
The 1996 adjustment represents  approximately $20.1 million of restructuring and 
product  transition  charges  and $8.8  million  associated  with the  Company's 
decision  not to release the Avid Media  Spectrum  product  line as described in 
Note  N  as  well  as  a  non-cash  charge  recorded  in  cost  of  revenues  of 
approximately  $5.6  million  associated  with the  write-off  of spare parts no 
longer required to support the business. 
 
S.   SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 
The following table reflects supplemental cash flow investing activities related 
to the Softimage acquisition. 
 
 
                                                 Year Ended 
                                             December 31, 1998 
                                             ----------------- 
                                                       
               Fair value of: 
                 Assets acquired and goodwill        $257,233 
                 Liabilities assumed                  (13,374) 
                 Debt, common stock, stock 
                   options and warrant issued        (164,859) 
                                                    --------- 
 
               Cash paid                               79,000 
               Less:  cash acquired                      (584) 
                                                    --------- 
               Net cash paid for acquisition          $78,416 
                                                    ========= 
 
 
T.    SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (UNAUDITED) 
 
On January 27, 1999, the Company, with Tektronix, Inc., incorporated a 50% owned 
and  funded  newsroom  venture,  AvStar  Systems  LLC  ("AvStar"),  which  began 
operations  in  February  1999 with its  corporate  office  located in  Madison, 
Wisconsin.  The joint venture is dedicated to providing  the next  generation of 
digital news production products.  The Company's investment in the joint venture 
will be  accounted  for under the equity  method of  accounting.  The  Company's 
initial  contribution  to the joint  venture  was  approximately  $2.0  million, 
consisting  of $1.5  million in cash and $0.5  million of  licensed  technology, 
fixed assets and inventory. 
 
 
ITEM 9.   CHANGES  IN AND  DISAGREEMENTS  WITH  ACCOUNTANTS  ON  ACCOUNTING  AND 
          FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 
 
Not applicable. 



 
 
 
                                    PART III 
 
 
ITEM 10.   DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT 
 
The  response to this item is  contained  in part under the  caption  "EXECUTIVE 
OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY" in Part I hereof, and the remainder is contained in the 
Company's  Proxy  Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on 
June 2, 1999 (the  "1999  Proxy  Statement")  under the  captions  "Election  of 
Directors" and "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting  Compliance" and is 
incorporated herein by reference. 
 
 
ITEM 11.   EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
 
The  response to this item is contained in the  Company's  1999 Proxy  Statement 
under the  captions  "Election  of  Directors  -  Directors'  Compensation"  and 
"Executive Compensation" and is incorporated herein by reference. 
 
 
ITEM 12.   SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 
 
The  response to this item is contained in the  Company's  1999 Proxy  Statement 
under  the  caption  "Security   Ownership  of  Certain  Beneficial  Owners  and 
Management" and is incorporated herein by reference. 
 
 
ITEM 13.   CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS 
 
The  response to this item is contained in the  Company's  1999 Proxy  Statement 
under the  caption  "Certain  Relationships  and  Related  Transactions"  and is 
incorporated herein by reference. 
 
 
                                          PART IV 
 
ITEM 14.   EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K 
 
(a) 1.   FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The following  consolidated  financial  statements  are  included in Item 8: 
 
      -  Report of Independent Accountants 
 
      -  Consolidated  Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 
         1998, 1997 and 1996 
 
      -  Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 1998 and 1997 
 
      -  Consolidated  Statements  of  Stockholders'  Equity for the years ended 
         December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 
 
      -  Consolidated  Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 
         1998, 1997 and 1996 
 
      -  Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
(a) 2.   FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE 
 
The  following  consolidated  financial  statement  schedule is included in Item 
14(d): 
 
         Schedule II  -  Supplemental Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 
 
Schedules  other than that listed  above have been  omitted  since the  required 
information  is not  present,  or not present in amounts  sufficient  to require 
submission of the schedule,  or because the information  required is included in 
the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto. 
 
(a) 3.   LISTING OF EXHIBITS 
 
EXHIBIT NO.                            DESCRIPTION 
 
 
   2.1      Stock and Asset  Purchase  Agreement  among  Microsoft  Corporation, 
            Softimage Inc. and Avid  Technology,  Inc. dated as of June 15, 1998 
            together  with  all  material  exhibits  thereto   (incorporated  by 
            reference to the Registrant's  Quarterly Report a Form 10-Q as filed 
            with the Commission on August 12, 1998, File No. 0-21174). 
 
   3.1      Certificate   of  Amendment  of  the  Third   Amended  and  Restated 
            Certificate  of  Incorporation  of the Registrant  (incorporated  by 
            reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed 
            with the Commission on May 15, 1995, File No. 0-21174). 
 
   3.2      Third  Amended and  Restated  Certificate  of  Incorporation  of the 
            Registrant   (incorporated   by   reference   to  the   Registrant's 
            Registration  Statement on Form S-8 as filed with the  Commission on 
            June 9, 1993, File No. 33-64126). 
 
   3.3      Amended and  Restated  By-Laws of the  Registrant  (incorporated  by 
            reference to the Registrant's  Registration Statement on Form S-1 as 
            declared  effective by the  Commission  on March 11, 1993,  File No. 
            33-57796). 



 
   3.4      Certificate   of   Designations   establishing   Series   A   Junior 
            Participating  Preferred Stock (the  "Certificate of  Designations") 
            (incorporated  by reference to the  Registrant's  Current  Report on 
            Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on March 8, 1996). 
 
   3.5      Certificate  of  Correction  to  the   Certificate  of  Designations 
            (incorporated  by reference to the  Registrant's  Current  Report on 
            Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on March 8, 1996). 
 
   4.1      Specimen  Certificate  representing  the  Registrant's  Common Stock 
            (incorporated   by  reference  to  the   Registrant's   Registration 
            Statement  on Form S-1 as declared  effective by the  Commission  on 
            March 11, 1993, File No. 33-57796). 
 
   4.2      Rights  Agreement,  dated  as of  February  29,  1996,  between  the 
            Registrant  and The First  National Bank of Boston,  as Rights Agent 
            (incorporated  by reference to the  Registrant's  Current  Report on 
            Form 8-K as filed with the  Commission  on March 8,  1996,  File No. 
            0-21174). 
 
   4.3      Common Stock  Purchase  Warrant  dated August 3, 1998 by and between 
            Avid  Technology,  Inc. and Microsoft  Corporation  (incorporated by 
            reference to the Registrant's  Quarterly Report a Form 10-Q as filed 
            with the Commission on November 13, 1998, File No. 0-21174). 
 
  10.1      Lease dated  September 29, 1995 between Allied Dunbar  Insurance PLC 
            and  Avid  Technology  Limited  (incorporated  by  reference  to the 
            Registrant's  Quarterly  Report  on Form  10-Q  as  filed  with  the 
            Commission on November 14, 1995, File No. 0-21174). 
 
  10.2      Lease dated August 30, 1995 between  Syntex  (U.S.A.)  Inc. and Avid 
            Technology,  Inc.  (incorporated  by reference  to the  Registrant's 
            Quarterly  Report  on Form  10-Q as  filed  with the  Commission  on 
            November 14, 1995, File No. 0-21174). 
 
  10.3      Lease between MGI Andover  Street,  Inc. and Avid  Technology,  Inc. 
            dated March 21, 1995  (incorporated by reference to the Registrant's 
            Quarterly  Report on Form 10-Q as filed with the  Commission  on May 
            15, 1995, File No. 0-21174). 
 
  10.4      Amended and Restated  lease dated as of June 7, 1996 between MGI One 
            Park West, Inc. and Avid Technology, Inc. (incorporated by reference 
            to the Registrant's  Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed with the 
            Commission on August 14, 1996, File No. 0-21174). 
 
  10.5      Amended  and  Restated   Revolving   Credit   Agreement  among  Avid 
            Technology,  Inc.,  The First  National  Bank of  Boston,  as agent, 
            NationsBank of Texas,  N.A., BayBank and ABN AMRO Bank N.V. dated as 
            of July 1,  1995  (incorporated  by  reference  to the  Registrant's 
            Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed with the Commission on August 
            9, 1995, File No. 0-21174). 
 
  10.6      First  Amendment  dated  September  30, 1995 to Amended and Restated 
            Revolving Credit  Agreement by and among Avid Technology,  Inc., The 
            First National Bank of Boston, as agent, NationsBank of Texas, N.A., 
            BayBank and ABN AMRO Bank N.V.  (incorporated  by  reference  to the 
            Registrant's  Quarterly  Report  on Form  10-Q  as  filed  with  the 
            Commission on November 14, 1995, File No. 0-21174). 
 
  10.7      Second  Amendment  dated as of  February  28,  1996 to  Amended  and 
            Restated Revolving Credit Agreement among Avid Technology, Inc., The 
            First National Bank of Boston, as agent, NationsBank of Texas, N.A., 
            BayBank  and  ABN  AMRO  Bank  N.V.   dated  as  of  June  30,  1996 
            (incorporated by reference to the  Registrant's  Quarterly Report on 
            Form 10-Q as filed with the Commission on August 14, 1996,  File No. 
            0-21174). 
 
  10.8      Third  Amendment  dated as of May 8, 1996 to  Amended  and  Restated 
            Revolving Credit  Agreement among Avid  Technology,  Inc., The First 
            National  Bank of  Boston,  as agent,  NationsBank  of Texas,  N.A., 
            BayBank  and  ABN  AMRO  Bank  N.V.   dated  as  of  June  30,  1996 
            (incorporated by reference to the  Registrant's  Quarterly Report on 
            Form 10-Q as filed with the Commission on August 14, 1996,  File No. 
            0-21174). 
 
  10.9      Fourth  Amendment  dated as of June 28, 1996 to Amended and Restated 
            Revolving Credit  Agreement among Avid  Technology,  Inc., The First 
            National  Bank of  Boston,  as agent,  NationsBank  of Texas,  N.A., 
            BayBank  and  ABN  AMRO  Bank  N.V.   dated  as  of  June  30,  1996 
            (incorporated by reference to the  Registrant's  Quarterly Report on 
            Form 10-Q as filed with the Commission on August 14, 1996,  File No. 
            0-21174). 
 
  10.10     Fifth  Amendment  dated as of July 1, 1996 to Amended  and  Restated 
            Revolving Credit  Agreement among Avid  Technology,  Inc., The First 
            National  Bank of  Boston,  as agent,  NationsBank  of Texas,  N.A., 
            BayBank  and  ABN  AMRO  Bank  N.V.   dated  as  of  June  30,  1996 
            (incorporated by reference to the  Registrant's  Quarterly Report on 
            Form 10-Q as filed with the Commission on August 14, 1996,  File No. 
            0-21174). 
 
  10.11     Sixth  Amendment  dated as of June 27, 1997 to Amended and  Restated 
            Revolving Credit  Agreement and Assignment (the "Sixth  Amendment"), 
            by and among AVID  TECHNOLOGY,  INC.,  a Delaware  corporation  (the 
            "Borrower"),  BANKBOSTON, N.A. (formerly known as The First National 
            Bank of  Boston)  and  the  other  lending  institutions  listed  on 
            Schedule 1 to the Credit Agreement,  amending certain  provisions of 



            the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of June 
            30, 1995  (incorporated by reference to the  Registrant's  Quarterly 
            Report on Form 10-Q as filed with the Commission on August 12, 1997, 
            File No. 0-21174). 
 
  10.12     Seventh  Amendment  dated  as of  October  1,  1997 to  Amended  and 
            Restated  Revolving Credit Agreement (the "Seventh  Amendment"),  by 
            and  among  AVID  TECHNOLOGY,  INC.,  a  Delaware  corporation  (the 
            "Borrower"),  BANKBOSTON, N.A. (formerly known as The First National 
            Bank of  Boston)  and  the  other  lending  institutions  listed  on 
            Schedule 1 to the Credit Agreement,  amending certain  provisions of 
            the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of June 
            30, 1995. 
 
  10.13     Eighth  Amendment  dated as of June 30, 1998 to Amended and Restated 
            Revolving Credit Agreement and Assignment (the "Eighth  Amendment"), 
            by and among Avid Technology,  Inc., BankBoston, N.A (formerly known 
            as The  First  National  Bank  of  Boston)  and  the  other  lending 
            institutions listed on Schedule 1 to the Credit Agreement,  amending 
            certain  provisions  of the Amended and  Restated  Revolving  Credit 
            Agreement  dated as of June 30, 1995  (incorporated  by reference to 
            the  Registrant's  Quarterly  Report on Form 10-Q as filed  with the 
            Commission on August 12, 1998, File No. 0-21174). 
 
  10.14     Ninth  Amendment  dated as of  September  30,  1998 to  Amended  and 
            Restated  Revolving  Credit  Agreement and Assignment,  by and among 
            Avid Technology, Inc., BankBoston, N.A. (formerly known as The First 
            National Bank of Boston) and the other lending  institutions  listed 
            on schedule 1 to the Credit Agreement,  amending certain  provisions 
            of the Amended and Restated  Revolving  Credit Agreement dated as of 
            June  30,  1995  (incorporated  by  reference  to  the  Registrant's 
            Quarterly  Report  on Form  10-Q as  filed  with the  Commission  on 
            November 13, 1998, File No. 0-21174). 
 
  10.15     Form of  Distribution  Agreement  (incorporated  by reference to the 
            Registrant's   Registration   Statement  on  Form  S-1  as  declared 
            effective by the Commission on March 11, 1993, File No. 33-57796). 
 
  10.16     Form of Purchase and License Agreement (incorporated by reference to 
            the  Registrant's  Registration  Statement  on Form S-1 as  declared 
            effective by the Commission on March 11, 1993, File No. 33-57796). 
 
  10.17     Form of Software Only License  Agreement  (incorporated by reference 
            to the Registrant's  Registration  Statement on Form S-1 as declared 
            effective by the Commission on March 11, 1993, File No. 33-57796). 
 
 #10.18     1989  Stock   Option  Plan   (incorporated   by   reference  to  the 
            Registrant's   Registration   Statement  on  Form  S-1  as  declared 
            effective by the Commission on March 11, 1993, File No. 33-57796). 
 
 #10.19     1993  Stock  Incentive  Plan   (incorporated  by  reference  to  the 
            Registrant's   Registration   Statement  on  Form  S-1  as  declared 
            effective by the Commission on March 11, 1993, File No. 33-57796). 
 
 #10.20     1993  Director  Stock  Option  Plan,  as  amended  (incorporated  by 
            reference  to the  Registrant's  Proxy  Statement  as filed with the 
            Commission on April 27, 1995, File No. 0-21174). 
 
 #10.21     1993 Executive Compensation Agreement  (incorporated by reference to 
            the  Registrant's  Registration  Statement  on Form S-1 as  declared 
            effective by the Commission on March 11, 1993, File No. 33-57796). 
 
 #10.22     1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan  (incorporated by reference to the 
            Registrant's  Registration  Statement  on Form S-8 as filed with the 
            Commission on June 9, 1993, File No. 33-64130). 
 
 #10.23     1994 Stock Option Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to the 
            Registrant's  Registration  Statement  on Form S-8 as filed with the 
            Commission on October 27, 1995, File No. 33-98692). 
 
 #10.24     Digidesign,  Inc. 1991 Stock Option Plan  (incorporated by reference 
            to  Registrant's  Quarterly  Report on Form  10-Q as filed  with the 
            Commission on May 15, 1995, File No. 0-21174). 
 
 #10.25     1995  Executive  Variable   Compensation  Program  (incorporated  by 
            reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed 
            with the Commission on May 15, 1995, File No. 0-21174). 
 
 #10.26     1998 Executive and Senior Management Variable Compensation Plan. 
 
 #10.27     1997 Stock Option Plan. 
 
 #10.28     1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended. 
 
 #10.29     1998  Non-Qualified  Deferred  Compensation  Plan  (incorporated  by 
            reference to the Registrant's  Registration Statement on Form S-8 as 
            filed with the Commission on December 18, 1997, File No. 33-42569). 
 
 #10.30     1998 Profit Sharing Plan. 
 
 #10.31     Employment Agreement between the Company and William J. Miller. 
 
 #10.32     Change-in-Control  Agreement  between  the  Company  and  William J. 
            Miller. 
 
 #10.33     Employment Agreement between the Company and William L. Flaherty. 
 
 #10.34     Change-in-Control  Agreement  between  the  Company  and  William L. 



            Flaherty. 
 
 #10.35     Employment   agreement   between  the  Company  and  Clifford  Jenks 
            (incorporated by reference to the  Registrant's  Quarterly Report on 
            Form 10-Q as filed with the  Commission  on November 14, 1996,  File 
            No. 0-21174). 
 
*#10.36     1999 Profit Sharing Plan. 
 
*#10.37     1999 Executive and Senior Management Variable Compensation Plan. 
 
  10.38     Registration  Rights  Agreement  dated August 3, 1998 by and between 
            Avid  Technology,  Inc. and Microsoft  Corporation  (incorporated by 
            reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed 
            with the Commission on November 13, 1998, File No. 0-21174). 
 
 *10.39     Form of Electronic Software License Agreement. 
 
*#10.40     Form of  Employment  Agreements  between  the  Company  and  certain 
            Executive Officers. 
 
*#10.41     Form of Change-in-Control  Agreement between the Company and certain 
            Executive Officers. 
 
*#10.42     Employment Agreement between the Company and Clifford Jenks. 
 
*#10.43     Change-in-Control Agreement between the Company and Clifford Jenks. 
 
 *21        Subsidiaries of the Registrant. 
 
 *23.1      Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. 
- ---------- 
*documents filed herewith 
#Management contract or compensatory plan identified pursuant to Item 14 (a) 3. 
 
(b)   REPORTS ON FORM 8-K 
 
For the fiscal  quarter  ended  December 31, 1998,  the Company  filed a Current 
Report on Form 8-K/A on October 19, 1998. 



 
 
 
                                   SIGNATURES 
 
Pursuant to the  requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities  Exchange 
Act of 1934,  the  registrant  has duly  caused  this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
 
AVID TECHNOLOGY, INC. 
(Registrant) 
 
By:  /s/ William J. Miller              By:  /s/ William L. Flaherty 
     -----------------------                 ----------------------- 
     William J. Miller                       William L. Flaherty 
     Chairman of the Board                   Senior Vice President of 
     and Chief Executive Officer             Finance, Chief Financial 
     (Principal Executive Officer)           Officer and Treasurer 
                                             (Principal Financial Officer) 
 
Date:  March 30, 1999                   Date:  March 30, 1999 
       --------------                          -------------- 
 
By:  /s/ Carol L. Reid 
     ----------------------- 
     Carol L. Reid 
     Vice President and 
     Corporate Controller 
     (Principal Accounting Officer) 
 
Date:  March 30, 1999  
       --------------  
 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report 
has been signed below by the following  persons on behalf of the  registrant and 
in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 
 
 
       NAME                           TITLE                        DATE 
       ----                           -----                        ---- 
 
 /s/ Charles T. Brumback             Director                  March 21, 1999 
 ------------------------                                      -------------- 
  Charles T. Brumback 
 
 /s/ William E. Foster               Director                  March 29, 1999 
 ------------------------                                      -------------- 
  William E. Foster 
 
 /s/ Peter C. Gotcher                Director                  March 24, 1999 
 ------------------------                                      -------------- 
  Peter C. Gotcher 
 
 /s/ Robert M. Halperin              Director                  March 23, 1999 
 ------------------------                                      -------------- 
  Robert M. Halperin 
 
 /s/ Nancy Hawthorne                 Director                  March 21, 1999 
 ------------------------                                      -------------- 
  Nancy Hawthorne 
 
 /s/ Roger J. Heinen, Jr.            Director                  March 25, 1999 
 ------------------------                                      -------------- 
  Roger J. Heinen, Jr. 
 
 /s/ Daniel Langlois                 Director                  March 30, 1999 
 ------------------------                                      -------------- 
  Daniel Langlois 
 
 /s/ Lucille S. Salhany              Director                  March 27, 1999 
 ------------------------                                      -------------- 
  Lucille S. Salhany 
 
 /s/ William J. Warner               Director                  March 30, 1999 
 ------------------------                                      -------------- 
  William J. Warner 
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                                   ITEM 14(d) 
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                             AVID TECHNOLOGY, INC. 
 
          SCHEDULE II - SUPPLEMENTAL VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS 
 
                  Years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 
 
 
                                                                 Additions 
                                                         -------------------------- 
                                         Balance at      Charged to      Charged to                             Balance at 
                                        beginning of     costs and          other                                 end of 
         Description                       period         expenses        accounts          Deductions            period 
- -------------------------------         ------------     ----------      ----------        ------------         ---------- 
                                                                                                  
Allowance for doubtful accounts 
 
     December 31, 1998                   $7,097,893      $2,103,801      $(116,756)        $(3,216,947)(a)      $5,867,991 
 
     December 31, 1997                    6,959,243       2,032,489       (413,862)         (1,479,977)(a)       7,097,893 
 
     December 31, 1996                    6,011,617       5,599,130        792,927          (5,444,431)(a)       6,959,243 
 
Sales returns and allowances 
 
     December 31, 1998                     $430,710                       $879,670(b)          $(6,994)(a)      $1,303,386 
 
     December 31, 1997                      559,600                        152,272(b)         (281,162)(a)         430,710 
 
     December 31, 1996                      460,595                        283,478(b)         (184,473)(a)         559,600 
 
Inventory valuation allowance 
 
       December 31, 1998                 $8,927,841      $3,668,098        $57,049         $(5,163,997)(a)      $7,488,990 
 
       December 31, 1997                  8,372,460       5,136,384        166,187          (4,747,190)(a)       8,927,841 
 
       December 31, 1996                  9,780,463      22,925,413                        (24,333,416)(a)       8,372,460 
 
 
(a) Amount represents write-offs, net of recoveries. 
(b) Sales return provisions are charged directly against revenue. 



 
 
 
                               INDEX TO EXHIBITS 
 
 
Exhibit No.          Description                                          Page 
 
     2.1    Stock and Asset  Purchase  Agreement  among  Microsoft  Corporation, 
            Softimage Inc. and Avid  Technology,  Inc. dated as of June 15, 1998 
            together  with  all  material  exhibits  thereto   (incorporated  by 
            reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed 
            with the Commission on August 12, 1998, File No. 0-21174). 
 
     3.1    Certificate   of  Amendment  of  the  Third   Amended  and  Restated 
            Certificate  of  Incorporation  of the Registrant  (incorporated  by 
            reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed 
            with the Commission on May 15, 1995, File No. 0-21174). 
 
     3.2    Third  Amended and  Restated  Certificate  of  Incorporation  of the 
            Registrant   (incorporated   by   reference   to  the   Registrant's 
            Registration  Statement on Form S-8 as filed with the  Commission on 
            June 9, 1993, File No. 33-64126). 
 
     3.3    Amended and  Restated  By-Laws of the  Registrant  (incorporated  by 
            reference to the Registrant's  Registration Statement on Form S-1 as 
            declared  effective by the  Commission  on March 11, 1993,  File No. 
            33-57796). 
 
     3.4    Certificate   of   Designations   establishing   Series   A   Junior 
            Participating  Preferred Stock (the  "Certificate of  Designations") 
            (incorporated  by reference to the  Registrant's  Current  Report on 
            Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on March 8, 1996). 
 
     3.5    Certificate  of  Correction  to  the   Certificate  of  Designations 
            (incorporated  by reference to the  Registrant's  Current  Report on 
            Form 8-K as filed with the Commission on March 8, 1996). 
 
     4.1    Specimen  Certificate  representing  the  Registrant's  Common Stock 
            (incorporated   by  reference  to  the   Registrant's   Registration 
            Statement  on Form S-1 as declared  effective by the  Commission  on 
            March 11, 1993, File No. 33-57796). 
 
     4.2    Rights  Agreement,  dated  as of  February  29,  1996,  between  the 
            Registrant  and The First  National Bank of Boston,  as Rights Agent 
            (incorporated  by reference to the  Registrant's  Current  Report on 
            Form 8-K as filed with the  Commission  on March 8,  1996,  File No. 
            0-21174). 
 
     4.3    Common Stock  Purchase  Warrant  dated August 3, 1998 by and between 
            Avid  Technology,  Inc. and Microsoft  Corporation  (incorporated by 
            reference to the Registrant's  Quarterly Report a Form 10-Q as filed 
            with the Commission on November 13, 1998, File No. 0-21174). 
 
    10.1    Lease dated  September 29, 1995 between Allied Dunbar  Insurance PLC 
            and  Avid  Technology  Limited  (incorporated  by  reference  to the 
            Registrant's  Quarterly  Report  on Form  10-Q  as  filed  with  the 
            Commission on November 14, 1995, File No. 0-21174). 
 
    10.2    Lease dated August 30, 1995 between  Syntex  (U.S.A.)  Inc. and Avid 
            Technology,  Inc.  (incorporated  by reference  to the  Registrant's 
            Quarterly  Report  on Form  10-Q as  filed  with the  Commission  on 
            November 14, 1995, File No. 0-21174). 
 
    10.3    Lease between MGI Andover  Street,  Inc. and Avid  Technology,  Inc. 
            dated March 21, 1995  (incorporated by reference to the Registrant's 
            Quarterly  Report on Form 10-Q as filed with the  Commission  on May 
            15, 1995, File No. 0-21174). 
 
    10.4    Amended and Restated  lease dated as of June 7, 1996 between MGI One 
            Park West, Inc. and Avid Technology, Inc. (incorporated by reference 
            to the Registrant's  Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed with the 
            Commission on August 14, 1996, File No. 0-21174). 
 
    10.5    Amended  and  Restated   Revolving   Credit   Agreement  among  Avid 
            Technology,  Inc.,  The First  National  Bank of  Boston,  as agent, 
            NationsBank of Texas,  N.A., BayBank and ABN AMRO Bank N.V. dated as 
            of July 1,  1995  (incorporated  by  reference  to the  Registrant's 
            Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed with the Commission on August 
            9, 1995, File No. 0-21174). 
 
    10.6    First  Amendment  dated  September  30, 1995 to Amended and Restated 
            Revolving Credit  Agreement by and among Avid Technology,  Inc., The 
            First National Bank of Boston, as agent, NationsBank of Texas, N.A., 
            BayBank and ABN AMRO Bank N.V.  (incorporated  by  reference  to the 
            Registrant's  Quarterly  Report  on Form  10-Q  as  filed  with  the 
            Commission on November 14, 1995, File No. 0-21174). 
 
    10.7    Second  Amendment  dated as of  February  28,  1996 to  Amended  and 
            Restated Revolving Credit Agreement among Avid Technology, Inc., The 
            First National Bank of Boston, as agent, NationsBank of Texas, N.A., 
            BayBank  and  ABN  AMRO  Bank  N.V.   dated  as  of  June  30,  1996 
            (incorporated by reference to the  Registrant's  Quarterly Report on 
            Form 10-Q as filed with the Commission on August 14, 1996,  File No. 
            0-21174). 
 
    10.8    Third  Amendment  dated as of May 8, 1996 to  Amended  and  Restated 



            Revolving Credit  Agreement among Avid  Technology,  Inc., The First 
            National  Bank of  Boston,  as agent,  NationsBank  of Texas,  N.A., 
            BayBank  and  ABN  AMRO  Bank  N.V.   dated  as  of  June  30,  1996 
            (incorporated by reference to the  Registrant's  Quarterly Report on 
            Form 10-Q as filed with the Commission on August 14, 1996,  File No. 
            0-21174). 
 
    10.9    Fourth  Amendment  dated as of June 28, 1996 to Amended and Restated 
            Revolving Credit  Agreement among Avid  Technology,  Inc., The First 
            National  Bank of  Boston,  as agent,  NationsBank  of Texas,  N.A., 
            BayBank  and  ABN  AMRO  Bank  N.V.   dated  as  of  June  30,  1996 
            (incorporated by reference to the  Registrant's  Quarterly Report on 
            Form 10-Q as filed with the Commission on August 14, 1996,  File No. 
            0-21174). 
 
   10.10    Fifth  Amendment  dated as of July 1, 1996 to Amended  and  Restated 
            Revolving Credit  Agreement among Avid  Technology,  Inc., The First 
            National  Bank of  Boston,  as agent,  NationsBank  of Texas,  N.A., 
            BayBank  and  ABN  AMRO  Bank  N.V.   dated  as  of  June  30,  1996 
            (incorporated by reference to the  Registrant's  Quarterly Report on 
            Form 10-Q as filed with the Commission on August 14, 1996,  File No. 
            0-21174). 
 
   10.11    Sixth  Amendment  dated as of June 27, 1997 to Amended and  Restated 
            Revolving Credit  Agreement and Assignment (the "Sixth  Amendment"), 
            by and among AVID  TECHNOLOGY,  INC.,  a Delaware  corporation  (the 
            "Borrower"),  BANKBOSTON, N.A. (formerly known as The First National 
            Bank of  Boston)  and  the  other  lending  institutions  listed  on 
            Schedule 1 to the Credit Agreement,  amending certain  provisions of 
            the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of June 
            30, 1995  (incorporated by reference to the  Registrant's  Quarterly 
            Report on Form 10-Q as filed with the Commission on August 12, 1997, 
            File No. 0-21174). 
 
   10.12    Seventh  Amendment  dated  as of  October  1,  1997 to  Amended  and 
            Restated  Revolving Credit Agreement (the "Seventh  Amendment"),  by 
            and  among  AVID  TECHNOLOGY,  INC.,  a  Delaware  corporation  (the 
            "Borrower"),  BANKBOSTON, N.A. (formerly known as The First National 
            Bank of  Boston)  and  the  other  lending  institutions  listed  on 
            Schedule 1 to the Credit Agreement,  amending certain  provisions of 
            the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of June 
            30, 1995. 
 
   10.13    Eighth  Amendment  dated as of June 30, 1998 to Amended and Restated 
            Revolving Credit Agreement and Assignment (the "Eighth  Amendment"), 
            by and among Avid Technology,  Inc., BankBoston, N.A (formerly known 
            as The  First  National  Bank  of  Boston)  and  the  other  lending 
            institutions listed on Schedule 1 to the Credit Agreement,  amending 
            certain  provisions  of the Amended and  Restated  Revolving  Credit 
            Agreement  dated as of June 30, 1995  (incorporated  by reference to 
            the  Registrant's  Quarterly  Report on Form 10-Q as filed  with the 
            Commission on August 12, 1998, File No. 0-21174) 
 
   10.14    Ninth  Amendment  dated as of  September  30,  1998 to  Amended  and 
            Restated  Revolving  Credit  Agreement and Assignment,  by and among 
            Avid Technology, Inc., BankBoston, N.A. (formerly known as The First 
            National Bank of Boston) and the other lending  institutions  listed 
            on schedule 1 to the Credit Agreement,  amending certain  provisions 
            of the Amended and Restated  Revolving  Credit Agreement dated as of 
            June  30,  1995  (incorporated  by  reference  to  the  Registrant's 
            Quarterly  Report  on Form  10-Q as  filed  with the  Commission  on 
            November 13, 1998, File No. 0-21174). 
 
   10.15    Form of  Distribution  Agreement  (incorporated  by reference to the 
            Registrant's   Registration   Statement  on  Form  S-1  as  declared 
            effective by the Commission on March 11, 1993, File No. 33-57796). 
 
   10.16    Form of Purchase and License Agreement (incorporated by reference to 
            the  Registrant's  Registration  Statement  on Form S-1 as  declared 
            effective by the Commission on March 11, 1993, File No. 33-57796). 
 
   10.17    Form of Software Only License  Agreement  (incorporated by reference 
            to the Registrant's  Registration  Statement on Form S-1 as declared 
            effective by the Commission on March 11, 1993, File No. 33-57796). 
 
  #10.18    1989  Stock   Option  Plan   (incorporated   by   reference  to  the 
            Registrant's  Registration  Statement  on  Form  S-  1  as  declared 
            effective by the Commission on March 11, 1993,  File No.  33-57796). 
 
  #10.19    1993  Stock  Incentive  Plan   (incorporated  by  reference  to  the 
            Registrant's   Registration   Statement  on  Form  S-1  as  declared 
            effective by the Commission on March 11, 1993, File No. 33-57796). 
 
  #10.20    1993  Director  Stock  Option  Plan,  as  amended  (incorporated  by 
            reference  to the  Registrant's  Proxy  Statement  as filed with the 
            Commission on April 27, 1995, File No. 0-21174). 
 
  #10.21    1993 Executive Compensation Agreement  (incorporated by reference to 
            the  Registrant's  Registration  Statement  on Form S-1 as  declared 
            effective by the Commission on March 11, 1993, File No. 33-57796). 
 
  #10.22    1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan  (incorporated by reference to the 
            Registrant's  Registration  Statement  on Form S-8 as filed with the 
            Commission on June 9, 1993, File No. 33-64130). 
 
  #10.23    1994 Stock Option Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to the 
            Registrant's  Registration  Statement  on Form S-8 as filed with the 
            Commission on October 27, 1995, File No. 33-98692). 



 
  #10.24    Digidesign,  Inc. 1991 Stock Option Plan  (incorporated by reference 
            to  Registrant's  Quarterly  Report on Form  10-Q as filed  with the 
            Commission on May 15, 1995, File No. 0-21174). 
 
  #10.25    1995  Executive  Variable   Compensation  Program  (incorporated  by 
            reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed 
            with the Commission on May 15, 1995, File No. 0-21174). 
 
  #10.26    1998 Executive and Senior Management Variable Compensation Plan. 
 
  #10.27    1997 Stock Option Plan. 
 
  #10.28    1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended. 
 
  #10.29    1998  Non-Qualified  Deferred  Compensation  Plan  (incorporated  by 
            reference to the Registrant's  Registration Statement on Form S-8 as 
            filed with the Commission on December 18, 1997, File No. 33-42569). 
 
  #10.30    1998 Profit Sharing Plan. 
 
  #10.31    Employment Agreement between the Company and William J. Miller. 
 
  #10.32    Change-in-Control  Agreement  between  the  Company  and  William J. 
            Miller. 
 
  #10.33    Employment Agreement between the Company and William L. Flaherty. 
 
  #10.34    Change-in-Control  Agreement  between  the  Company  and  William L. 
            Flaherty. 
 
  #10.35    Employment   agreement   between  the  Company  and  Clifford  Jenks 
            (incorporated by reference to the  Registrant's  Quarterly Report on 
            Form 10-Q as filed with the  Commission  on November 14, 1996,  File 
            No. 0-21174). 
 
 *#10.36    1999 Profit Sharing Plan. 
 
 *#10.37    1999 Executive and Senior Management Variable Compensation Plan. 
 
   10.38    Registration  Rights  Agreement  dated August 3, 1998 by and between 
            Avid  Technology,  Inc. and Microsoft  Corporation  (incorporated by 
            reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q as filed 
            with the Commission on November 13, 1998, File No. 0-21174). 
 
  *10.39    Form of Electronic Software License Agreement. 
 
 *#10.40    Form of  Employment  Agreements  between  the  Company  and  certain 
            Executive Officers. 
 
 *#10.41    Form of Change-in-Control  Agreement between the Company and certain 
            Executive Officers. 
 
 *#10.42    Employment Agreement between the Company and Clifford Jenks. 
 
 *#10.43    Change-in-Control Agreement between the Company and Clifford Jenks. 
 
     *21    Subsidiaries of the Registrant. 
 
   *23.1    Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. 
 
- ----------------- 
*documents filed herewith 
#Management  contract or compensatory plan identified 
  pursuant to Item 14 (a) 3. 
 



                                                                   Exhibit 10.36 
                            1999 PROFIT SHARING PLAN 
 
PARTICIPATION 
      All employees other than those who participate the 1999 Executive Variable 
Compensation  Plan  or  who  receive  sales  commissions  or  similar  forms  of 
compensation. 
 
PLAN GOALS 
 
   In 1999 profit  sharing will be based on a comparison  of Avid's  performance 
   relative to that of its chosen peer group, the S&P High Tech Composite Index, 
   in the categories of ROIC, Earnings Growth Rate and Revenue Growth Rate, with 
   each category being weighted as set forth below. 
 
     Return on Invested Capital (ROIC)             50% weighting 
 
      ROIC = Operating Income (Not Including Acquisition-Related Charges) 
      ------------------------------------------------------------------- 
               Total Non-Cash Assets MINUS Interest-Bearing Debt 
 
     Earnings Growth Rate                          25% weighting 
      Earnings = Operating Income (not including acquisition-related charges) 
 
     Revenue Growth Rate                           25% weighting 
 
PERFORMANCE 
 
   1999  performance  benchmarks  will be established  with reference to the S&P 
   High Tech Composite Index in the four-quarter period ended on (or nearest to) 
   September 30, 1998. 
 
   Avid  must  have  minimum   earnings  growth  in  1999  equal  to  an  amount 
   predetermined  by the Board of  Directors  in order for any payout to be made 
   based on the Earnings Growth goal. 
 
   Avid  must  have  minimum   revenue   growth  in  1999  equal  to  an  amount 
   predetermined  by the Board of  Directors  in order for any payout to be made 
   based on the Revenue Growth goal. 
 
PAYOUT STRUCTURE 
 
   The  Plan  will  begin  paying  out if each  performance  category  equals  a 
   percentile  of peer  group  performance  set by the  Board in each  category. 
   Payout may not exceed maximum amount predetermined by the Board. 
 
   Payouts will be separately determined for each of the Plan goals. 
 
TARGET AWARDS 
 
   The target variable  compensation  award is the award a Plan participant will 
   receive  if Avid  achieves  the median  performance  of its peer group in the 
   specified categories. 
 
   The  target  award  can  be  expressed  either  as a  dollar  amount  or as a 
   percentage of base salary. 
 
PRORATED AWARDS 
 
1.   Any salary  changes  throughout the year are  automatically  prorated since 
     Profit Sharing is calculated on the actual base salary paid during 1999. 
 
2.   If a participant  is hired after January 1, his/her  Profit Sharing will be 
     automatically  prorated for that portion of the fiscal year worked for Avid 
     since it will be  calculated  on actual base salary paid during  1999.  For 
     example,  if the participant is hired July 1, 1999,  his/her Profit Sharing 
     will be based on a half year's base salary. 
 
3.   If a participant  transfers from a temporary to a regular  position  before 
     October 1, 1999,  his/her  Profit  Sharing will be  calculated  on the base 
     salary paid after transferring to the regular position. 
 
4.   If a participant  is on an approved leave of absence for a portion of 1999, 
     his/her  Profit  Sharing will be  calculated on the base salary paid during 
     the year. This has the effect of prorating the award for any portion of the 
     leave which was unpaid. 
 
5.   If a participant  becomes  disabled and qualifies for benefits under Avid's 
     long-term-disability plan, his/her Profit Sharing will be calculated on the 
     base salary paid while on the Avid payroll as an employee. 
 
6.   If a  participant  is laid off by Avid,  the Profit  Sharing  award will be 
     calculated  on the  base  salary  paid  through  the  effective  employment 
     termination  date.  In this case,  the  payout  may not exceed  100% of the 
     prorated target award. 
 
7.   If a participant  dies while in Avid  employment,  the Profit Sharing award 
     will be  calculated  on the base  salary  paid prior to date of death.  The 
     award will be paid to the surviving spouse or, if none, to the estate. 
 
PLAN PAYOUT 
 
   The Plan payout will be determined after audited  financial  results for 1999 
   are  determined  and released,  near the end of January 2000.  Plan payout is 
   expected to occur in February. Employees must be employed by Avid at the time 
   of actual Plan payout to receive their award,  unless eligible for a prorated 
   award as described above. 
 



CHANGES TO THE PLAN 
 
   The  Company  reserves  the right in its sole  discretion  to modify,  amend, 
   revoke, or suspend the Plan at any time. 
 
   This is a Plan summary and is not intended to be and shall not be interpreted 
   as an employment contract. 



                                                                   Exhibit 10.37 
                   1999 EXECUTIVE VARIABLE COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
PARTICIPATION 
 
   Executive  Officers,  Vice Presidents,  Director level and Senior  Consulting 
   Engineers. 
 
 
PLAN GOALS 
 
   In 1999  executive  variable  compensation  will be based on a comparison  of 
   Avid's  performance  relative to that of its chosen peer group,  the S&P High 
   Tech Composite  Index,  in the categories of ROIC,  Earnings  Growth Rate and 
   Revenue Growth Rate, with each category being weighted as set forth below. 
 
   Return on Invested Capital (ROIC)               50% weighting 
 
      ROIC =    Operating Income (not including acquisition-related charges) 
                ------------------------------------------------------------ 
                Total Non-Cash Assets MINUS Interest-Bearing Debt 
 
   Earnings Growth Rate                            25% weighting 
 
      Earnings =  Operating Income (not including acquisition-related charges) 
 
   Revenue Growth Rate                             25% weighting 
 
 
PERFORMANCE 
 
   1999  performance  benchmarks  will be established  with reference to the S&P 
   High Tech Composite Index in the four-quarter period ended on (or nearest to) 
   September 30, 1998. 
 
   Avid  must  have  minimum   earnings  growth  in  1999  equal  to  an  amount 
   predetermined  by the Board of  Directors  in order for any payout to be made 
   based on the Earnings Growth goal. 
 
   Avid  must  have  minimum   revenue   growth  in  1999  equal  to  an  amount 
   predetermined  by the Board of  Directors  in order for any payout to be made 
   based on the Revenue Growth goal. 
 
 
PAYOUT STRUCTURE 
 
   The  Plan  will  begin  paying  out if each  performance  category  equals  a 
   percentile  of peer  group  performance  set by the  Board in each  category. 
   Payout may not exceed maximum amount predetermined by the Board. 
 
   Payouts will be separately determined for each of the Plan goals. 
 
 
TARGET AWARDS 
 
   The target variable  compensation  award is the award a Plan participant will 
   receive  if Avid  achieves  the median  performance  of its peer group in the 
   specified categories. 
 
   The  target  award  can  be  expressed  either  as a  dollar  amount  or as a 
   percentage of base salary. 
 
 
PRORATED AWARDS 
 
   Individual awards will be prorated under the following circumstances: 
 
   1. Any salary changes throughout the year will be prorated. 
 
   2. If a participant is hired after January 1, the variable compensation award 
      will be prorated for that portion of the fiscal year worked for Avid.  For 
      example,  if the  participant is hired July 1, 1999, s/he will receive 50% 
      of the calculated variable compensation award. 
 
   3. If a participant  is promoted  after January 1 to a position with a higher 
      variable  compensation  award,  the 1999 award will be  prorated  for that 
      portion of the fiscal year each award level was in effect. 
 
   4. If a participant  becomes disabled and qualifies for benefits under Avid's 
      long-term  disability  plan,  the  variable  compensation  award  will  be 
      prorated  for that  portion of the fiscal  year s/he was paid  through the 
      Avid payroll as an employee. 
 
   5. If a participant is laid off by Avid, the variable compensation award will 
      be prorated  through the effective  employment  termination  date. In this 
      case, the payout may not exceed 100% of the prorated target award. 
 
   6. If a participant dies while in Avid employment,  the variable compensation 
      award will be prorated  as of the date of death and paid to the  surviving 
      spouse, or if none, to the estate. 
 
 
PLAN PAYOUT 
 
   The Plan payout will be determined after audited  financial  results for 1999 
   are  determined  and released,  near the end of January 2000.  Plan payout is 
   expected to occur in February. Employees must be employed by Avid at the time 
   of actual Plan payout to receive their award,  unless eligible for a prorated 



   award as described above. 
 
 
CHANGES TO THE PLAN 
 
   The  Company  reserves  the right in its sole  discretion  to modify,  amend, 
   revoke, or suspend the Plan at any time. 
 
   This is a Plan summary and is not intended to be and shall not be interpreted 
   as an employment contract. 
 



                                                                   Exhibit 10.39 
                          SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT 
 
AVID TECHNOLOGY,  INC. ("AVID") OR ITS AUTHORIZED DISTRIBUTOR OR RESELLER AS THE 
CASE MAY BE (AVID OR SUCH  DISTRIBUTOR  OR  RESELLER  IS  SOMETIMES  HEREINAFTER 
REFERRED TO AS  "LICENSOR")  IS WILLING TO LICENSE  THIS  SOFTWARE  TO YOU,  THE 
LICENSEE,  ONLY UPON THE CONDITION  THAT YOU ACCEPT THE TERMS  CONTAINED IN THIS 
LICENSE.  BY CLICKING ON THE "ACCEPT" BUTTON,  YOU ARE CONSENTING TO BE BOUND BY 
ALL THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE TO 
ALL THESE TERMS,  THEN  LICENSOR IS UNWILLING TO LICENSE THE SOFTWARE TO YOU, IN 
WHICH  EVENT YOU SHOULD  CLICK THE "DO NOT ACCEPT"  BUTTON AND THE  INSTALLATION 
WILL NOT PROCEED.  IF YOU DO NOT ACCEPT YOU MAY RETURN THE SOFTWARE WITHIN SEVEN 
DAYS OF THE DATE OF PURCHASE TO THE PLACE YOU OBTAINED IT FOR A FULL REFUND. 
 
1.  DEFINITIONS (as used in this Agreement): 
(a) "SOFTWARE" means all software,  in object code only, provided by Licensor to 
you  hereunder,  together  with all  firmware,  technology  contained in circuit 
boards, and all Avid-authorized updates,  replacements or modifications provided 
to you. 
 
(b)  "HARDWARE"  means any  computer  and/or  other  equipment  which is sold by 
Licensor to you in  conjunction  with the  Software.  The  Hardware  may contain 
refurbished parts. 
 
(c)  "DOCUMENTATION"  means the user  guides,  reference  manuals,  installation 
materials  and other  written  materials  relating to the System which  Licensor 
provides to you 
 
(d) "SYSTEM"  means a system  furnished  by Licensor  and  comprised of Hardware 
and/or Software and related Documentation. 
 
2.  LIMITED USE LICENSE 
(a) Subject to the terms and conditions  contained in this  Agreement,  Licensor 
grants,  and you accept, a non-exclusive,  non-transferable  (except as provided 
below) license and right (i) to use the Software only on and in connection  with 
the Hardware at your site, and (ii) to use the  Documentation,  in each case for 
your  internal  purposes  only.  You may not use the Software  separate from the 
Hardware,  or any  replacement  Hardware,  and you may not  make  copies  of the 
Software or  Documentation,  except  that you may make one copy of the  Software 
solely for back-up purposes.  Additionally, you may not distribute copies of the 
Software  or the  Documentation  to others nor may you modify or  translate  the 
Software or  Documentation.  You may not transfer the Software or this  license, 
except in compliance with Avid's license transfer procedures,  which among other 
things require the  transferee  prior to such transfer to agree in writing to be 
bound by your obligations hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, you may rent 
the System to a third party for a temporary,  defined period  provided:  (i) you 
may  not  rent  the  Software  separate  from  the  Hardware;  (ii)  you  remain 
responsible for all of your  obligations  hereunder;  (iii) you ensure that each 
such third party complies with all obligations  hereunder;  (iv) you notify Avid 
on request of the location of the System; and (v) you indemnify, defend and hold 
Licensor  (if not  Avid)  and Avid  harmless  from and  against  any  claims  or 
liabilities that may arise from your rental of the System. 
 
(b) You will  take  all  reasonable  steps to  safeguard  the  Software  and the 
Documentation  and to ensure  that no  unauthorized  persons  have access to the 
Software  or the  Documentation,  and that no  persons  authorized  to have such 
access  shall take any action  which would be  prohibited  by this  Agreement if 
taken by you.  You will not attempt to reverse  engineer or reverse  compile the 
Software,  in whole or in part,  except  that if the  country  in which  you are 
located requires  Licensor to allow you to reverse engineer the Software you may 
do so only for the specific  purposes  for which  Licensor is required by law to 
allow you to reverse engineer. You will include and will not alter or remove any 
copyright,   patent,  trade  secret,  proprietary  and/or  other  legal  notices 
contained on or in the System, including the Software or the Documentation.  The 
existence  of any such  notices on or in the System shall not be construed as an 
admission that publication has occurred. 
 
(c) The Software may have  "authorization  keys" which shall be provided to you. 
An  authorization  key is a unique series of data elements  which enables you to 
use the Software.  Such keys are confidential and  non-transferable  and must be 
destroyed by you upon termination of the license. 
 
(d) If you are renting the System from the  licensee  who  purchased  the System 
from  Licensor,  you  shall be bound by all the  terms  and  conditions  of this 
Agreement  to the same  extent as the such  licensee;  provided,  however,  that 
Licensor makes no warranties to you under Section 6 below,  and you shall not be 
entitled to any Software maintenance and support, if any, provided by Avid under 
Section 7 below. 
 
3.  TITLE 
This license is not a sale of the Software or any copy.  Avid retains  title and 
ownership of the Software and the documentation,  including patents, copyrights, 
trademarks,  trade secrets and other proprietary rights applicable thereto,  and 
all copies,  regardless  of the form or media on or in which the original or any 
copy may exist.  Except as stated herein,  this Agreement does not grant you any 
rights to patents,  copyrights, trade secrets, trademarks or any other rights in 
respect of Software, Hardware and Documentation. 
 
4.  CONFIDENTIALITY 
You acknowledge that the System contains  proprietary and confidential  property 
of Avid and/or Avid's licensors (collectively,  "Confidential Information"). You 
will not disclose,  provide or otherwise  make  available any such  Confidential 
Information to any person other than your employees and/or  consultants who need 
to have  access  thereto  to  carry  out  their  duties  and who  are  bound  by 
appropriate confidentiality or nondisclosure agreements. 
 
5.  GOVERNMENT END USERS 
U.S.  GOVERNMENT  RESTRICTED RIGHTS. The System was developed at private expense 



and with no government funds. If any Software or Documentation is acquired by or 
on behalf of a unit or agency of the U.S. Government, the Government agrees that 
such Software or Documentation is "commercial  computer software" or "commercial 
computer  software  documentation"  and that,  absent a written agreement to the 
contrary, the Government's rights with respect to such Software or Documentation 
are  limited  by the  terms  of the  this  License  Agreement,  pursuant  to FAR 
ss.12.212(a)  and/or  DFARS  ss.227.7202-1(a),  as  applicable.  The Software is 
proprietary  data,  all rights of which are reserved under the copyright laws of 
the United States. 
 
6.  WARRANTY 
(a) Licensor  warrants solely to you that the System will function in accordance 
with  Avid's  published  specifications  for  the  period(s)  set  forth  in the 
applicable warranty policy in effect at the time of purchase. This warranty does 
not apply to  expendable  components,  such as,  but not  limited  to,  computer 
diskettes and tapes.  Licensor does not warrant that your use of the System will 
be uninterrupted or error-free. 
 
(b) If Licensor determines that the System, or the component parts thereof,  for 
which you have requested warranty service are not eligible for warranty service, 
you will pay or reimburse Licensor for all reasonable costs of investigating and 
responding  to such request at  Licensor's  then  prevailing  time and materials 
rates.  If Licensor  provides  repair service or replacement  parts that are not 
covered by the  warranty  provided  in this  Section,  you will pay  Licensor at 
Licensor's then prevailing time and materials rates. 
 
(c) Licensor shall have no obligation to provide warranty or maintenance service 
in respect of claims resulting, in whole or in part, from (i) catastrophe, fault 
or negligence,  (ii) improper or unauthorized use or repair of the System, (iii) 
use of any  System  in a manner  for  which  it was not  designed,  (iv)  causes 
external to the System such as, but not  limited to,  power  failure or electric 
power surges, or (v) use of the System in combination with equipment or software 
not supplied or approved by Avid. 
 
(d)  Notwithstanding the above, no warranty shall apply to Hardware and Software 
which is designated as "limited  release" or  "pre-release"  or otherwise as not 
being  subject to warranty.  All such  Hardware and Software is provided "AS IS" 
AND WITH ALL FAULTS. 
 
EXCEPT AS STATED ABOVE, LICENSOR (IF NOT AVID) AND AVID DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, 
WHETHER  EXPRESS OR IMPLIED,  WRITTEN OR ORAL, WITH RESPECT TO THE SYSTEM OR ANY 
COMPONENT PARTS THEREOF,  INCLUDING ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF  MERCHANTABILITY  OR 
FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. 
 
7.  SOFTWARE MAINTENANCE (Applicable only if Avid provides maintenance) 
Software  maintenance  charges and options are specified in the Avid Maintenance 
Option/Price  List effective from time to time and are subject to change by Avid 
on 30 days'  notice.  In the  event  you  purchase  Software  maintenance,  such 
maintenance  shall be subject to the terms and conditions  effective on the date 
of such purchase,  and Avid shall provide the following,  plus options,  if any, 
which you purchase, effective immediately upon expiry of the applicable warranty 
period. 
 
(a) You will  receive  one copy of  maintenance  releases  to the  Software  and 
Documentation  as they are generally made  available at no additional  charge to 
Avid  customers  which have  purchased  Avid software  maintenance.  Maintenance 
releases may contain minor functional enhancements and corrections. 
 
(b) Avid will use  reasonable  efforts,  including by means of a  workaround  or 
telephone hot-line support,  to cause Software not covered by Avid's warranty to 
perform  substantially  in  accordance  with  specifications  after  having been 
notified by you of non-performance. 
 
(c)  Avid  will  provide  maintenance  only on the  then  most  current  and one 
immediately  prior  version  of  the  Software.  Avid's  obligation  to  provide 
maintenance shall be conditioned on your: using only Avid-approved  products and 
maintaining the correct  operating  environment in accordance with  requirements 
stipulated in the  applicable  System  specifications;  designating  one of your 
employees at each site to be Avid's  single  service  contact and allowing  Avid 
reasonable  access to the System and necessary  data;  promptly  installing  all 
changes  and/or  updates  furnished by or on behalf of Avid;  notifying  Avid in 
writing prior to relocating  the System to a permitted  location  other than the 
site at which the System is then-currently  installed;  and being current in all 
payments to Avid. 
 
(d) In the event you  request a field visit to perform  maintenance  or warranty 
services,  you agree to pay Avid its then-current  charges associated with field 
visits. 
 
8.  LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 
THE MAXIMUM LIABILITY OF LICENSOR AND/OR AVID (AND ITS LICENSORS) ARISING OUT OF 
THE  SALE/LICENSE  OF THE  SYSTEM  OR  THE  USE  THEREOF  OR  THE  PROVISION  OF 
MAINTENANCE, WHETHER BASED UPON WARRANTY, CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE, SHALL NOT 
EXCEED THE ACTUAL PAYMENTS RECEIVED BY IT. 
 
9.  EXCLUSION OF DAMAGES 
IN NO EVENT  SHALL  LICENSOR  AND/OR  AVID (AND ITS  LICENSORS)  BE  LIABLE  FOR 
SPECIAL,  INCIDENTAL,  PUNITIVE,  INDIRECT,  ECONOMIC OR CONSEQUENTIAL  DAMAGES, 
INCLUDING,  BUT NOT LIMITED  TO, LOSS OF DATA OR LOSS OF USE DAMAGES  (INCLUDING 
WITHOUT LIMITATION  "DOWNTIME") AND LOST PROFITS,  ARISING HEREUNDER OR FROM THE 
SALE OF SYSTEM OR THE LICENSE OF THE  SOFTWARE AND  DOCUMENTATION  OR THE USE OF 
ANY OF THEM OR THE PROVISION OF MAINTENANCE. 
 
10. TERM 
This license is effective until terminated. You may terminate the license at any 
time by returning the Software and all Documentation to Licensor and by removing 
the Software and all copies  thereof from the memory of any computer  into which 
the Software has been  transferred.  If you fail to perform any of your material 



obligations hereunder, Licensor will offer you 15 days' opportunity to cure such 
nonperformance.  Upon expiry of such period  without  the  nonperformance  being 
cured,  Licensor may by  immediate  written  notice  terminate  this  Agreement, 
including the license of the Software and the  Documentation.  Within seven days 
of Licensor's  termination  of this  Agreement,  you will return to Licensor the 
original and all copies of the Software and the Documentation.  Any Software you 
are  required  to return  hereunder  includes  circuit  boards  containing  Avid 
proprietary software, firmware or other technology. 
 
11. EXPORT 
You agree that neither the Software nor any direct  product  thereof is being or 
will be shipped,  transferred  or reexported,  directly or indirectly,  into any 
country  prohibited  by the  United  States  Export  Administration  Act and the 
regulations thereunder or will be used for any purposes prohibited by the Act. 
 
12. GENERAL 
(a) If Avid is not the Licensor  under this  Agreement,  the parties  agree that 
Avid is an intended  third party  beneficiary  of this Agreement and may enforce 
the provisions hereof. 
 
(b) This Agreement  supersedes all prior agreements and  understandings  between 
the parties  related to the subject matter herein and is intended by the parties 
to be the complete and exclusive statement of the terms of their Agreement.  Any 
proposed  variations  from or  additions  to  this  Agreement  contained  in any 
purchase order or other  communication which you submit to Licensor will be null 
and  void  unless  agreed  to in  writing  by an  authorized  representative  of 
Licensor. 
 
(c) The remedies  contained  herein are  cumulative and in addition to any other 
remedies at law or equity.  Licensor's failure to enforce, or waiver of a breach 
of, any  provision  hereof shall not  constitute a waiver of any other breach of 
such provision.  You acknowledge  that a breach by you of Section 2 or 4 of this 
Agreement would  constitute  irreparable  harm to Avid for which a remedy at law 
would be inadequate and therefore consent to being enjoined from any such breach 
without requiring Licensor or Avid to post a bond. 
 
(d)  Licensor  shall  not  be  considered  in  default  in  performance  of  its 
obligations hereunder if performance of such obligations is prevented or delayed 
by  acts  of God or  government,  war,  riots,  acts of  civil  disorder,  labor 
disputes,  failure  or  delay of  transportation  or  telecommunications,  or by 
vendors  or  subcontractors,  or any other  similar  cause or causes  beyond its 
reasonable control. 
 
(e) The terms and conditions of this Agreement will be held as  confidential  by 
both parties hereto, provided, however, that Licensor and Avid may cite that you 
are a user of the System. 
 
(f) The System is manufactured for standard commercial uses and are not intended 
to be sold or licensed for use in critical safety systems or nuclear facilities. 
 
(g)  This  Agreement  shall  be  governed  by the  laws of the  Commonwealth  of 
Massachusetts, U.S.A., without regard to conflict of laws rules that would cause 
the laws of any other jurisdiction to apply. 
 
Copyright  (C)  1998,  Avid  Technology,  Inc.  and its  licensors.  All  rights 
reserved. 



                                                                   Exhibit 10.40 
                              EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 
 
                                          March 24, 1997 
 
 
[Name of Executive] 
c/o Avid Technology, Inc. 
Metropolitan Technology Park 
One Park West 
Tewksbury, MA  01876 
 
 
Dear ------------: 
 
      Continuity of management of Avid Technology,  Inc.  ("Avid") is a critical 
factor to the continued  growth and success of Avid. The Avid Board of Directors 
believes  that it is in the  best  interest  of the  Company  to  reinforce  and 
encourage the continued attention and dedication of key members of management to 
their assigned duties. 
 
      In  consideration of the mutual promises  contained in this letter,  it is 
hereby  agreed that Avid shall  provide to you, and that you shall  receive from 
Avid, the benefits set forth in this letter (the "Agreement") if your employment 
with  Avid,  and  its  subsidiaries,  is  terminated  during  the  term  of this 
Agreement. 
 
1.    PURPOSE 
 
      This Agreement  establishes certain special  arrangements  relating to the 
      termination  of your  employment  with Avid for any reason other than: (i) 
      your becoming  totally and  permanently  disabled under the Avid long-term 
      disability plan or policy, or (ii) your death. 
 
2.    TERM OF AGREEMENT 
 
      This Agreement  shall become  effective on the date hereof (the "Effective 
      Date")  and  shall  terminate  one  year  thereafter.  The  term  shall be 
      automatically  extended for  successive  one-year  periods after the first 
      anniversary,  unless 30 days' advance written notice is given by you or by 
      Avid terminating this Agreement as of any anniversary date. 
 
3.    TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT 
 
      Your  employment may be terminated in accordance with any of the following 
      paragraphs,  but only upon one (1) month's  advance  written notice (which 
      period shall be referred to in this Agreement as the "Notice Period"). The 
      expiration of the Notice Period shall be your "Date of Termination." 
 
      (a)  INVOLUNTARY  TERMINATION  WITHOUT  CAUSE.  Avid  may  terminate  your 
      employment  without Cause (as defined below).  In such an event, you shall 
      continue to receive your full base salary during the Notice  Period.  Upon 
      your Date of Termination, you shall be entitled to those benefits provided 
      under Section 4. 
 
      (b) INVOLUNTARY  TERMINATION FOR CAUSE. Avid may terminate your employment 
      for "Cause" by written  notice  setting  forth the Cause for  termination. 
      "Cause"  means a  willful  engaging  in gross  misconduct  materially  and 
      demonstrably injurious to Avid or the willful and continued failure by you 
      substantially to perform your duties with the Company (other than any such 
      failure  resulting from your incapacity due to physical or mental illness) 
      after a written demand for substantial  performance is delivered to you by 
      the Chief Executive  Officer which  specifically  identifies the manner in 
      which the Chief Executive Officer believes that you have not substantially 
      performed your duties. "Willful" means an act or omission in bad faith and 
      without  reasonable belief that such act or omission was in or not opposed 
      to the best interests of Avid. Upon your Date of Termination, you shall be 
      entitled only to those benefits provided under Section 5. 
 
      (c)  VOLUNTARY  TERMINATION  WITHOUT  GOOD  REASON.  You  may  voluntarily 
      terminate your employment  without Good Reason (as defined below). In such 
      an event,  you shall  continue  to  receive  your  full  base  salary  and 
      Employment  Benefits during the Notice Period provided you  satisfactorily 
      perform your duties during the Notice  Period,  unless you are relieved of 
      those duties by Avid. Upon your Date of Termination, you shall be entitled 
      only to those benefits provided under Section 5. 
 
      (d) VOLUNTARY  TERMINATION WITH GOOD REASON. You may voluntarily terminate 
      your employment  with Good Reason.  "Good Reason" shall mean a significant 
      diminution  in your  duties or  responsibilities  that  results in your no 
      longer serving as a [ ] level  employee of the Company.  In such an event, 
      you  shall  continue  to  receive  your full base  salary  and  Employment 
      Benefits  during the Notice Period,  provided you  satisfactorily  perform 
      your duties  during the Notice  Period,  unless you are  relieved of those 
      duties by Avid.  Upon your Date of  Termination,  you shall be entitled to 
      those benefits provided under Section 4. 
 
4.    SPECIAL SEVERANCE BENEFITS 
 
      If your employment with Avid is  involuntarily  terminated by Avid without 
      Cause  pursuant  to Section  3(a) or by you for Good  Reason  pursuant  to 
      Section 3(d), then you shall receive the following benefits as long as you 
      continue to comply with your obligations under Section 8 of this Agreement 
      and any  Invention  and  Nondisclosure  Agreement  (or similar  agreement) 
      between you and the Company: 
 
      (a) Your base salary  shall be  continued in effect for a period of twelve 



      (12)  months  from  your  Date of  Termination  (hereinafter  called  your 
      "Severance  Pay Period").  Avid will also pay you,  during the  thirteenth 
      through  twenty-fourth  months  following  termination,  on a semi-monthly 
      basis,  the  amount  by which  your  monthly  base  salary  at the Date of 
      Termination exceeds your monthly compensation from your new employer; 
 
      (b) You will  receive  incentive  compensation  payments  in an  aggregate 
      amount  equal to your  target  award  for the  calendar  year  immediately 
      preceding  the  calendar  year in which your Date of  Termination  occurs, 
      payable in equal semi-monthly  installments during the 12 months following 
      the  Date of  Termination.  You  shall  have  no  right  to any  pro-rated 
      incentive compensation in respect of the year of termination; 
 
      (c)  Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in any Avid stock plan, 
      or under the terms of any grant,  award  agreement or form for  exercising 
      any right  under any such  plan,  any stock  options or  restricted  stock 
      awards held by you as of the Date of Termination shall become  exercisable 
      or vested,  as the case may be, as to an additional number of shares equal 
      to the number that would have been  exercisable or vested as of the end of 
      the 12 month period immediately following the Date of Termination. Nothing 
      in this  Agreement  shall be  construed  to extend the time period  within 
      which any option may be  exercised  beyond  the  period  specified  in the 
      applicable stock plan or under the terms of any grant,  award agreement or 
      form for exercising any right under any such plan; 
 
      (d) During the Severance Pay Period, in the event you elect to continue to 
      participate  in the  Company's  medical  and  dental  plans to the  extent 
      permitted   under  COBRA,   the  Company   shall  pay  the  cost  of  such 
      participation; and 
 
      (e) You shall be entitled to full executive  outplacement  assistance with 
      an agency selected by Avid. 
 
5.    BENEFITS UPON VOLUNTARY TERMINATION WITHOUT GOOD REASON OR TERMINATION FOR 
      CAUSE. 
 
      Upon your  termination  for Cause in accordance  with Section 3(b) or your 
      termination  without  Good Reason in  accordance  with Section  3(c),  all 
      benefits under this Agreement will be void. In such an event, you shall be 
      eligible for the benefits (if any) provided in  accordance  with the plans 
      and  policies  of Avid  which are then  applicable  to  employees  of Avid 
      generally. 
 
6.    CONFIDENTIALITY. 
 
      The  provisions  of the Employee  Invention and  Non-Disclosure  Agreement 
      between you and Avid shall continue in full force and effect following any 
      termination of employment. 
 
7.    RELATIONSHIP TO CHANGE-IN-CONTROL AGREEMENT, ETC. 
 
      (a)  In  the  event  you  become   entitled  to  any  benefits  under  any 
      Change-in-Control   Employment   Agreement  between  you  and  Avid,  such 
      Change-in-Control  Employment  Agreement  shall control and this agreement 
      shall be void and of no further force or effect. 
 
      (b)  Except  as  expressly  set  forth in  Section  7(a),  this  Agreement 
      supersedes  all prior  agreements  with Avid related to the subject matter 
      hereof,and the special  severance  benefits  provided under this Agreement 
      are to be  provided  instead  of any other  Avid  severance  arrangements. 
      Avid's  severance  policies and  practices  are  superseded  except to the 
      extent  incorporated  herein.   Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,   nothing 
      contained in this  Agreement  shall have any affect upon your rights under 
      any tax qualified  "pension  benefit plan", as such term is defined in the 
      Employee  Retirement  Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (ERISA);  or 
      any other "welfare benefit plan" as defined in ERISA,  including by way of 
      illustration and not limitation,  any medical surgical or  hospitalization 
      benefit coverage or long-term  disability  benefit coverage;  or under any 
      deferred compensation or equity incentive arrangement, including by way of 
      illustration and not limitation,  any stock incentive plan,  non-qualified 
      pension plan, or phantom stock plan. 
 
8. COVENANT NOT TO COMPETE AND NOT TO SOLICIT. 
 
      (a) During the term of this  Agreement,  and for a period of two (2) years 
      following the termination of your employment for any reason, you agree you 
      will not engage in any business  (whether as an owner,  partner,  officer, 
      director,  employee,  consultant or otherwise, except as the holder of not 
      more than 1% of the  outstanding  stock of a  publicly-held  company) that 
      competes or plans to compete with Avid in the business of the development, 
      manufacture,  promotion,  distribution  or sale of digital film,  video or 
      audio editing,  special effects or newsroom automation systems or products 
      or any other  business  in which Avid is engaged or plans to engage at the 
      time of your  termination.  Without  limiting the  foregoing,  during such 
      period you shall not be employed by or otherwise  serve as a consultant to 
      Abekas,  Accom, Adobe, Carlton  Communications,  Chyron, Data Translation, 
      Discreet Logic, DVision, FAST Technology,  Hewlett-Packard, Immix, InSync, 
      Kodak,  Lightworks,  Macromedia,  Matrox, Media 100,  Metacreations,  MGI, 
      Newsmaker, Newstar, Panasonic/Matsushita,  Philips, Pinnacle Systems, Play 
      Systems, Pluto Technologies International,  Progressive Networks, Quantel, 
      SADIE,  Scitex, Sonic Solutions,  SONY,  Microsoft,  Tektronix,  Transoft, 
      Truevision, VDONet or VXtreme or any of their subsidiaries and affiliates. 
 
      (b) You also  agree  that,  for a period of two (2) years from the date of 
      your termination,  you will not, either directly or indirectly  through an 
      agency,  new employer or otherwise,  solicit the employment of (or solicit 
      to engage as an independent  contractor or  consultant)  any person who at 
      any time during the one year preceding such  solicitation  was an employee 



      or independent contractor of Avid or any Avid affiliate. 
 
      (c) If any  restriction  in  this  Section  8 is  found  by any  court  of 
      competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable because it extends for too long 
      a period of time or over too great a range of activities or in too broad a 
      geographic  area, it shall be  interpreted to extend only over the maximum 
      period of time,  range of activities or geographic area as to which it may 
      be enforceable. 
 
      (d) The  restrictions  contained in this Section 8 are  necessary  for the 
      protection of the business and good will of Avid and are considered by you 
      to be  reasonable  for such  purpose.  You agree  that any  breach of this 
      Section  8  will  cause  Avid  substantial  and  irrevocable  damage  and, 
      therefore,  in the event of any such  breach,  in  addition  to such other 
      remedies  which  may be  available,  Avid  shall  have  the  right to seek 
      specific performance and injunctive relief. 
 
9.    NOTICE. 
 
      Notice  required or permitted under this Agreement shall be in writing and 
      shall be deemed to have been given when  delivered or mailed by the United 
      States certified mail,  return receipt  requested,  postage prepaid,  in a 
      properly  addressed  envelope.  Notices to Avid shall be  addressed to the 
      Corporate Secretary. 
 
10.   MODIFICATION; SUCCESSORS. 
 
      No provision of this  Agreement  may be waived,  modified,  or  discharged 
      except  pursuant  to a written  instrument  signed  by you and Avid.  This 
      agreement  is  binding  upon any  successor  to all or  substantially  all 
      business or assets of Avid. 
 
11.   INDEMNIFICATION. 
 
      The Company will indemnify you to the extent set forth in the  Certificate 
      of  Incorporation  and By-Laws of the  Company  for all acts or  omissions 
      occurring during the period of your employment. 
 
12.   MISCELLANEOUS 
 
      This  agreement  shall be governed by and construed  under the laws of the 
      Commonwealth  of  Massachusetts.  The  validity or  enforceability  of any 
      provision  hereof shall not affect the validity or  enforceability  of any 
      other  provision  hereof.  This  Agreement  may be executed in one or more 
      counterparts,  each of which  together  will  constitute  one and the same 
      instrument.  This Agreement represents the entire agreement of the parties 
      with  respect  to the  subject  matter  hereof  and  supersedes  any other 
      agreement between the parties with respect to such subject matter. 
 
 
                                   Sincerely, 
                                   Avid Technology, Inc. 
 
 
                                    By: 
                                       ------------------------ 
                                       Name: 
                                       Title: 
 
 
Accepted and Agreed 
as of March 24, 1997 
 
 
 
- ---------------------- 
 



                                                                   Exhibit 10.41 
                           CHANGE-IN-CONTROL AGREEMENT 
 
 
 
 
[name of executive] 
c/o Avid Technology, Inc. 
Metropolitan Technology Park 
One Park West 
Tewksbury, MA 01876 
 
Dear            : 
    ------------ 
 
      The Board of Directors (the "Board") of Avid  Technology,  Inc. ("Avid" or 
the "Company")  recognizes that your contributions to the past and future growth 
and  success  of the  Company  have been and will be  substantial  and the Board 
desires to assure the Company of your continued  services for the benefit of the 
Company, particularly in the face of a change-in-control of the Company. 
 
      This letter  agreement  ("Agreement")  therefore sets forth those benefits 
which the Company  will provide to you in the event your  employment  within the 
Company is terminated  after a "Change in Control of the Company" (as defined in 
Paragraph 2 (i)) under the circumstances described below. 
 
1.    TERM. 
 
      If a Change in Control of the Company  should occur while you are still an 
employee of the Company,  then this Agreement  shall continue in effect from the 
date of such  Change in  Control  of the  Company  for so long as you  remain an 
employee of the Company,  but in no event for more than two full calendar  years 
following  such Change in Control of the Company;  provided,  however,  that the 
expiration of the term of this Agreement shall not adversely  affect your rights 
under this Agreement which have accrued prior to such  expiration.  If no Change 
in Control of the  Company  occurs  before  your  status as an  employee  of the 
Company is  terminated,  this  Agreement  shall expire on such date.  Prior to a 
Change in Control of the  Company,  your  employment  may be  terminated  by the 
Company  with or without  Cause (as  defined in  Paragraph  3(ii)),  and/or this 
Agreement may be terminated by the Company,  at any time upon written  notice to 
you and, in either or both such events,  you shall not be entitled to any of the 
benefits  provided  hereunder;  provided,  however,  that  the  Company  may not 
terminate  this  Agreement  following the  occurrence  of a Potential  Change in 
Control of the Company (as defined in Paragraph  2(ii))  unless (a) at least one 
year has  expired  since the most recent  event or  transaction  constituting  a 
Potential  Change in Control of the  Company  and (b) in respect of a  Potential 
Change  in  Control  of the  Company  which  previously  occurred,  no  facts or 
circumstances  continue to exist which,  if initially  occurring at the time any 
termination of this Agreement is to occur,  would  constitute a Potential Change 
in Control of the Company. 
 
2.    CHANGE IN CONTROL; POTENTIAL CHANGE IN CONTROL. 
 
      (i) For purposes of this  Agreement,  a "Change in Control of the Company" 
      shall be  deemed  to have  occurred  only if any of the  following  events 
      occur: 
 
            (a) The  acquisition by an  individual,  entity or group (within the 
            meaning of Section  13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Securities  Exchange 
            Act of  1934,  as  amended  (the  "Exchange  Act"))(a  "Person")  of 
            beneficial  ownership  (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated 
            under  the  Exchange  Act)  of 30% or more of  either  (i) the  then 
            outstanding  shares of common stock of the Company (the "Outstanding 
            Company Common Stock") or (ii) the combined voting power of the then 
            outstanding  voting  securities  of the  Company  entitled  to  vote 
            generally  in the election of directors  (the  "Outstanding  Company 
            Voting Securities");  provided,  however,  that for purposes of this 
            subsection  (i), the following  acquisitions  shall not constitute a 
            Change of Control:  (A) any  acquisition  directly from the Company, 
            (B) any  acquisition  by the  Company,  (C) any  acquisition  by any 
            employee  benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by 
            the Company or any corporation controlled by the Company, or (D) any 
            acquisition  by any  corporation  pursuant  to a  transaction  which 
            satisfies  the  criteria  set forth in clauses  (A),  (B) and (C) of 
            subparagraph (c) of this Paragraph 2(i); or 
 
            (b)  Individuals  who, as of the date hereof,  constitute  the Board 
            (the "Incumbent  Board") cease for any reason to constitute at least 
            a majority  of the Board;  provided,  however,  that any  individual 
            becoming a director  subsequently to the date hereof whose election, 
            or  nomination  for  election  by the  Company's  shareholders,  was 
            approved  by a vote of at least a  majority  of the  directors  then 
            comprising  the  Incumbent  Board shall be considered as though such 
            individual were a member of the Incumbent Board, but excluding,  for 
            this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of office 
            occurs as a result of an actual or threatened  election contest with 
            respect to the  election or removal of  directors or other actual or 
            threatened  solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a 
            Person other than the Board; or 
 
            (c)  Consummation of a  reorganization,  merger or  consolidation or 
            sale or other  disposition of all or substantially all of the assets 
            of the Company (a  "Business  Combination"),  in each case,  unless, 
            following such Business Combination, (A) all or substantially all of 
            the  individuals  and  entities  who  were  the  beneficial  owners, 
            respectively,   of  the   Outstanding   Company   Common  Stock  and 
            Outstanding  Company  Voting  Securities  immediately  prior to such 
            Business Combination beneficially own, directly or indirectly,  more 



            than 50% of,  respectively,  the  then-outstanding  shares of common 
            stock and the combined voting power of the  then-outstanding  voting 
            securities  entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, 
            of the corporation  resulting from such Business  Combination (which 
            as used in this Paragraph 2(i)(c) shall include, without limitation, 
            a  corporation  which as a result  of such  transaction  owns all or 
            substantially all of the Company's assets either directly or through 
            one or more  subsidiaries) in substantially  the same proportions as 
            their ownership  immediately  prior to such Business  Combination of 
            the Outstanding  Company Common Stock and Outstanding Company Voting 
            Securities,  as the case  may be and (B) no  Person  (excluding  any 
            corporation resulting from such Business Combination or any employee 
            benefit plan (or related  trust) of the Company or such  corporation 
            resulting  from  such  Business   Combination)   beneficially  owns, 
            directly  or  indirectly,  30% or more  of,  respectively,  the then 
            outstanding shares of common stock of the corporation resulting form 
            such  Business  Combination,  or the  combined  voting  power of the 
            then-outstanding voting securities of such corporation. 
 
      (ii) For purposes of this Agreement, a "Potential Change in Control of the 
      Company"  shall be deemed to have  occurred if (A) the Company shall enter 
      into  an  agreement,  the  consummation  of  which  would  result  in  the 
      occurrence of a Change in Control of the Company,  or (B) any person shall 
      publicly announce an intention to take or to consider taking actions which 
      if consummated would constitute a Change in Control of the Company, or (C) 
      the Company shall receive any written  communication  from any third party 
      or third parties, acting as principal or as authorized representative of a 
      disclosed  principal,   which  is  publicly  disclosed  and  proposes  (or 
      indicates a desire to engage in discussions relating to the possibility of 
      or with a view  toward) a  transaction  the  consummation  of which  would 
      result in the occurrence of a Change in Control of the Company, or (D) any 
      Person  other than the  Company or a  subsidiary  thereof or any  employee 
      benefit  plan  sponsored  by the  Company  or a  subsidiary  thereof  or a 
      corporation  owned,  directly or indirectly,  by the  shareholders  of the 
      Company in substantially  the same proportions as their ownership of stock 
      in the Company,  shall (I) become the beneficial owner (within the meaning 
      of  Rule  13d-3  under  the  Exchange  Act),  (II)  disclose  directly  or 
      indirectly  to the Company or publicly a plan or  intention  to become the 
      beneficial  owner or (E) any  Person  described  in  clause  (D) above who 
      becomes the beneficial  owner,  directly or  indirectly,  of voting shares 
      representing 20.0% or more of the combined voting power of the Outstanding 
      Company Voting Securities shall increase his beneficial  ownership of such 
      securities by 5% or more over the percentage  acquired in the  transaction 
      which  previously  gave rise to the  occurrence  of a Potential  Change in 
      Control  of the  Company.  Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  any  event or 
      transaction which would otherwise constitute a Potential Change in Control 
      of the Company shall not  constitute a Potential  Change in Control of the 
      Company  if the  negotiations  or other  actions  leading to such event or 
      transaction  were initiated by the Company (it being  understood  that the 
      occurrence  of such a  Company-initiated  event or  transaction  shall not 
      affect the  existence  of any  Potential  Change in Control of the Company 
      resulting from any other event or transaction). 
 
3.    TERMINATION FOLLOWING CHANGE IN CONTROL. 
 
      If a Change in Control of the Company  shall have  occurred  while you are 
still an employee of the  Company,  you shall be  entitled to the  payments  and 
benefits provided in Paragraph 4 hereof upon the subsequent  termination of your 
employment within two (2) full calendar years of such Change in Control,  by you 
or by the  Company  unless  such  termination  is (a)  because  of your death or 
"Disability",  (b) by the Company for "Cause" (as defined below),  or (c) by you 
other than for "Good  Reason" (as  defined  below),  in any of which  events you 
shall not be entitled to receive benefits under this Agreement. 
 
      (i)  "DISABILITY".  If, as a result of your  incapacity due to physical or 
      mental illness,  you shall have been deemed  "disabled" by the institution 
      appointed by the Company to administer the Company's Long-Term  Disability 
      Plan (or  successor  plan)  because  you shall have been  absent from your 
      duties with the Company on a full-time  basis for six months and shall not 
      have returned to full-time  performance  of your duties within thirty days 
      after  written  notice  is given  you,  the  Company  may  terminate  your 
      employment for Disability. 
 
      (ii) "CAUSE".  For the purposes of this Agreement,  the Company shall have 
      "Cause" to terminate your employment only upon 
 
            (A) the  willful  and  continued  failure  by you  substantially  to 
            perform  your duties with the Company  (other than any such  failure 
            resulting from your  incapacity due to physical or mental illness or 
            any failure resulting from your terminating your employment with the 
            Company for "Good Reason" (as defined below)) after a written demand 
            for  substantial  performance is delivered to you by the Board which 
            specifically  identifies the manner in which the Board believes that 
            you have not substantially performed your duties, or (B) the willful 
            engaging  by you in gross  misconduct  materially  and  demonstrably 
            injurious to the Company. 
 
            For purposes of this  paragraph,  no act, or failure to act, on your 
            part shall be  considered  "willful"  unless done,  or omitted to be 
            done,  by you not in good faith and without  reasonable  belief that 
            your action or omission  was in the best  interests  of the Company. 
            Notwithstanding the foregoing,  you shall not be deemed to have been 
            terminated  for  Cause  unless  and  until  there  shall  have  been 
            delivered  to  you a  copy  of a  resolution  duly  adopted  by  the 
            affirmative  vote of not  less  than  three-quarters  of the  entire 
            membership  of the Board at a meeting  of the Board  called and held 
            for that purpose  (after at least 20 days prior notice to you and an 
            opportunity for you, together with your counsel,  to be heard before 



            the Board),  finding that in the good faith opinion of the Board you 
            failed to perform your duties or engaged in  misconduct as set forth 
            in clause  (A) or (B) of this  Paragraph  3(ii) and that you did not 
            correct such failure or cease such misconduct  after being requested 
            to do so by the Board. 
 
      (iii) "GOOD REASON".  You may terminate  your  employment for Good Reason. 
      For purpose of this Agreement, "Good Reason" shall mean: 
 
            (A) the  assignment  to you of any  duties  materially  inconsistent 
            with,  or  any  material  diminution  of,  your  positions,  duties, 
            responsibilities, and status with the Company immediately prior to a 
            Change in  Control  of the  Company,  or a  material  change in your 
            titles  or  offices  as in effect  immediately  prior to a Change in 
            Control of the Company,  or any removal of you from,  or any failure 
            to reelect you to, any such positions; 
 
            (B) a  reduction  by the  Company  in your  base  salary  in  effect 
            immediately prior to a Change in Control of the Company or a failure 
            by the Company to increase your base salary  (within  fifteen months 
            of your last increase) in an amount which is substantially  similar, 
            on a percentage  basis, to the average  percentage  increase in base 
            salary for all  officers  of the  Company  during the twelve  months 
            preceding your increase; 
 
            (C) the  failure  by the  Company  to  continue  in effect  any life 
            insurance,  health or accident or  disability  plan in which you are 
            participating or are eligible to participate at the time of a Change 
            in Control of the Company (or plans providing you with substantially 
            similar  benefits),  except as  otherwise  required in terms of such 
            plans as in  effect  at the time of any  Change  in  Control  of the 
            Company  or the  taking of any  action by the  Company  which  would 
            adversely  affect your  participation  in or materially  reduce your 
            benefits  under any of such  plans or  deprive  you of any  material 
            fringe benefits enjoyed by you at the time of a Change in Control of 
            the  Company or the  failure by the  Company to provide you with the 
            number of paid vacation days to which you are entitled in accordance 
            with the vacation policies of the Company in effect at the time of a 
            Change in Control of the Company; 
 
            (D) the  failure  by the  Company  to (i)  continue  in  effect  any 
            material  incentive  or  variable  compensation  plan in  which  you 
            participate  immediately  prior to the Change of Control,  unless an 
            equitable   arrangement   (embodied  in  an  ongoing  substitute  or 
            alternative  plan) has been made with  respect  to such  plan,  (ii) 
            continue  your  participation  therein  (or in  such  substitute  or 
            alternative plan) on a basis not materially less favorable,  both in 
            terms of the  amount  of  benefits  provided  and the  level of your 
            participation relative to other participants, as existed at the time 
            of the  Change of  Control  or (iii)  award  cash  bonuses to you in 
            amounts and in a manner substantially  consistent with past practice 
            in light of the Company's financial performance; 
 
            (E) any  requirement  by the Company  that (i) the location of which 
            you perform  your  principal  duties for the Company be changed to a 
            new  location  that is more than 45 miles from the location at which 
            you perform your principal duties for the Company at the time of the 
            Change in Control of the Company or (ii) you are  required to travel 
            on an overnight  basis to a  significantly  greater  extent than you 
            were  required  to so travel  prior to the  Change in Control of the 
            Company; 
 
            (F) any  material  breach by the  Company of any  provision  of this 
            Agreement (including, without limitation, Paragraph 6), which is not 
            cured within 30 days after written notice thereof; or 
 
            (G) any  purported  termination  of your  employment  by the Company 
            which is not effected pursuant to a Notice of Termination satisfying 
            the  requirements  of  subparagraph  (iv) below (and, if applicable, 
            subparagraph  (ii) above);  and for purposes of this  Agreement,  no 
            such purported termination shall be effective. 
 
      (iv) NOTICE OF  TERMINATION.  Any  termination by the Company  pursuant to 
      subparagraphs  (i) or (ii) above or by you pursuant to subparagraph  (iii) 
      above shall be  communicated by written Notice of Termination to the other 
      party hereto.  For purposes of this  Agreement,  a "Notice of Termination" 
      shall  mean  a  notice  which  shall  indicate  the  specific  termination 
      provision in this Agreement  relied upon and shall set forth in reasonable 
      detail  the  facts  and  circumstances  claimed  to  provide  a basis  for 
      termination of your termination under the provision so indicated. 
 
      (v) DATE OF TERMINATION. "Date of Termination" shall mean: 
 
            (A) if this  Agreement is  terminated  for  Disability,  thirty days 
            after Notice of  Termination  is given  (provided that you shall not 
            have returned to the performance of your duties on a full-time basis 
            during such thirty-day period), 
 
            (B) if your employment is terminated  pursuant to subparagraph (iii) 
            above, the date specified in the Notice of Termination, and 
 
            (C) if your employment is terminated for any other reason,  the date 
            on which a  Notice  of  Termination  is given  (or,  if a Notice  of 
            Termination is not given, the date of such termination). 
 
4.    COMPENSATION DURING DISABILITY OR UPON TERMINATION. 
 
      (i) If,  after a Change in  Control  of the  Company,  you  shall  fail to 



      perform your duties hereunder as a result of incapacity due to Disability, 
      you shall  continue to receive  your full base salary twice a month at the 
      rate then in effect and any awards under the  Executive/Senior  Management 
      Variable  Compensation Plan or any successor plan shall continue to accrue 
      and to be paid during  such period  until your  employment  is  terminated 
      (and, if the Company  maintains a Long Term Disability  Plan, you shall be 
      eligible for coverage  thereunder in accordance with the terms thereof and 
      subject  to the  satisfaction  of  all  applicable  conditions,  including 
      without  limitation,  the timely  filing of a notice of claim);  provided, 
      however, in the event the Company makes no interim individual accruals for 
      the  Executive/Senior   Management  Variable   Compensation  Plan  or  any 
      successor  plan in  respect of any period for which no award has been made 
      under such Plan you shall receive payment during such period of Disability 
      in the amount equal to the product of (a) the amount  awarded to you under 
      such Plan or any  successor  plan during the period most  recently  ended, 
      multiplied by (b) a fraction (hereinafter the "Partial Service Fraction"), 
      the  numerator  of  which is the  whole  and  partial  months  of  service 
      completed  in the  current  period,  and the  denominator  of which is the 
      number of months in the period most recently  ended for which an award was 
      made. 
 
      (ii) If, after a Change in Control of the Company,  your employment  shall 
      be  terminated  for Cause,  the  Company  shall pay you for your full base 
      salary  through the Date of  Termination at the rate in effect at the time 
      Notice of  Termination  is given and the  Company  shall  have no  further 
      obligations to you under this Agreement. 
 
      (iii) If,  within two years after a Change in Control of the Company,  the 
      Company shall terminate your employment,  other than pursuant to Paragraph 
      3(i) or 3(ii) hereof or by reason of death,  or you shall  terminate  your 
      employment for Good Reason; 
 
            (A) The Company shall pay you as severance  pay (and without  regard 
            to the  provisions of any benefit plan) in a lump sum in cash on the 
            fifth day following the Date of Termination, the following amounts: 
 
                  (x) your  accrued but unpaid  base salary  through the Date of 
                  Termination  at the  rate in  effect  at the  time  Notice  of 
                  Termination is given,  plus an amount equal to the amount,  if 
                  any, of any incentive  compensation awards which have not been 
                  paid  but   which   have   been   earned   by  you  under  the 
                  Executive/Senior  Management Variable Compensation Plan or any 
                  successor  plan  (including  awards which have been  deferred, 
                  except to the extent such awards have been transferred,  prior 
                  to a Change in Control  of the  Company,  by the  Company to a 
                  trustee in an irrevocable  trust) it being understood that you 
                  shall be deemed to have earned in each year for which an award 
                  shall be  payable  an amount  equal to the  product of (a) the 
                  amount  awarded  you  under  such Plan or any  successor  plan 
                  during the period most recently  ended,  multiplied by (b) the 
                  Partial Service Fraction; and 
 
                  (y) an amount  equal to the sum of your  annual base salary at 
                  the highest rate in effect during the twelve (12) month period 
                  immediately  preceding the Date of Termination  plus two times 
                  the   amount   of  the   highest   award  to  you   under  the 
                  Executive/Senior  Management Variable Compensation Plan or any 
                  successor plan during the twenty-four  (24) month period ended 
                  on the Date of Termination. 
 
            (B) For a twenty-four (24) month period after such termination,  the 
            Company shall arrange to provide you with life, dental, accident and 
            group health insurance benefits  substantially similar to those that 
            you were  receiving  immediately  prior to such  termination  to the 
            extent that the  Company's  plans then permit the Company to provide 
            you with such benefits.  Notwithstanding the foregoing,  the Company 
            shall not  provide  any such  benefits  to you to the extent that an 
            equivalent  benefit is received by you from another  employer during 
            such period, and you shall report any such benefit actually received 
            by you to the Company; 
 
            (C)  The   exercisability  of  all  outstanding  stock  options  and 
            restricted  stock  awards  then  held  by you  shall  accelerate  in 
            full,provided  that if such acceleration would disqualify the Change 
            in Control from being  accounted  for as a pooling of interests  and 
            such  accounting  treatment  would  otherwise  be  available  and is 
            desired,  such  exercisability  and vesting will not be accelerated; 
            and 
 
            (D) You shall be entitled to full executive outplacement  assistance 
            with an agency selected by the Company. 
 
      (iv) You shall not be  required  to  mitigate  the  amount of any  payment 
      provided for in this Paragraph 4 by seeking other employment or otherwise, 
      nor shall the amount of any payment  provided  for in this  Paragraph 4 be 
      reduced by any  compensation  earned by you as the result of employment by 
      another employer after the Date of Termination, or otherwise. 
 
      (v) Nothing in this  Agreement  shall prevent or limit your  continuing or 
      future participation in any plan, program,  policy or practice provided by 
      the Company to its employees and for which you may qualify nor, subject to 
      Paragraph 13 hereof,  shall anything herein limit or otherwise affect such 
      rights as you may have under any contract or agreement between you and the 
      Company; provided, however, that to the extent you are entitled to receive 
      any payments hereunder upon termination of your employment,  you shall not 
      be entitled to any payments under any severance plan,  program,  policy or 
      practice of the Company then in effect. 
 



5.    CERTAIN ADDITIONAL PAYMENTS BY THE COMPANY. 
 
      (i) Anything in this Agreement to the contrary  notwithstanding and except 
      as set forth below,  in the event it shall be determined  that any payment 
      or  distribution  by the  Company  to or for the your  benefit  and/or any 
      acceleration of vesting of any options or restricted stock awards (whether 
      paid or payable or distributed or  distributable  or provided  pursuant to 
      the terms of this Agreement or otherwise, but determined without regard to 
      any  additional  payments  required  under this Paragraph 5) (a "Payment") 
      would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Internal 
      Revenue Code or any interest or penalties are incurred by you with respect 
      to such excise tax (such excise tax,  together  with any such interest and 
      penalties,  are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Excise Tax"), 
      then you shall be entitled to receive an  additional  payment (a "Gross-Up 
      Payment")  in an amount  such that  after the  payment by you of all taxes 
      (including any interest or penalties  imposed with respect to such taxes), 
      including,  without  limitation,  any income  taxes (and any  interest  an 
      penalties  imposed with  respect  thereto) and Excise Tax imposed upon the 
      Gross-Up  Payment,  you retain an amount of the Gross-Up  Payment equal to 
      the Excise Tax imposed upon the Payments.  Not  withstanding the foregoing 
      provisions of this Paragraph  5(i), if it shall be determined that you are 
      entitled to a Gross-Up  Payment,  but that you,  after taking into account 
      the Payments and the Gross-Up  Payment,  would not receive a net after-tax 
      benefit of at least $50,000 (taking into account both income taxes and any 
      Excise  Tax) as compared to the net  after-tax  proceeds to you  resulting 
      from  an  elimination  of the  Gross-Up  Payment  and a  reduction  of the 
      Payments,  in an aggregate,  to an amount (the "Reduced Amount") such that 
      the  receipt of Payments  would not give rise to any Excise  Tax,  then no 
      Gross-Up Payment shall be made to you and the Payments,  in the aggregate, 
      shall be reduced to the Reduced Amount. 
 
      (ii) Subject to the  provisions  of  Paragraph  5(i),  all  determinations 
      required to be made under this Paragraph 5,  including  whether and when a 
      Gross-Up  Payment is required and the amount of such Gross-Up  Payment and 
      the assumptions to be utilized in arriving at such determination, shall be 
      made by Coopers and Lybrand or such other certified public accounting firm 
      as may be  designated by the Company (the  "Accounting  Firm") which shall 
      provide  detailed  supporting  calculations  to both the  Company  and you 
      within 15  business  days of the receipt of notice from you that there has 
      been a Payment,  or such earlier  time as is requested by the Company.  In 
      the event that the Accounting Firm is serving as accountant or auditor for 
      the  individual,  entity,  or group  affecting the Change of Control,  the 
      Company shall appoint  another  nationally  recognized  accounting firm to 
      make the determinations required hereunder. 
 
      All  fees  and  expenses  of the  Accounting  Firm  shall  be borne by the 
      Company. Any Gross-Up Payment, as determined pursuant to this Paragraph 5, 
      shall  be paid by the  Company  to you  within  ten  business  days of the 
      receipt of the Accounting Firm's  determination.  Any determination by the 
      Accounting  Firm shall be binding upon the Company and you. As a result of 
      the uncertainty in the application of Section 4999 of the Code at the time 
      of the initial  determination  by the  Accounting  Firm  hereunder,  it is 
      possible  that  Gross-Up  Payments  which  will not have  been made by the 
      Company  should  have  been  made  ("Underpayment"),  consistent  with the 
      calculations required to be made hereunder.  In the event that the Company 
      exhausts its remedies  pursuant to Paragraph 5(iii) and you thereafter are 
      required to make a payment of any Excise Tax,  the  Accounting  Firm shall 
      determine  the amount of the  Underpayment  that has occurred and any such 
      Underpayment shall be promptly paid by the Company to or for your benefit. 
 
      (iii) You shall notify the Company in writing of any claim by the Internal 
      Revenue  Service  that,  if  successful,  would require the payment by the 
      Company of the Gross-Up Payment.  Such notification shall be given as soon 
      as practical but no later than ten business days after you are informed in 
      writing of such a claim and shall apprise the Company of the nature of the 
      claim  and the  date on which  such  claim is  requested  to be paid.  The 
      Executive  shall not pay such claim prior to the  expiration of the 30-day 
      period following the date on which it gives such notice to the Company (or 
      such  shorter  period  ending on the date that any  payment  of taxes with 
      respect  to such claim is due).  If the  Company  notifies  you in writing 
      prior to the  expiration  of such period  that it desires to contest  such 
      claim, you shall: 
 
            (A) give the Company any  information  reasonably  requested  by the 
            Company relating to such claim, 
 
            (B) take such action in connection with contesting such claim as the 
            Company  shall  reasonably  request  in  writing  from time to time, 
            including,  without limitation,  accepting legal representation with 
            respect  to such claim by an  attorney  reasonably  selected  by the 
            Company, 
 
            (C) cooperate with the Company in good faith in order to effectively 
            contest such claim, and 
 
            (D) permit the Company to participate in any proceedings relating to 
            such claim, 
 
      provided,  however, that the Company shall bear and pay directly all costs 
      and expenses  (including  additional  interest and penalties)  incurred in 
      connection with such contest and shall indemnify and hold you harmless, on 
      an after-tax basis,  for any Excise Tax or income tax (including  interest 
      and  penalties  with  respect   thereto)  imposed  as  a  result  of  such 
      representation  and payment of costs and expenses.  Without  limitation of 
      the  foregoing  provisions  of this  Paragraph  5(iii),  the Company shall 
      control all proceedings  taken in connection with such contest and, at its 
      sole  option,  may  pursue or forego any and all  administrative  appeals, 
      proceedings, hearings and conferences with the taxing authority in respect 



      of such claim and may, at its sole  option,  either  direct you to pay the 
      tax  claimed  and  sue  for a  refund  or to  contest  the  claim  in  any 
      permissible  manner,  and  you  agree  to  prosecute  such  contest  to  a 
      determination  before any administrative  tribunal,  in a court of initial 
      jurisdiction  and in one or more  appellate  courts,  as the Company shall 
      determine;  provided, however, that if the Company directs you to pay such 
      claim and sue for a refund,  the Company  shall advance the amount of such 
      payment to you, on an  interest-free  basis,  and shall indemnify and hold 
      the you harmless, on an after-tax basis, from any Excise Tax or income tax 
      (including  interest or  penalties  with  respect  thereto)  imposed  with 
      respect to such advance or with respect to any imputed income with respect 
      to such advance; and further provided that any extension of the statute of 
      limitations  relating  to  payment  of taxes  for your  taxable  year with 
      respect  to which  such  contested  amount is claimed to be due is limited 
      solely to such contested amount. Furthermore, the Company's control of the 
      contest  shall be  limited  to issues  with  respect  to which a  Gross-Up 
      Payment would be payable  hereunder and you shall be entitled to settle or 
      contest,  as the case may be,  any  other  issue  raised  by the  Internal 
      Revenue Service or other taxing authority. 
 
      (iv) If,  after the  receipt by you of an amount  advanced  by the Company 
      pursuant to Paragraph  5(iii),  you become  entitled to receive any refund 
      with  respect  to  such a  claim,  you  shall  (subject  to the  Company's 
      complying with the  requirements of Paragraph  5(iii)) promptly pay to the 
      Company  the amount of such refund  (together  with any  interest  paid or 
      credited thereon after taxes applicable thereto). If, after the receipt by 
      you of an amount advanced by the Company  pursuant to Paragraph  5(iii), a 
      determination  is made that you shall not be  entitled  to any refund with 
      respect  to such claim any the  Company  does not notify you in writing of 
      its intent to contest such denial of refund prior to the  expiration of 30 
      days after such  determination,  then such  advance  shall be forgiven and 
      shall not be  required to be repaid and the amount of such  advance  shall 
      offset, to the extent thereof,  the amount of Gross-Up Payment required to 
      be paid. 
 
6.    SUCCESSOR'S BINDING AGREEMENT. 
 
      (i) The Company will require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by 
      purchase, merger, consolidation, or otherwise) to all or substantially all 
      of the business and/or the assets of the Company,  expressly to assume and 
      agree to perform this  Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent 
      that the Company  would be required to perform if no such  succession  had 
      taken place. As used in this  Agreement,  "Company" shall mean the Company 
      as  defined  above and any  successor  to its  business  and/or  assets as 
      aforesaid  which executes and delivers the agreement  provided for in this 
      paragraph  6 or  which  otherwise  becomes  bound  by all  the  terms  and 
      provisions of this Agreement by operation of law. 
 
      (ii) This Agreement  shall inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, 
      your  personal  or  legal  representatives,   executors,   administrators, 
      successors, heirs, distributees,  devisees and legatees. If you should die 
      while any  amounts  would  still be  payable to you  hereunder  if you had 
      continued to live, all such amounts,  unless  otherwise  provided  herein, 
      shall be paid in  accordance  with the  terms  of this  Agreement  to your 
      devisee,  legatee or other designee or, if there be no such  designee,  to 
      your estate. 
 
7.    EMPLOYMENT. 
 
      In consideration of the foregoing obligations of the Company, you agree to 
be bound by the  terms and  conditions  of this  Agreement  and to remain in the 
employ of the Company during any period following the announcement by any person 
of any proposed transaction or transactions which, if effected,  would result in 
a Change in Control of the Company  until a Change in Control of the Company has 
taken  place,  or in the  opinion of the Board,  such  person has  abandoned  or 
terminated its efforts to effect a Change in Control of the Company.  Subject to 
the foregoing,  nothing contained in this Agreement shall impair or interfere in 
any way with your right to terminate your employment or the right of the Company 
to terminate your  employment with or without Cause prior to a Change in Control 
of the  Company.  Nothing  contained in this  Agreement  shall be construed as a 
contract  of  employment  between  the  Company and you or as a right for you to 
continue in the employ of the Company,  or as a  limitation  on the right of the 
Company to discharge  you with or without  Cause prior to a Change in Control of 
the Company. 
 
8.    COMPETITIVE ACTIVITY. 
 
      (i) If your employment  terminates under circumstances that entitle you to 
      receive  benefits under this Agreement (as described in the first sentence 
      of paragraph 3 of this  Agreement),  then,  unless the Company  materially 
      breaches  this  Agreement,  you agree you will not for a period of one (1) 
      year after such termination  engage in any business  (whether as an owner, 
      partner, officer, director,  employee,  consultant or otherwise, except as 
      the holder of not more than 1% of the outstanding stock of a publicly-held 
      company)  that  competes or plans to compete  with Avid in the business of 
      the development,  manufacture,  promotion, distribution or sale of digital 
      film,  video or audio  editing,  special  effects or  newsroom  automation 
      systems  or  products  or any other  business  in which Avid is engaged or 
      plans to  engage at the time of your  termination.  Without  limiting  the 
      foregoing,  during such  period you shall not be employed by or  otherwise 
      serve as a consultant to Abekas,  Accom,  Adobe,  Carlton  Communications, 
      Chyron,  Data  Translation,  Discreet  Logic,  DVision,  FAST  Technology, 
      Hewlett-Packard,  Immix, InSync, Kodak,  Lightworks,  Macromedia,  Matrox, 
      Media 100, Metacreations,  MGI, Newsmaker, Newstar,  Panasonic/Matsushita, 
      Philips, Pinnacle Systems, Play Systems, Pluto Technologies International, 
      Progressive  Networks,  Quantel,  SADIE,  Scitex,  Sonic Solutions,  SONY, 
      Softimage/Microsoft,  Tektronix,  Transoft, Truevision, VDONet or VXtreme, 
      or any of their subsidiaries and affiliates. 



 
      (ii) You also  agree  that,  for a period of one (1) year from the date of 
      your termination,  you will not, either directly or indirectly  through an 
      agency,  new employer or otherwise,  solicit the employment of (or solicit 
      to engage as an independent  contractor or  consultant)  any person who at 
      any time during the one year preceding such  solicitation  was an employee 
      or independent contractor of Avid or any Avid affiliate. 
 
9.    INJUNCTIVE RELIEF. 
 
      You  acknowledge  and agree that the remedy of the  Company at law for any 
breach  of the  covenants  and  agreements  contained  in  Paragraph  8 of  this 
Agreement  will be  inadequate,  and  that the  Company  shall  be  entitled  to 
injunctive  relief against any such breach or threatened  breach.  You represent 
and agree that such  injunctive  relief  shall not  prohibit  you from earning a 
livelihood acceptable to you. 
 
10.   NOTICE. 
 
      For the purposes of this Agreement,  notices and all other  communications 
provided for in this  Agreement  shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have 
been duly given  when  delivered  or mailed by United  States  registered  mail, 
return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed to the respective addresses 
set forth on the first page of this  Agreement,  provided that all other notices 
to the Company should be directed to the attention to the Corporate Secretary of 
the Company,  or to such address as either party may have furnished to the other 
in writing in  accordance  herewith,  except  that  notices of change of address 
shall be effective only upon receipt. 
 
11.   INDEMNIFICATION. 
 
      The Company will indemnify you to the extent set forth in the  Certificate 
of  Incorporation  and  By-laws  of the  Company as in effect on the date of the 
Change in Control of the Company. 
 
12.   FURTHER ASSURANCES. 
 
      Each party hereto agrees to furnish and execute such additional  forms and 
documents,  and to  take  such  further  action,  as  shall  be  reasonable  and 
customarily required in connection with the performance of this Agreement or the 
payment of benefits hereunder. 
 
13.   ENTIRE AGREEMENT. 
 
      This Agreement represents the entire agreement of the parties with respect 
to the subject  matter hereof and  supersedes  any other  agreement  between the 
parties with respect to such subject matter. 
 
14.   COUNTERPARTS. 
 
      This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts,  each of which 
shall be deemed to be an original but all of which together will  constitute one 
in the same instrument. 
 
15.   LEGAL FEES AND EXPENSES. 
 
      In addition to any other benefits to which you may be entitled  hereunder, 
the Company shall pay all reasonable legal fees and expenses which you may incur 
as a result of the Company's  contesting  the validity,  enforceability  or your 
interpretation  of, or  determination  under,  this  Agreement or otherwise as a 
result of any  termination as a result of which you are entitled to the benefits 
set forth in this Agreement. 
 
16.   MISCELLANEOUS. 
 
      (i) No provision of this Agreement may be modified,  waived, or discharged 
      unless such  waiver,  modification,  or  discharge is agreed to in writing 
      signed by you and such officer as may be  specifically  designated  by the 
      Board of Directors of the Company. 
 
      (ii) No  waiver by either  party  hereto at any time of any  breach by the 
      other party hereto of, or compliance  with,  any condition or provision of 
      this  Agreement  to be  performed  by such other  party  shall be deemed a 
      waiver of similar or dissimilar provisions or conditions at the same or at 
      any time prior or subsequent time. 
 
      (iii) The validity,  interpretation,  construction and performance of this 
      Agreement   shall  be  governed  by  the  laws  of  the   Commonwealth  of 
      Massachusetts. 
 
      (iv) The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement 
      shall not affect the validity or  enforceability of any other provision of 
      this Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
      (v) The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement 
      such  federal,  state,  local or foreign  taxes as shall be required to be 
      withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation. 
 
      If this Agreement correctly sets forth our agreement on the subject matter 
hereof,  kindly  sign  and  return  to the  Company  the  enclosed  copy of this 
Agreement which will then constitute our agreement on this subject. 
 
                                    Sincerely, 
                              Avid Technology, Inc. 
 
 
                                    By:                            
                                    Name: 



                                    Title: 
 
I acknowledge receipt and agree with the foregoing terms and conditions. 
 
 
 
 
[                                 ] 
 
Date:  March 24, 1997 
 



                                                                   Exhibit 10.42 
                              EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 
 
                                          March 24, 1997 
 
 
Clifford A. Jenks 
c/o Avid Technology, Inc. 
Metropolitan Technology Park 
One Park West 
Tewksbury, MA  01876 
 
 
Dear Cliff: 
 
      Continuity of management of Avid Technology,  Inc.  ("Avid") is a critical 
factor to the continued  growth and success of Avid. The Avid Board of Directors 
believes  that it is in the  best  interest  of the  Company  to  reinforce  and 
encourage the continued attention and dedication of key members of management to 
their assigned duties. 
 
      In  consideration of the mutual promises  contained in this letter,  it is 
hereby  agreed that Avid shall  provide to you, and that you shall  receive from 
Avid, the benefits set forth in this letter (the "Agreement") if your employment 
with  Avid,  and  its  subsidiaries,  is  terminated  during  the  term  of this 
Agreement. 
 
1.    PURPOSE 
 
      This Agreement  establishes certain special  arrangements  relating to the 
      termination  of your  employment  with Avid for any reason other than: (i) 
      your becoming  totally and  permanently  disabled under the Avid long-term 
      disability plan or policy, or (ii) your death. 
 
2.    TERM OF AGREEMENT 
 
      This Agreement  shall become  effective on the date hereof (the "Effective 
      Date")  and  shall  terminate  one  year  thereafter.  The  term  shall be 
      automatically  extended for  successive  one-year  periods after the first 
      anniversary,  unless 30 days' advance written notice is given by you or by 
      Avid terminating this Agreement as of any anniversary date. 
 
3.    TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT 
 
      Your  employment may be terminated in accordance with any of the following 
      paragraphs,  but only upon one (1) month's  advance  written notice (which 
      period shall be referred to in this Agreement as the "Notice Period"). The 
      expiration of the Notice Period shall be your "Date of Termination." 
 
      (a)  INVOLUNTARY  TERMINATION  WITHOUT  CAUSE.  Avid  may  terminate  your 
      employment  without Cause (as defined below).  In such an event, you shall 
      continue to receive your full base salary during the Notice  Period.  Upon 
      your Date of Termination, you shall be entitled to those benefits provided 
      under Section 4. 
 
      (b) INVOLUNTARY  TERMINATION FOR CAUSE. Avid may terminate your employment 
      for "Cause" by written  notice  setting  forth the Cause for  termination. 
      "Cause"  means a  willful  engaging  in gross  misconduct  materially  and 
      demonstrably injurious to Avid or the willful and continued failure by you 
      substantially to perform your duties with the Company (other than any such 
      failure  resulting from your incapacity due to physical or mental illness) 
      after a written demand for substantial  performance is delivered to you by 
      the Chief Executive  Officer which  specifically  identifies the manner in 
      which the Chief Executive Officer believes that you have not substantially 
      performed your duties. "Willful" means an act or omission in bad faith and 
      without  reasonable belief that such act or omission was in or not opposed 
      to the best interests of Avid. Upon your Date of Termination, you shall be 
      entitled only to those benefits provided under Section 5. 
 
      (c)  VOLUNTARY  TERMINATION  WITHOUT  GOOD  REASON.  You  may  voluntarily 
      terminate your employment  without Good Reason (as defined below). In such 
      an event,  you shall  continue  to  receive  your  full  base  salary  and 
      Employment  Benefits during the Notice Period provided you  satisfactorily 
      perform your duties during the Notice  Period,  unless you are relieved of 
      those duties by Avid. Upon your Date of Termination, you shall be entitled 
      only to those benefits provided under Section 5. 
 
      (d) VOLUNTARY  TERMINATION WITH GOOD REASON. You may voluntarily terminate 
      your employment  with Good Reason.  "Good Reason" shall mean a significant 
      diminution  in your  duties or  responsibilities  that  results in your no 
      longer serving as an Executive  Vice President of the Company.  In such an 
      event,  you shall continue to receive your full base salary and Employment 
      Benefits  during the Notice Period,  provided you  satisfactorily  perform 
      your duties  during the Notice  Period,  unless you are  relieved of those 
      duties by Avid.  Upon your Date of  Termination,  you shall be entitled to 
      those benefits provided under Section 4. 
 
4.    SPECIAL SEVERANCE BENEFITS 
 
      If your employment with Avid is  involuntarily  terminated by Avid without 
      Cause  pursuant  to Section  3(a) or by you for Good  Reason  pursuant  to 
      Section 3(d), then you shall receive the following benefits as long as you 
      continue to comply with your obligations under Section 8 of this Agreement 
      and any  Invention  and  Nondisclosure  Agreement  (or similar  agreement) 
      between you and the Company: 
 
      (a) Your base salary  shall be  continued in effect for a period of twelve 



      (12)  months  from  your  Date of  Termination  (hereinafter  called  your 
      "Severance  Pay Period").  Avid will also pay you,  during the  thirteenth 
      through  twenty-fourth  months  following  termination,  on a semi-monthly 
      basis,  the  amount  by which  your  monthly  base  salary  at the Date of 
      Termination exceeds your monthly compensation from your new employer; 
 
      (b) You will  receive  incentive  compensation  payments  in an  aggregate 
      amount  equal to your  target  award  for the  calendar  year  immediately 
      preceding  the  calendar  year in which your Date of  Termination  occurs, 
      payable in equal semi-monthly  installments during the 12 months following 
      the  Date of  Termination.  You  shall  have  no  right  to any  pro-rated 
      incentive compensation in respect of the year of termination; 
 
      (c)  Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in any Avid stock plan, 
      or under the terms of any grant,  award  agreement or form for  exercising 
      any right  under any such  plan,  any stock  options or  restricted  stock 
      awards held by you as of the Date of Termination shall become  exercisable 
      or vested,  as the case may be, as to an additional number of shares equal 
      to the number that would have been  exercisable or vested as of the end of 
      the 12 month period immediately following the Date of Termination. Nothing 
      in this  Agreement  shall be  construed  to extend the time period  within 
      which any option may be  exercised  beyond  the  period  specified  in the 
      applicable stock plan or under the terms of any grant,  award agreement or 
      form for exercising any right under any such plan; 
 
      (d) During the Severance Pay Period, in the event you elect to continue to 
      participate  in the  Company's  medical  and  dental  plans to the  extent 
      permitted   under  COBRA,   the  Company   shall  pay  the  cost  of  such 
      participation; and 
 
      (e) You shall be entitled to full executive  outplacement  assistance with 
      an agency selected by Avid. 
 
5.    BENEFITS UPON VOLUNTARY TERMINATION WITHOUT GOOD REASON OR TERMINATION FOR 
      CAUSE. 
 
      Upon your  termination  for Cause in accordance  with Section 3(b) or your 
      termination  without  Good Reason in  accordance  with Section  3(c),  all 
      benefits under this Agreement will be void. In such an event, you shall be 
      eligible for the benefits (if any) provided in  accordance  with the plans 
      and  policies  of Avid  which are then  applicable  to  employees  of Avid 
      generally. 
 
6.    CONFIDENTIALITY. 
 
      The  provisions  of the Employee  Invention and  Non-Disclosure  Agreement 
      between you and Avid shall continue in full force and effect following any 
      termination of employment. 
 
7.    RELATIONSHIP TO CHANGE-IN-CONTROL AGREEMENT, ETC. 
 
      (a)  In  the  event  you  become   entitled  to  any  benefits  under  any 
      Change-in-Control   Employment   Agreement  between  you  and  Avid,  such 
      Change-in-Control  Employment  Agreement  shall control and this agreement 
      shall be void and of no further force or effect. 
 
      (b)  Except  as  expressly  set  forth in  Section  7(a),  this  Agreement 
      supersedes  all prior  agreements  with Avid related to the subject matter 
      hereof  (including all provisions of the letter agreement dated October 3, 
      1996 between you and the Company  other than the  provisions  of the first 
      sentence of the Addendum  thereof  beginning under the heading  "Severance 
      Agreement" and continuing through and including clause (i) thereof,  which 
      provisions  shall  survive) and the special  severance  benefits  provided 
      under  this  Agreement  are  to be  provided  instead  of any  other  Avid 
      severance  arrangements.  Avid's  severance  policies  and  practices  are 
      superseded except to the extent incorporated  herein.  Notwithstanding the 
      foregoing,  nothing contained in this Agreement shall have any affect upon 
      your rights under any tax qualified  "pension  benefit plan", as such term 
      is defined in the Employee  Retirement  Income  Security  Act of 1974,  as 
      amended (ERISA);  or any other "welfare benefit plan" as defined in ERISA, 
      including by way of illustration and not limitation,  any medical surgical 
      or  hospitalization  benefit  coverage  or  long-term  disability  benefit 
      coverage;   or  under  any  deferred   compensation  or  equity  incentive 
      arrangement,  including by way of  illustration  and not  limitation,  any 
      stock incentive plan, non-qualified pension plan, or phantom stock plan. 
 
8.    COVENANT NOT TO COMPETE AND NOT TO SOLICIT. 
 
      (a) During the term of this  Agreement,  and for a period of two (2) years 
      following the termination of your employment for any reason, you agree you 
      will not engage in any business  (whether as an owner,  partner,  officer, 
      director,  employee,  consultant or otherwise, except as the holder of not 
      more than 1% of the  outstanding  stock of a  publicly-held  company) that 
      competes or plans to compete with Avid in the business of the development, 
      manufacture,  promotion,  distribution  or sale of digital film,  video or 
      audio editing,  special effects or newsroom automation systems or products 
      or any other  business  in which Avid is engaged or plans to engage at the 
      time of your  termination.  Without  limiting the  foregoing,  during such 
      period you shall not be employed by or otherwise  serve as a consultant to 
      Abekas,  Accom, Adobe, Carlton  Communications,  Chyron, Data Translation, 
      Discreet Logic, DVision, FAST Technology,  Hewlett-Packard, Immix, InSync, 
      Kodak,  Lightworks,  Macromedia,  Matrox, Media 100,  Metacreations,  MGI, 
      Newsmaker, Newstar, Panasonic/Matsushita,  Philips, Pinnacle Systems, Play 
      Systems, Pluto Technologies International,  Progressive Networks, Quantel, 
      SADIE,  Scitex, Sonic Solutions,  SONY,  Microsoft,  Tektronix,  Transoft, 
      Truevision, VDONet or VXtreme or any of their subsidiaries and affiliates. 
 
      (b) You also  agree  that,  for a period of two (2) years from the date of 



      your termination,  you will not, either directly or indirectly  through an 
      agency,  new employer or otherwise,  solicit the employment of (or solicit 
      to engage as an independent  contractor or  consultant)  any person who at 
      any time during the one year preceding such  solicitation  was an employee 
      or independent contractor of Avid or any Avid affiliate. 
 
      (c) If any  restriction  in  this  Section  8 is  found  by any  court  of 
      competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable because it extends for too long 
      a period of time or over too great a range of activities or in too broad a 
      geographic  area, it shall be  interpreted to extend only over the maximum 
      period of time,  range of activities or geographic area as to which it may 
      be enforceable. 
 
      (d) The  restrictions  contained in this Section 8 are  necessary  for the 
      protection of the business and good will of Avid and are considered by you 
      to be  reasonable  for such  purpose.  You agree  that any  breach of this 
      Section  8  will  cause  Avid  substantial  and  irrevocable  damage  and, 
      therefore,  in the event of any such  breach,  in  addition  to such other 
      remedies  which  may be  available,  Avid  shall  have  the  right to seek 
      specific performance and injunctive relief. 
 
9.    NOTICE. 
 
      Notice  required or permitted under this Agreement shall be in writing and 
      shall be deemed to have been given when  delivered or mailed by the United 
      States certified mail,  return receipt  requested,  postage prepaid,  in a 
      properly  addressed  envelope.  Notices to Avid shall be  addressed to the 
      Corporate Secretary. 
 
10.   MODIFICATION; SUCCESSORS. 
 
      No provision of this  Agreement  may be waived,  modified,  or  discharged 
      except  pursuant  to a written  instrument  signed  by you and Avid.  This 
      agreement  is  binding  upon any  successor  to all or  substantially  all 
      business or assets of Avid. 
 
11.   INDEMNIFICATION. 
 
      The Company will indemnify you to the extent set forth in the  Certificate 
      of  Incorporation  and By-Laws of the  Company  for all acts or  omissions 
      occurring during the period of your employment. 
 
12.   MISCELLANEOUS 
 
      This  agreement  shall be governed by and construed  under the laws of the 
      Commonwealth  of  Massachusetts.  The  validity or  enforceability  of any 
      provision  hereof shall not affect the validity or  enforceability  of any 
      other  provision  hereof.  This  Agreement  may be executed in one or more 
      counterparts,  each of which  together  will  constitute  one and the same 
      instrument. 
 
 
                                    Sincerely, 
                                    Avid Technology, Inc. 
 
 
                                    By: /s/ William J. Miller 
                                        -------------------------- 
                                        Name: William J. Miller 
                                        Title:  Chairman and Chief Executive 
                                                 Officer 
 
 
Accepted and Agreed 
as of March 24, 1997 
 
 
/s/ Clifford A. Jenks 
- ------------------------ 
Clifford A. Jenks                              
 



                                                                   Exhibit 10.43 
                          CHANGE-IN-CONTROL AGREEMENT 
 
 
                                          March 24, 1997 
 
 
Clifford A. Jenks 
c/o Avid Technology, Inc. 
Metropolitan Technology Park 
One Park West 
Tewksbury, MA 01876 
 
Dear Cliff: 
 
      The Board of Directors (the "Board") of Avid  Technology,  Inc. ("Avid" or 
the "Company")  recognizes that your contributions to the past and future growth 
and  success  of the  Company  have been and will be  substantial  and the Board 
desires to assure the Company of your continued  services for the benefit of the 
Company, particularly in the face of a change-in-control of the Company. 
 
      This letter  agreement  ("Agreement")  therefore sets forth those benefits 
which the Company  will provide to you in the event your  employment  within the 
Company is terminated  after a "Change in Control of the Company" (as defined in 
Paragraph 2 (i)) under the circumstances described below. 
 
1.    TERM. 
 
      If a Change in Control of the Company  should occur while you are still an 
employee of the Company,  then this Agreement  shall continue in effect from the 
date of such  Change in  Control  of the  Company  for so long as you  remain an 
employee of the Company,  but in no event for more than two full calendar  years 
following  such Change in Control of the Company;  provided,  however,  that the 
expiration of the term of this Agreement shall not adversely  affect your rights 
under this Agreement which have accrued prior to such  expiration.  If no Change 
in Control of the  Company  occurs  before  your  status as an  employee  of the 
Company is  terminated,  this  Agreement  shall expire on such date.  Prior to a 
Change in Control of the  Company,  your  employment  may be  terminated  by the 
Company  with or without  Cause (as  defined in  Paragraph  3(ii)),  and/or this 
Agreement may be terminated by the Company,  at any time upon written  notice to 
you and, in either or both such events,  you shall not be entitled to any of the 
benefits  provided  hereunder;  provided,  however,  that  the  Company  may not 
terminate  this  Agreement  following the  occurrence  of a Potential  Change in 
Control of the Company (as defined in Paragraph  2(ii))  unless (a) at least one 
year has  expired  since the most recent  event or  transaction  constituting  a 
Potential  Change in Control of the  Company  and (b) in respect of a  Potential 
Change  in  Control  of the  Company  which  previously  occurred,  no  facts or 
circumstances  continue to exist which,  if initially  occurring at the time any 
termination of this Agreement is to occur,  would  constitute a Potential Change 
in Control of the Company. 
 
2.    CHANGE IN CONTROL; POTENTIAL CHANGE IN CONTROL. 
 
      (i) For purposes of this  Agreement,  a "Change in Control of the Company" 
      shall be  deemed  to have  occurred  only if any of the  following  events 
      occur: 
 
            (a) The  acquisition by an  individual,  entity or group (within the 
            meaning of Section  13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Securities  Exchange 
            Act of  1934,  as  amended  (the  "Exchange  Act"))(a  "Person")  of 
            beneficial  ownership  (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated 
            under  the  Exchange  Act)  of 30% or more of  either  (i) the  then 
            outstanding  shares of common stock of the Company (the "Outstanding 
            Company Common Stock") or (ii) the combined voting power of the then 
            outstanding  voting  securities  of the  Company  entitled  to  vote 
            generally  in the election of directors  (the  "Outstanding  Company 
            Voting Securities");  provided,  however,  that for purposes of this 
            subsection  (i), the following  acquisitions  shall not constitute a 
            Change of Control:  (A) any  acquisition  directly from the Company, 
            (B) any  acquisition  by the  Company,  (C) any  acquisition  by any 
            employee  benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by 
            the Company or any corporation controlled by the Company, or (D) any 
            acquisition  by any  corporation  pursuant  to a  transaction  which 
            satisfies  the  criteria  set forth in clauses  (A),  (B) and (C) of 
            subparagraph (c) of this Paragraph 2(i); or 
 
            (b)  Individuals  who, as of the date hereof,  constitute  the Board 
            (the "Incumbent  Board") cease for any reason to constitute at least 
            a majority  of the Board;  provided,  however,  that any  individual 
            becoming a director  subsequently to the date hereof whose election, 
            or  nomination  for  election  by the  Company's  shareholders,  was 
            approved  by a vote of at least a  majority  of the  directors  then 
            comprising  the  Incumbent  Board shall be considered as though such 
            individual were a member of the Incumbent Board, but excluding,  for 
            this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of office 
            occurs as a result of an actual or threatened  election contest with 
            respect to the  election or removal of  directors or other actual or 
            threatened  solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a 
            Person other than the Board; or 
 
            (c)  Consummation of a  reorganization,  merger or  consolidation or 
            sale or other  disposition of all or substantially all of the assets 
            of the Company (a  "Business  Combination"),  in each case,  unless, 
            following such Business Combination, (A) all or substantially all of 
            the  individuals  and  entities  who  were  the  beneficial  owners, 
            respectively,   of  the   Outstanding   Company   Common  Stock  and 
            Outstanding  Company  Voting  Securities  immediately  prior to such 
            Business Combination beneficially own, directly or indirectly,  more 



            than 50% of,  respectively,  the  then-outstanding  shares of common 
            stock and the combined voting power of the  then-outstanding  voting 
            securities  entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, 
            of the corporation  resulting from such Business  Combination (which 
            as used in this Paragraph 2(i)(c) shall include, without limitation, 
            a  corporation  which as a result  of such  transaction  owns all or 
            substantially all of the Company's assets either directly or through 
            one or more  subsidiaries) in substantially  the same proportions as 
            their ownership  immediately  prior to such Business  Combination of 
            the Outstanding  Company Common Stock and Outstanding Company Voting 
            Securities,  as the case  may be and (B) no  Person  (excluding  any 
            corporation resulting from such Business Combination or any employee 
            benefit plan (or related  trust) of the Company or such  corporation 
            resulting  from  such  Business   Combination)   beneficially  owns, 
            directly  or  indirectly,  30% or more  of,  respectively,  the then 
            outstanding shares of common stock of the corporation resulting form 
            such  Business  Combination,  or the  combined  voting  power of the 
            then-outstanding voting securities of such corporation. 
 
      (ii) For purposes of this Agreement, a "Potential Change in Control of the 
      Company"  shall be deemed to have  occurred if (A) the Company shall enter 
      into  an  agreement,  the  consummation  of  which  would  result  in  the 
      occurrence of a Change in Control of the Company,  or (B) any person shall 
      publicly announce an intention to take or to consider taking actions which 
      if consummated would constitute a Change in Control of the Company, or (C) 
      the Company shall receive any written  communication  from any third party 
      or third parties, acting as principal or as authorized representative of a 
      disclosed  principal,   which  is  publicly  disclosed  and  proposes  (or 
      indicates a desire to engage in discussions relating to the possibility of 
      or with a view  toward) a  transaction  the  consummation  of which  would 
      result in the occurrence of a Change in Control of the Company, or (D) any 
      Person  other than the  Company or a  subsidiary  thereof or any  employee 
      benefit  plan  sponsored  by the  Company  or a  subsidiary  thereof  or a 
      corporation  owned,  directly or indirectly,  by the  shareholders  of the 
      Company in substantially  the same proportions as their ownership of stock 
      in the Company,  shall (I) become the beneficial owner (within the meaning 
      of  Rule  13d-3  under  the  Exchange  Act),  (II)  disclose  directly  or 
      indirectly  to the Company or publicly a plan or  intention  to become the 
      beneficial  owner or (E) any  Person  described  in  clause  (D) above who 
      becomes the beneficial  owner,  directly or  indirectly,  of voting shares 
      representing 20.0% or more of the combined voting power of the Outstanding 
      Company Voting Securities shall increase his beneficial  ownership of such 
      securities by 5% or more over the percentage  acquired in the  transaction 
      which  previously  gave rise to the  occurrence  of a Potential  Change in 
      Control  of the  Company.  Notwithstanding  the  foregoing,  any  event or 
      transaction which would otherwise constitute a Potential Change in Control 
      of the Company shall not  constitute a Potential  Change in Control of the 
      Company  if the  negotiations  or other  actions  leading to such event or 
      transaction  were initiated by the Company (it being  understood  that the 
      occurrence  of such a  Company-initiated  event or  transaction  shall not 
      affect the  existence  of any  Potential  Change in Control of the Company 
      resulting from any other event or transaction). 
 
3.    TERMINATION FOLLOWING CHANGE IN CONTROL. 
 
      If a Change in Control of the Company  shall have  occurred  while you are 
still an employee of the  Company,  you shall be  entitled to the  payments  and 
benefits provided in Paragraph 4 hereof upon the subsequent  termination of your 
employment within two (2) full calendar years of such Change in Control,  by you 
or by the  Company  unless  such  termination  is (a)  because  of your death or 
"Disability",  (b) by the Company for "Cause" (as defined below),  or (c) by you 
other than for "Good  Reason" (as  defined  below),  in any of which  events you 
shall not be entitled to receive benefits under this Agreement. 
 
      (i)  "DISABILITY".  If, as a result of your  incapacity due to physical or 
      mental illness,  you shall have been deemed  "disabled" by the institution 
      appointed by the Company to administer the Company's Long-Term  Disability 
      Plan (or  successor  plan)  because  you shall have been  absent from your 
      duties with the Company on a full-time  basis for six months and shall not 
      have returned to full-time  performance  of your duties within thirty days 
      after  written  notice  is given  you,  the  Company  may  terminate  your 
      employment for Disability. 
 
      (ii) "CAUSE".  For the purposes of this Agreement,  the Company shall have 
      "Cause" to terminate your employment only upon 
 
            (A) the  willful  and  continued  failure  by you  substantially  to 
            perform  your duties with the Company  (other than any such  failure 
            resulting from your  incapacity due to physical or mental illness or 
            any failure resulting from your terminating your employment with the 
            Company for "Good Reason" (as defined below)) after a written demand 
            for  substantial  performance is delivered to you by the Board which 
            specifically  identifies the manner in which the Board believes that 
            you have not substantially performed your duties, or 
 
            (B) the willful engaging by you in gross  misconduct  materially and 
            demonstrably injurious to the Company. 
 
            For purposes of this  paragraph,  no act, or failure to act, on your 
            part shall be  considered  "willful"  unless done,  or omitted to be 
            done,  by you not in good faith and without  reasonable  belief that 
            your action or omission  was in the best  interests  of the Company. 
            Notwithstanding the foregoing,  you shall not be deemed to have been 
            terminated  for  Cause  unless  and  until  there  shall  have  been 
            delivered  to  you a  copy  of a  resolution  duly  adopted  by  the 
            affirmative  vote of not  less  than  three-quarters  of the  entire 
            membership  of the Board at a meeting  of the Board  called and held 
            for that purpose  (after at least 20 days prior notice to you and an 



            opportunity for you, together with your counsel,  to be heard before 
            the Board),  finding that in the good faith opinion of the Board you 
            failed to perform your duties or engaged in  misconduct as set forth 
            in clause  (A) or (B) of this  Paragraph  3(ii) and that you did not 
            correct such failure or cease such misconduct  after being requested 
            to do so by the Board. 
 
      (iii) "GOOD REASON".  You may terminate  your  employment for Good Reason. 
      For purpose of this Agreement, "Good Reason" shall mean: 
 
            (A) the  assignment  to you of any  duties  materially  inconsistent 
            with,  or  any  material  diminution  of,  your  positions,  duties, 
            responsibilities, and status with the Company immediately prior to a 
            Change in  Control  of the  Company,  or a  material  change in your 
            titles  or  offices  as in effect  immediately  prior to a Change in 
            Control of the Company,  or any removal of you from,  or any failure 
            to reelect you to, any such positions; 
 
            (B) a  reduction  by the  Company  in your  base  salary  in  effect 
            immediately prior to a Change in Control of the Company or a failure 
            by the Company to increase your base salary  (within  fifteen months 
            of your last increase) in an amount which is substantially  similar, 
            on a percentage  basis, to the average  percentage  increase in base 
            salary for all  officers  of the  Company  during the twelve  months 
            preceding your increase; 
 
            (C) the  failure  by the  Company  to  continue  in effect  any life 
            insurance,  health or accident or  disability  plan in which you are 
            participating or are eligible to participate at the time of a Change 
            in Control of the Company (or plans providing you with substantially 
            similar  benefits),  except as  otherwise  required in terms of such 
            plans as in  effect  at the time of any  Change  in  Control  of the 
            Company  or the  taking of any  action by the  Company  which  would 
            adversely  affect your  participation  in or materially  reduce your 
            benefits  under any of such  plans or  deprive  you of any  material 
            fringe benefits enjoyed by you at the time of a Change in Control of 
            the  Company or the  failure by the  Company to provide you with the 
            number of paid vacation days to which you are entitled in accordance 
            with the vacation policies of the Company in effect at the time of a 
            Change in Control of the Company; 
 
            (D) the  failure  by the  Company  to (i)  continue  in  effect  any 
            material  incentive  or  variable  compensation  plan in  which  you 
            participate  immediately  prior to the Change of Control,  unless an 
            equitable   arrangement   (embodied  in  an  ongoing  substitute  or 
            alternative  plan) has been made with  respect  to such  plan,  (ii) 
            continue  your  participation  therein  (or in  such  substitute  or 
            alternative plan) on a basis not materially less favorable,  both in 
            terms of the  amount  of  benefits  provided  and the  level of your 
            participation relative to other participants, as existed at the time 
            of the  Change of  Control  or (iii)  award  cash  bonuses to you in 
            amounts and in a manner substantially  consistent with past practice 
            in light of the Company's financial performance; 
 
            (E) any  requirement  by the Company  that (i) the location of which 
            you perform  your  principal  duties for the Company be changed to a 
            new  location  that is more than 45 miles from the location at which 
            you perform your principal duties for the Company at the time of the 
            Change in Control of the Company or (ii) you are  required to travel 
            on an overnight  basis to a  significantly  greater  extent than you 
            were  required  to so travel  prior to the  Change in Control of the 
            Company; 
 
            (F) any  material  breach by the  Company of any  provision  of this 
            Agreement (including, without limitation, Paragraph 6), which is not 
            cured within 30 days after written notice thereof; or 
 
            (G) any  purported  termination  of your  employment  by the Company 
            which is not effected pursuant to a Notice of Termination satisfying 
            the  requirements  of  subparagraph  (iv) below (and, if applicable, 
            subparagraph  (ii) above);  and for purposes of this  Agreement,  no 
            such purported termination shall be effective. 
 
      (iv) NOTICE OF  TERMINATION.  Any  termination by the Company  pursuant to 
      subparagraphs  (i) or (ii) above or by you pursuant to subparagraph  (iii) 
      above shall be  communicated by written Notice of Termination to the other 
      party hereto.  For purposes of this  Agreement,  a "Notice of Termination" 
      shall  mean  a  notice  which  shall  indicate  the  specific  termination 
      provision in this Agreement  relied upon and shall set forth in reasonable 
      detail  the  facts  and  circumstances  claimed  to  provide  a basis  for 
      termination of your termination under the provision so indicated. 
 
      (v) DATE OF TERMINATION. "Date of Termination" shall mean: 
 
            (A) if this  Agreement is  terminated  for  Disability,  thirty days 
            after Notice of  Termination  is given  (provided that you shall not 
            have returned to the performance of your duties on a full-time basis 
            during such thirty-day period), 
 
            (B) if your employment is terminated  pursuant to subparagraph (iii) 
            above, the date specified in the Notice of Termination, and 
 
            (C) if your employment is terminated for any other reason,  the date 
            on which a  Notice  of  Termination  is given  (or,  if a Notice  of 
            Termination is not given, the date of such termination). 
 
4.    COMPENSATION DURING DISABILITY OR UPON TERMINATION. 
 



      (i) If,  after a Change in  Control  of the  Company,  you  shall  fail to 
      perform your duties hereunder as a result of incapacity due to Disability, 
      you shall  continue to receive  your full base salary twice a month at the 
      rate then in effect and any awards under the  Executive/Senior  Management 
      Variable  Compensation Plan or any successor plan shall continue to accrue 
      and to be paid during  such period  until your  employment  is  terminated 
      (and, if the Company  maintains a Long Term Disability  Plan, you shall be 
      eligible for coverage  thereunder in accordance with the terms thereof and 
      subject  to the  satisfaction  of  all  applicable  conditions,  including 
      without  limitation,  the timely  filing of a notice of claim);  provided, 
      however, in the event the Company makes no interim individual accruals for 
      the  Executive/Senior   Management  Variable   Compensation  Plan  or  any 
      successor  plan in  respect of any period for which no award has been made 
      under such Plan you shall receive payment during such period of Disability 
      in the amount equal to the product of (a) the amount  awarded to you under 
      such Plan or any  successor  plan during the period most  recently  ended, 
      multiplied by (b) a fraction (hereinafter the "Partial Service Fraction"), 
      the  numerator  of  which is the  whole  and  partial  months  of  service 
      completed  in the  current  period,  and the  denominator  of which is the 
      number of months in the period most recently  ended for which an award was 
      made. 
 
      (ii) If, after a Change in Control of the Company,  your employment  shall 
      be  terminated  for Cause,  the  Company  shall pay you for your full base 
      salary  through the Date of  Termination at the rate in effect at the time 
      Notice of  Termination  is given and the  Company  shall  have no  further 
      obligations to you under this Agreement. 
 
      (iii) If,  within two years after a Change in Control of the Company,  the 
      Company shall terminate your employment,  other than pursuant to Paragraph 
      3(i) or 3(ii) hereof or by reason of death,  or you shall  terminate  your 
      employment for Good Reason; 
 
            (A) The Company shall pay you as severance  pay (and without  regard 
            to the  provisions of any benefit plan) in a lump sum in cash on the 
            fifth day following the Date of Termination, the following amounts: 
 
                  (x) your  accrued but unpaid  base salary  through the Date of 
                  Termination  at the  rate in  effect  at the  time  Notice  of 
                  Termination is given,  plus an amount equal to the amount,  if 
                  any, of any incentive  compensation awards which have not been 
                  paid  but   which   have   been   earned   by  you  under  the 
                  Executive/Senior  Management Variable Compensation Plan or any 
                  successor  plan  (including  awards which have been  deferred, 
                  except to the extent such awards have been transferred,  prior 
                  to a Change in Control  of the  Company,  by the  Company to a 
                  trustee in an irrevocable  trust) it being understood that you 
                  shall be deemed to have earned in each year for which an award 
                  shall be  payable  an amount  equal to the  product of (a) the 
                  amount  awarded  you  under  such Plan or any  successor  plan 
                  during the period most recently  ended,  multiplied by (b) the 
                  Partial Service Fraction; and 
 
                  (y) an amount  equal to the sum of your  annual base salary at 
                  the highest rate in effect during the twelve (12) month period 
                  immediately  preceding the Date of Termination  plus two times 
                  the   amount   of  the   highest   award  to  you   under  the 
                  Executive/Senior  Management Variable Compensation Plan or any 
                  successor plan during the twenty-four  (24) month period ended 
                  on the Date of Termination. 
 
            (B) For a twenty-four (24) month period after such termination,  the 
            Company shall arrange to provide you with life, dental, accident and 
            group health insurance benefits  substantially similar to those that 
            you were  receiving  immediately  prior to such  termination  to the 
            extent that the  Company's  plans then permit the Company to provide 
            you with such benefits.  Notwithstanding the foregoing,  the Company 
            shall not  provide  any such  benefits  to you to the extent that an 
            equivalent  benefit is received by you from another  employer during 
            such period, and you shall report any such benefit actually received 
            by you to the Company; 
 
            (C)  The   exercisability  of  all  outstanding  stock  options  and 
            restricted  stock  awards  then  held  by you  shall  accelerate  in 
            full,provided  that if such acceleration would disqualify the Change 
            in Control from being  accounted  for as a pooling of interests  and 
            such  accounting  treatment  would  otherwise  be  available  and is 
            desired,  such  exercisability  and vesting will not be accelerated; 
            and 
 
            (D) You shall be entitled to full executive outplacement  assistance 
            with an agency selected by the Company. 
 
      (iv) You shall not be  required  to  mitigate  the  amount of any  payment 
      provided for in this Paragraph 4 by seeking other employment or otherwise, 
      nor shall the amount of any payment  provided  for in this  Paragraph 4 be 
      reduced by any  compensation  earned by you as the result of employment by 
      another employer after the Date of Termination, or otherwise. 
 
      (v) Nothing in this  Agreement  shall prevent or limit your  continuing or 
      future participation in any plan, program,  policy or practice provided by 
      the Company to its employees and for which you may qualify nor, subject to 
      Paragraph 13 hereof,  shall anything herein limit or otherwise affect such 
      rights as you may have under any contract or agreement between you and the 
      Company; provided, however, that to the extent you are entitled to receive 
      any payments hereunder upon termination of your employment,  you shall not 
      be entitled to any payments under any severance plan,  program,  policy or 
      practice of the Company then in effect. 



 
5.    CERTAIN ADDITIONAL PAYMENTS BY THE COMPANY. 
 
      (i) Anything in this Agreement to the contrary  notwithstanding and except 
      as set forth below,  in the event it shall be determined  that any payment 
      or  distribution  by the  Company  to or for the your  benefit  and/or any 
      acceleration of vesting of any options or restricted stock awards (whether 
      paid or payable or distributed or  distributable  or provided  pursuant to 
      the terms of this Agreement or otherwise, but determined without regard to 
      any  additional  payments  required  under this Paragraph 5) (a "Payment") 
      would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Internal 
      Revenue Code or any interest or penalties are incurred by you with respect 
      to such excise tax (such excise tax,  together  with any such interest and 
      penalties,  are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Excise Tax"), 
      then you shall be entitled to receive an  additional  payment (a "Gross-Up 
      Payment")  in an amount  such that  after the  payment by you of all taxes 
      (including any interest or penalties  imposed with respect to such taxes), 
      including,  without  limitation,  any income  taxes (and any  interest  an 
      penalties  imposed with  respect  thereto) and Excise Tax imposed upon the 
      Gross-Up  Payment,  you retain an amount of the Gross-Up  Payment equal to 
      the Excise Tax imposed upon the Payments.  Not  withstanding the foregoing 
      provisions of this Paragraph  5(i), if it shall be determined that you are 
      entitled to a Gross-Up  Payment,  but that you,  after taking into account 
      the Payments and the Gross-Up  Payment,  would not receive a net after-tax 
      benefit of at least $50,000 (taking into account both income taxes and any 
      Excise  Tax) as compared to the net  after-tax  proceeds to you  resulting 
      from  an  elimination  of the  Gross-Up  Payment  and a  reduction  of the 
      Payments,  in an aggregate,  to an amount (the "Reduced Amount") such that 
      the  receipt of Payments  would not give rise to any Excise  Tax,  then no 
      Gross-Up Payment shall be made to you and the Payments,  in the aggregate, 
      shall be reduced to the Reduced Amount. 
 
      (ii) Subject to the  provisions  of  Paragraph  5(i),  all  determinations 
      required to be made under this Paragraph 5,  including  whether and when a 
      Gross-Up  Payment is required and the amount of such Gross-Up  Payment and 
      the assumptions to be utilized in arriving at such determination, shall be 
      made by Coopers and Lybrand or such other certified public accounting firm 
      as may be  designated by the Company (the  "Accounting  Firm") which shall 
      provide  detailed  supporting  calculations  to both the  Company  and you 
      within 15  business  days of the receipt of notice from you that there has 
      been a Payment,  or such earlier  time as is requested by the Company.  In 
      the event that the Accounting Firm is serving as accountant or auditor for 
      the  individual,  entity,  or group  affecting the Change of Control,  the 
      Company shall appoint  another  nationally  recognized  accounting firm to 
      make the determinations required hereunder. 
 
      All  fees  and  expenses  of the  Accounting  Firm  shall  be borne by the 
      Company. Any Gross-Up Payment, as determined pursuant to this Paragraph 5, 
      shall  be paid by the  Company  to you  within  ten  business  days of the 
      receipt of the Accounting Firm's  determination.  Any determination by the 
      Accounting  Firm shall be binding upon the Company and you. As a result of 
      the uncertainty in the application of Section 4999 of the Code at the time 
      of the initial  determination  by the  Accounting  Firm  hereunder,  it is 
      possible  that  Gross-Up  Payments  which  will not have  been made by the 
      Company  should  have  been  made  ("Underpayment"),  consistent  with the 
      calculations required to be made hereunder.  In the event that the Company 
      exhausts its remedies  pursuant to Paragraph 5(iii) and you thereafter are 
      required to make a payment of any Excise Tax,  the  Accounting  Firm shall 
      determine  the amount of the  Underpayment  that has occurred and any such 
      Underpayment shall be promptly paid by the Company to or for your benefit. 
 
      (iii) You shall notify the Company in writing of any claim by the Internal 
      Revenue  Service  that,  if  successful,  would require the payment by the 
      Company of the Gross-Up Payment.  Such notification shall be given as soon 
      as practical but no later than ten business days after you are informed in 
      writing of such a claim and shall apprise the Company of the nature of the 
      claim  and the  date on which  such  claim is  requested  to be paid.  The 
      Executive  shall not pay such claim prior to the  expiration of the 30-day 
      period following the date on which it gives such notice to the Company (or 
      such  shorter  period  ending on the date that any  payment  of taxes with 
      respect  to such claim is due).  If the  Company  notifies  you in writing 
      prior to the  expiration  of such period  that it desires to contest  such 
      claim, you shall: 
 
            (A) give the Company any  information  reasonably  requested  by the 
            Company relating to such claim, 
 
            (B) take such action in connection with contesting such claim as the 
            Company  shall  reasonably  request  in  writing  from time to time, 
            including,  without limitation,  accepting legal representation with 
            respect  to such claim by an  attorney  reasonably  selected  by the 
            Company, 
 
            (C) cooperate with the Company in good faith in order to effectively 
            contest such claim, and 
 
            (D) permit the Company to participate in any proceedings relating to 
            such claim, 
 
      provided,  however, that the Company shall bear and pay directly all costs 
      and expenses  (including  additional  interest and penalties)  incurred in 
      connection with such contest and shall indemnify and hold you harmless, on 
      an after-tax basis,  for any Excise Tax or income tax (including  interest 
      and  penalties  with  respect   thereto)  imposed  as  a  result  of  such 
      representation  and payment of costs and expenses.  Without  limitation of 
      the  foregoing  provisions  of this  Paragraph  5(iii),  the Company shall 
      control all proceedings  taken in connection with such contest and, at its 
      sole  option,  may  pursue or forego any and all  administrative  appeals, 



      proceedings, hearings and conferences with the taxing authority in respect 
      of such claim and may, at its sole  option,  either  direct you to pay the 
      tax  claimed  and  sue  for a  refund  or to  contest  the  claim  in  any 
      permissible  manner,  and  you  agree  to  prosecute  such  contest  to  a 
      determination  before any administrative  tribunal,  in a court of initial 
      jurisdiction  and in one or more  appellate  courts,  as the Company shall 
      determine;  provided, however, that if the Company directs you to pay such 
      claim and sue for a refund,  the Company  shall advance the amount of such 
      payment to you, on an  interest-free  basis,  and shall indemnify and hold 
      the you harmless, on an after-tax basis, from any Excise Tax or income tax 
      (including  interest or  penalties  with  respect  thereto)  imposed  with 
      respect to such advance or with respect to any imputed income with respect 
      to such advance; and further provided that any extension of the statute of 
      limitations  relating  to  payment  of taxes  for your  taxable  year with 
      respect  to which  such  contested  amount is claimed to be due is limited 
      solely to such contested amount. Furthermore, the Company's control of the 
      contest  shall be  limited  to issues  with  respect  to which a  Gross-Up 
      Payment would be payable  hereunder and you shall be entitled to settle or 
      contest,  as the case may be,  any  other  issue  raised  by the  Internal 
      Revenue Service or other taxing authority. 
 
      (iv) If,  after the  receipt by you of an amount  advanced  by the Company 
      pursuant to Paragraph  5(iii),  you become  entitled to receive any refund 
      with  respect  to  such a  claim,  you  shall  (subject  to the  Company's 
      complying with the  requirements of Paragraph  5(iii)) promptly pay to the 
      Company  the amount of such refund  (together  with any  interest  paid or 
      credited thereon after taxes applicable thereto). If, after the receipt by 
      you of an amount advanced by the Company  pursuant to Paragraph  5(iii), a 
      determination  is made that you shall not be  entitled  to any refund with 
      respect  to such claim any the  Company  does not notify you in writing of 
      its intent to contest such denial of refund prior to the  expiration of 30 
      days after such  determination,  then such  advance  shall be forgiven and 
      shall not be  required to be repaid and the amount of such  advance  shall 
      offset, to the extent thereof,  the amount of Gross-Up Payment required to 
      be paid. 
 
6.    SUCCESSOR'S BINDING AGREEMENT. 
 
      (i) The Company will require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by 
      purchase, merger, consolidation, or otherwise) to all or substantially all 
      of the business and/or the assets of the Company,  expressly to assume and 
      agree to perform this  Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent 
      that the Company  would be required to perform if no such  succession  had 
      taken place. As used in this  Agreement,  "Company" shall mean the Company 
      as  defined  above and any  successor  to its  business  and/or  assets as 
      aforesaid  which executes and delivers the agreement  provided for in this 
      paragraph  6 or  which  otherwise  becomes  bound  by all  the  terms  and 
      provisions of this Agreement by operation of law. 
 
      (ii) This Agreement  shall inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, 
      your  personal  or  legal  representatives,   executors,   administrators, 
      successors, heirs, distributees,  devisees and legatees. If you should die 
      while any  amounts  would  still be  payable to you  hereunder  if you had 
      continued to live, all such amounts,  unless  otherwise  provided  herein, 
      shall be paid in  accordance  with the  terms  of this  Agreement  to your 
      devisee,  legatee or other designee or, if there be no such  designee,  to 
      your estate. 
 
7.    EMPLOYMENT. 
 
      In consideration of the foregoing obligations of the Company, you agree to 
be bound by the  terms and  conditions  of this  Agreement  and to remain in the 
employ of the Company during any period following the announcement by any person 
of any proposed transaction or transactions which, if effected,  would result in 
a Change in Control of the Company  until a Change in Control of the Company has 
taken  place,  or in the  opinion of the Board,  such  person has  abandoned  or 
terminated its efforts to effect a Change in Control of the Company.  Subject to 
the foregoing,  nothing contained in this Agreement shall impair or interfere in 
any way with your right to terminate your employment or the right of the Company 
to terminate your  employment with or without Cause prior to a Change in Control 
of the  Company.  Nothing  contained in this  Agreement  shall be construed as a 
contract  of  employment  between  the  Company and you or as a right for you to 
continue in the employ of the Company,  or as a  limitation  on the right of the 
Company to discharge  you with or without  Cause prior to a Change in Control of 
the Company. 
 
8.    COMPETITIVE ACTIVITY. 
 
      (i) If your employment  terminates under circumstances that entitle you to 
      receive  benefits under this Agreement (as described in the first sentence 
      of paragraph 3 of this  Agreement),  then,  unless the Company  materially 
      breaches  this  Agreement,  you agree you will not for a period of one (1) 
      year after such termination  engage in any business  (whether as an owner, 
      partner, officer, director,  employee,  consultant or otherwise, except as 
      the holder of not more than 1% of the outstanding stock of a publicly-held 
      company)  that  competes or plans to compete  with Avid in the business of 
      the development,  manufacture,  promotion, distribution or sale of digital 
      film,  video or audio  editing,  special  effects or  newsroom  automation 
      systems  or  products  or any other  business  in which Avid is engaged or 
      plans to  engage at the time of your  termination.  Without  limiting  the 
      foregoing,  during such  period you shall not be employed by or  otherwise 
      serve as a consultant to Abekas,  Accom,  Adobe,  Carlton  Communications, 
      Chyron,  Data  Translation,  Discreet  Logic,  DVision,  FAST  Technology, 
      Hewlett-Packard,  Immix, InSync, Kodak,  Lightworks,  Macromedia,  Matrox, 
      Media 100, Metacreations,  MGI, Newsmaker, Newstar,  Panasonic/Matsushita, 
      Philips, Pinnacle Systems, Play Systems, Pluto Technologies International, 
      Progressive  Networks,  Quantel,  SADIE,  Scitex,  Sonic Solutions,  SONY, 
      Softimage/Microsoft,  Tektronix,  Transoft, Truevision, VDONet or VXtreme, 



      or any of their subsidiaries and affiliates. 
 
      (ii) You also  agree  that,  for a period of one (1) year from the date of 
      your termination,  you will not, either directly or indirectly  through an 
      agency,  new employer or otherwise,  solicit the employment of (or solicit 
      to engage as an independent  contractor or  consultant)  any person who at 
      any time during the one year preceding such  solicitation  was an employee 
      or independent contractor of Avid or any Avid affiliate. 
 
9.    INJUNCTIVE RELIEF. 
 
      You  acknowledge  and agree that the remedy of the  Company at law for any 
breach  of the  covenants  and  agreements  contained  in  Paragraph  8 of  this 
Agreement  will be  inadequate,  and  that the  Company  shall  be  entitled  to 
injunctive  relief against any such breach or threatened  breach.  You represent 
and agree that such  injunctive  relief  shall not  prohibit  you from earning a 
livelihood acceptable to you. 
 
10.   NOTICE. 
 
      For the purposes of this Agreement,  notices and all other  communications 
provided for in this  Agreement  shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have 
been duly given  when  delivered  or mailed by United  States  registered  mail, 
return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed to the respective addresses 
set forth on the first page of this  Agreement,  provided that all other notices 
to the Company should be directed to the attention to the Corporate Secretary of 
the Company,  or to such address as either party may have furnished to the other 
in writing in  accordance  herewith,  except  that  notices of change of address 
shall be effective only upon receipt. 
 
11.   INDEMNIFICATION. 
 
      The Company will indemnify you to the extent set forth in the  Certificate 
of  Incorporation  and  By-laws  of the  Company as in effect on the date of the 
Change in Control of the Company. 
 
12.   FURTHER ASSURANCES. 
 
      Each party hereto agrees to furnish and execute such additional  forms and 
documents,  and to  take  such  further  action,  as  shall  be  reasonable  and 
customarily required in connection with the performance of this Agreement or the 
payment of benefits hereunder. 
 
13.   ENTIRE AGREEMENT. 
 
      This Agreement represents the entire agreement of the parties with respect 
to the subject  matter hereof and  supersedes  any other  agreement  between the 
parties with respect to such subject matter. 
 
14.   COUNTERPARTS. 
 
      This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts,  each of which 
shall be deemed to be an original but all of which together will  constitute one 
in the same instrument. 
 
15.   LEGAL FEES AND EXPENSES. 
 
      In addition to any other benefits to which you may be entitled  hereunder, 
the Company shall pay all reasonable legal fees and expenses which you may incur 
as a result of the Company's  contesting  the validity,  enforceability  or your 
interpretation  of, or  determination  under,  this  Agreement or otherwise as a 
result of any  termination as a result of which you are entitled to the benefits 
set forth in this Agreement. 
 
16.   MISCELLANEOUS. 
 
      (i) No provision of this Agreement may be modified,  waived, or discharged 
      unless such  waiver,  modification,  or  discharge is agreed to in writing 
      signed by you and such officer as may be  specifically  designated  by the 
      Board of Directors of the Company. 
 
      (ii) No  waiver by either  party  hereto at any time of any  breach by the 
      other party hereto of, or compliance  with,  any condition or provision of 
      this  Agreement  to be  performed  by such other  party  shall be deemed a 
      waiver of similar or dissimilar provisions or conditions at the same or at 
      any time prior or subsequent time. 
 
      (iii) The validity,  interpretation,  construction and performance of this 
      Agreement   shall  be  governed  by  the  laws  of  the   Commonwealth  of 
      Massachusetts. 
 
      (iv) The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement 
      shall not affect the validity or  enforceability of any other provision of 
      this Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
      (v) The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement 
      such  federal,  state,  local or foreign  taxes as shall be required to be 
      withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation. 
 
      If this Agreement correctly sets forth our agreement on the subject matter 
hereof,  kindly  sign  and  return  to the  Company  the  enclosed  copy of this 
Agreement which will then constitute our agreement on this subject. 
 
                                   Sincerely, 
                                   Avid Technology, Inc. 
 
 
                                    By: /s/ William J. Miller 



                                        -------------------------------- 
                                        Name: William J. Miller 
                                        Title: Chairman and Chief Executive 
                                                Officer 
 
I acknowledge receipt and agree with the foregoing terms and conditions. 
 
 
/s/ Clifford A.Jenks 
- --------------------------- 
Clifford A. Jenks 
 
Date:  March 24, 1997 
 



                                                                 Exhibit 21 
 
             SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT AS OF DECEMBER 31, 1998 
             ------------------------------------------------------ 
 
                   AVID TECHNOLOGY WORLDWIDE, INC. (Delaware) 
 
             AVID TECHNOLOGY SECURITIES CORPORATION (Massachusetts) 
 
                        ELASTIC REALITY, INC. (Wisconsin) 
 
                     AVID TECHNOLOGY FSC LIMITED (Barbados) 
 
                    AVID TECHNOLOGY EUROPE LIMITED (England) 
 
                      AVID TECHNOLOGY HQ LIMITED (England) 
 
                      AVID TECHNOLOGY IBERIA LTD (England) 
 
                    AVID TECHNOLOGY SYSTEMS LIMITED (England) 
 
                       PARALLAX SOFTWARE LIMITED (England) 
 
                       3 SPACE SOFTWARE LIMITED (England) 
 
                        AVID TECHNOLOGY S.A.R.L. (France) 
 
                       AVID TECHNOLOGY G.m.b.H. (Germany) 
 
                     AVID TECHNOLOGY SALES LIMITED (Ireland) 
 
                         AVID TECHNOLOGY S.R.L. (Italy) 
 
                   AVID TECHNOLOGY HOLDING B.V. (Netherlands) 
 
                AVID TECHNOLOGY INTERNATIONAL B.V. (Netherlands) 
 
                             AVID JAPAN K.K. (Japan) 
 
                 AVID TECHNOLOGY (S.E. ASIA) PTE LTD (Singapore) 
 
                 AVID TECHNOLOGY (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD (Australia) 
 
                       AVID NORTH ASIA LIMITED (Hong Kong) 
 
                            SOFTIMAGE, INC. (Canada) 
 
                             SOFTIMAGE CO. (Canada) 
 



 
                                                                   Exhibit 23.1 
 
 
                       Consent of Independent Accountants 
 
We consent to the  incorporation by reference in the registration  statements of 
Avid  Technology,  Inc. on Form S-3 and Form S-8 of our report dated February 3, 
1999,  on our audits of the  consolidated  financial  statements  and  financial 
statement  schedule of Avid  Technology,  Inc. as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, 
and for each of the three years in the period ended  December  31,  1998,  which 
report is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
 
 
                                    /s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
 
 
Boston, Massachusetts 
March 26, 1999 
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THIS SCHEDULED  CONTAINS  SUMMARY  INFORMATION  EXTRACTED FROM THE  CONSOLIDATED 
BALANCE  SHEETS ON THE FORM 10-K FOR THE PERIOD ENDED  DECEMBER 31, 1998 AND THE 
CONSOLIDATED  STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AS FILED ON FORM 10-K FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 
DECEMBER  31,  1998  AND IS  QUALIFIED  IN ITS  ENTIRETY  BY  REFERENCE  TO SUCH 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 
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